
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING

SUMMONS
10.30 am Tuesday, 13th October, 2015

Orbit Business Centre,
Rhydycar Business Park
Merthyr Tydfil
CF48 1DL

Further information regarding this agenda is available from the 
Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Tel: (01685) 725284,   Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4)

4. Briefing Session 
A briefing session for Panel members will be held 
from 10.35am to 11.05am (approximately) prior to 
the arrival of any invited attendees or witnesses to 
the meeting.

5. Draft Police and Reduction Crime Plan 
See attached report (Pages 5 - 50)

6. Financial Update Report 
See attached report (Pages 51 - 66)

7. Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 
2014-15 
See attached report (Pages 67 - 114)



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel

8. Statement of Accounts 1st April 2014 to 31st 
March 2015 
See attached report. 
Additional papers in respect of this report are 
available on Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council’s website, under the SWPCP’s agenda 
page.

(Pages 115 - 118)

9. Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2014/15 
See attached report (Pages 119 - 122)

10. Questions from Panel to Commissioner 
concerning Child Sexual Exploitation 
See attached report (Pages 123 - 132)

11. Correspondence received - Committee on 
Standards in Public Life inquiry into local policing 
accountability 
See attached letter. The Panel is to agree a 
response.

(Pages 133 - 136)

12. Future Meeting Dates and Work Programme 
See attached report (Pages 137 - 138)

13. Any Other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor E C Galsworthy (Merthyr Tydfil) (Chair)
Councillor R Smith (Rhondda Cynon Taf) (Vice Chair)

Councillors: M Jones (Bridgend), K Lloyd (Cardiff),       
D De’Arth (Cardiff), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot),
S Rees-Owen (Rhondda Cynon Taf)
G Sullivan (Swansea), P B Smith (Swansea) and
A Moore (Vale of Glamorgan)

Co-optee(s):  M Jehu and M Jones

together with appropriate officers



Draf
t M

inu
tes

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 

CRIME PANEL MEETING 
 

TUESDAY, 14TH JULY, 2015 
 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillor E Galsworthy (In the Chair) 
 

 Councillors R Smith, D De'Ath, K Lloyd, M Jones, P Rees and 
S Rees-Owen 

  
Co-optees: 
Mr Melvin Jehu and Mr Martyn Jones 
 
Outside Bodies: 
Alun Michael (Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales) 
Sophie Howe (Deputy Commissioner) 
Detective Superintendent Lian Penhale 
Mark Brace, Geoffrey Petty and Cerith Thomas (Police and 
Crime Commission) 
 
 
Officers:  
Simon Jones (Senior Solicitor), Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) 
and Mair Morgan (Scrutiny / Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 

  
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

1 Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A 
Moore and Councillor G Sullivan.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Draf
t M

inu
tes

 
 
 
 
   

Councillor K Lloyd entered the Meeting at 10.55 am having 
given prior notification of late arrival. 

2 Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made. 

3 Minutes of Previous 
Meeting 

Resolved that: 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held 28 April 2015 be accepted 
as a correct record. 

4 Briefing Session The Panel discussed in detail the items on the agenda prior 
to the attendance of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 
Reference was also made to the Forward Work Programme 
for the Panel and the need to consider this matter in detail. 
 
Simon Jones then advised that either a separate Meeting 
be convened to consider the Work Programme or a Briefing 
Session be held prior to the commencement of the agenda 
at a scheduled Meeting. 
 
The Panel then agreed to contact Simon Jones with their 
preference in relation to the way forward for consideration 
of the Forward Work Programme. 
 
 

5 Presentation on Child 
Sexual Exploitation 

The Chair welcomed Mr Alun Michael Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Mrs Sophie Howe Deputy Commissioner, 
Mr Mark Brace, Mr Geoffrey Petty, Mr Cerith Thomas and 
Detective Superintendent Lian Penhale to the Meeting. 
 
Sophie Howe together with Superintendent Penhale then 
made a Presentation to the Panel in relation to Child Sexual 
Exploitation in South Wales and gave details on the 
following: 
 

• Stand alone priority within the Force Control 
Strategy 

• South Wales Police reaction to the Rotherham 
report 

• Report from Jan Pickles to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner May 2015 with forty 
recommendations which formed the basis of the 
South Wales Summit held 18 May 2015 

• Welsh Government developing an All Wales Action 
Plan 

• Problem Profile 

• Current Operations 

• Child Sexual Exploitation Toolkit 

• Ongoing Work 

• Engagement with Partners 

• Engagement with the Force 

• Current Priorities 

 
Questions were then raised by the Panel on the 
Presentation and were responded to in detail by Sophie 
Howe and Superintendent Penhale.  

Page 2



Draf
t M

inu
tes

 
 
 
 
   

 
The Chair then thanked Mrs Howe and Superintendent 
Penhale for the Presentation to the Panel. 
 

6 Questions from Panel 
to Commissioner 
concerning Child 
Sexual Exploitation 

The Panel were circulated with the response from the 
Commissioner in relation to questions raised on Child 
Sexual Exploitation. 
 
The Panel then agreed that this response be deferred to 
enable the Members to consider the responses. 
 
Sophie Howe then advised that she would be happy to 
respond to the Panel at a future Meeting. 

7 Swansea Help Point 
Case Study. 

Mr Michael referred the Panel to the Case Study – 
Swansea Help Point report. 
 
Sophie Howe then led the Panel in detail through the case 
study and responded in detail to the questions raised by the 
Panel. 
 
Mrs Howe also advised that further analysis would be 
undertaken and reported back to the Panel. 
 
The Chair then thanked Mrs Howe for the update to the 
Panel. 

8 Financial update Mr Geoffrey Petty made a Presentation to the Panel giving 
details of the following: 
 

• Revenue Outturn 2014 /15 

• Statement of Accounts 

• Capital Outturn 2014 / 15 

• Resource Department Expenditure Limits (DEL) 
Spending in Cash Terms 

• Resource DEL as a Share of GDP in successive 
Parliaments 2007 – 2020 

• Resource DEL and implied resource DEL relative to 
GDP 

• Balancing the books 

• Police Funding Comparison 2015 / 16 

 
Questions were raised by the Panel on the Presentation 
and were responded to in detail by Mr Petty. 
 
Mr Michael also advised that he would discuss issues with 
the Chief Constable that had been raised by the Panel.  
 
The Chair then thanked Mr Petty for the update to the 
Panel. 

9 Planning cycle 
including the timetable 
for setting the precept 
for 2016/2017 

Mr Michael referred to the report that had been circulated 
entitled ‘A fresh approach to preparing the Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan 2016 – 2021’ together with a Planning 
Calendar 2015 – 16. 
 
Mr Michael then led the Panel in detail through the report 

Page 3



Draf
t M

inu
tes

 
 
 
 
   

and calendar for their information. 
 
The Chair then thanked Mr Michael for the update to the 
Panel. 
 

10 Committee on 
Standards in Public 
Life inquiry into local 
policing accountability - 
Final report 

The Chair referred the Panel to the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life Inquiry into Local Policing 
Accountability final report. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The content of the response be noted. 

11 Bridgend Local Service 
Board Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

The Chair referred the Panel to the Request for a Member 
of the Panel to join the Bridgend Local Service Board 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 
 
After consideration by the Panel it was 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The request for a Member of the Panel to join the Bridgend 
Local Service Board Overview and Scrutiny Panel be 
declined. 

12 Any Other Business as 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

13 Date of next meeting The Chair referred to the discussion that had been held 
under item four in relation to the Forward Work Programme. 
 
Resolved that subject to responses received from the 
Panel: 
 
That the date of the next Panel be Tuesday 13 October 
2015 commencing at 10.30 am at the Orbit Business 
Centre, Merthyr Tydfil 

 
 

Page 4



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

1

   

Police and Crime Reduction Plan 
2016-2021

DRAFT :  VERSION 0.6 – 2015 10 05

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

2

CONTENTS

 Introduction and Welcome 
 Achievements
 The story so far
 Where we are going –  A roadmap for the future of policing in South Wales
 Policing South Wales
 What do we know?
 Priorities 
 What does success look like?
 Finance 
 Governance
 ANNEXES

o The Commissioner’s Role – Underlying Principles and a Vision for South Wales
o How we will measure success

Single paragraph of explanation – this will include reference to the 
one page Principles and Values and the two page summary of Chief 
Constable’s Delivery Plan which will be distributed to every police 
station and policing team

Page 6



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

3

Introduction and Welcome

Commissioner’s Welcome
I’m confident in the leadership, integrity 
and close engagement with our 
communities which are at the heart of the 
character of South Wales Police in 2015. 
It’s crucial to maintain those 
characteristics as the Force, which has 
already had to cope with x% cut in Central 
Police Grant, copes with the same scale of 
cuts over the next few years. To do so, we 
have to marry operational policing to 
intensive work with partners to reduce 
crime, harm and demand.  That’s why I 
have worked with Chief Constable Peter 
Vaughan to make sure that this Police & 
Crime Plan – which I am required by law 
to produce – is based on values and 
aspirations that we share (see page 17).  
We will not follow some Forces down the 
road of withdrawing from neighbourhood 
policing but will work ever more closely 
with every community and with local 
councillors, the NHS, schools, colleges, 
Voluntary Organisations and the wider 
Criminal Justice System to “shrink 
together, not shrink apart”.  I thank 
Leaders in those organisations for working 
with us to reduce both harm and demand.  
Nevertheless, the officers who serve us in 
South Wales are under intense daily 
pressure – and it’s greatly to their credit 
that they remain committed, professional 
and enthusiastic as they cope with myriad 
calls for help, which go far beyond crime 
and disorder.  That’s why the value placed 
on our officers and PCSOs by communities 
and councillors has never been higher.  I 
thank Welsh Government Ministers for 
money to employ an additional 205 PCSOs 
and for working with us on a range of 
issues.  This refreshed plan seeks to 
support operational policing while 

accelerating our work to prevent crime, 
reduce harm and intervene early before 
things start to go wrong. We’re 
determined to keep South Wales Safe 
even in tough times.

Chief Constable’s Welcome
As the Chief Constable for South Wales 
Police I am responsible for the operational 
delivery of the force, working closely with 
the Police and Crime Commissioner to 
achieve our mission of Keeping South 
Wales Safe. The Commissioner and I are 
immensely proud of the service that South 
Wales Police provides to its communities, 
something which is increasingly reflected 
at a national level both through 
independent inspections and our 
consistent high standards of delivery. We 
work to a common set of principles and 
we are increasing our emphasis on early 
intervention to reduce both harm and 
demand. In South Wales we have centred 
our policing on the principles of listening, 
understanding and responding to what 
matters most to our communities, a focus 
that remains at the heart of our mission as 
we adapt to new and emerging 
challenges. Through this approach, the 
South Wales area remains one of the 
safest regions in the United Kingdom to 
live, work and visit, somewhere that 
people can confidently be without fear or 
concern for themselves, their family or 
friends. Our achievements to date have 
created a strong foundation on which to 
build but we acknowledge that we must 
always strive to improve our service and 
respond effectively to new demands; the 
Police & Crime Reduction Plan is the basis 
for our response and will ensure that we 
continue to deliver excellence to the 
communities of South Wales.

Page 7



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

4

ACHIEVEMENTS
2 page spread to be included in final version of the plan to be presented to the Police 

and Crime Panel in December

Page 8



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

5

STORY SO FAR
2 page spread to be included in final version of the plan to be presented to the Police 

and Crime Panel in December

Page 9



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

6

Policing South Wales

Although it covers just 10% of the geographical area of Wales, South Wales Police provides a 
service to 1.3 million people, covering 42% of the country's population and almost half of 
the total crime in Wales. This places a high demand on resources within the Force and in the 
12 months to December 2014 the Force has managed approximately 35,000 arrests, 
410,000 incidents and 612,000 calls.   

South Wales Police is one of the top 10 busiest forces in England & Wales in terms of crimes 
per 1000 population, and the 8th most effective in terms of detections.

South Wales Police has a growing reputation for excellence, being seen as progressive and 
innovative and now recognised as one of the best performing forces, achieved against the 
backdrop of continued challenges of funding reductions.  Crime levels in the South Wales 
area have declined steadily over the past 30 years reaching their lowest levels since 1983, 
showing the communities of South Wales continue to remain safe.  Anti-social behaviour 
has similarly declined over recent years. 
 
The Force’s decision to move to crime recording at source in 2014 has put it at the front of 
development of the good practice identified by HMIC.  This important shift in recording 
practice provides a better understanding of the levels of recorded crime and a more 
transparent process to the public.

The Force area and its four Basic Command Units, 
span the seven unitary authority boundaries of 
Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Neath Port Talbot, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf, Swansea and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, with Headquarters situated in Bridgend. 
The area includes 64 of the 100 most deprived 
communities in Wales and is a diverse region featuring 
rural, coastal and urban policing challenges including 
the two most populated cities in Wales, Swansea and the capital city, Cardiff.  

Famed for its strong sense of history, South Wales continues to expand in the business, 
leisure, and tourism areas and over the last 30 years has undergone significant change. 
Communities are more widespread, employment areas have moved, and more and more 
people are coming to South Wales, be it to set up home or as visitors to our capital city, our 
coast and our heritage sites.   

Swansea is a vibrant city boasting a ferry port, a Premier League football team and the 
Ospreys rugby team. The city is also home to Swansea University, University of Wales Trinity 
St. David and Gower College Swansea, which in total support around 20,000 full-time 
students.

Cardiff is one of the fastest growing cities in Europe and attracts over 18 million visitors per 
year. The city is home to the National Assembly for Wales, the world-renowned Principality 
Stadium, Cardiff International Airport, Cardiff City Football Club, the Cardiff Blues rugby 

Page 10



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

7

team, and the SWALEC cricket stadium hosting both Glamorgan and international cricket 
matches. The impact of linked events on policing and the nature of Cardiff being the capital 
city of Wales bring their own funding issues, which are not recognised by the Westminster 
Government, unlike London and Edinburgh, and I will continue to pursue this on behalf of 
South Wales Police. 

Cardiff has a number of major institutions of higher education: Cardiff University, Cardiff 
Metropolitan University, and the University of South Wales which also incorporates the 
Royal Welsh College of Music & Drama.  The city houses an estimated 66,000 students and 
is also home to Wales’ most diverse communities.

Situated in the northernmost part of the force area, Merthyr Tydfil is the gateway to the 
Brecon Beacons and, over recent years, has seen a programme of regeneration that has 
provided new opportunities for business and tourism in the area, such as Bike Park Wales, 
the UK’s first full scale mountain bike park. 

The southern coastal border of South Wales covers the ports of Barry, Port Talbot and 
Swansea, along with seaside towns like Penarth and Llantwit Major, the Glamorgan Heritage 
Coast and the popular tourist destinations of Porthcawl, the Mumbles and the Gower, which 
has been designated an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Southern Wales is of major strategic importance with the road network (in particular the M4 
and A465 Heads of the Valley road) good rail links and the sizeable market presenting a 
continuing risk that organised crime gangs from England and Europe will infiltrate the 
region.  

The relative proximity to Bristol, and major cities such as London, Manchester, Liverpool and 
Birmingham, which have levels of gun crime and drug related violence that are not seen to 
the same extent in South Wales, is an ever present reminder of the seriousness of the threat 
from organised crime. This emphasises that crime does not recognise national borders and 
administrative boundaries and stresses the importance of co-operation in fighting crime.

The presence of the Welsh Government requires a dedicated policing unit responsible for 
security and Cardiff, as the seat of Welsh Government, attracts increasing numbers of 
demonstrations against regional and national policy.

The Force also polices approximately 500 events 
across its force area each year which require 
varying levels of police intervention in terms of 
planning and resources.  These include policing 
premiership, European and International football, 
international cricket and rugby and other sporting 
events, concerts, royal visits, Public Military 
events, demonstrations and protest marches and 

key date policing for the night time economy in Cardiff and Swansea etc. 

Page 11

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cardiff_University
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cardiff_Metropolitan_University
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cardiff_Metropolitan_University
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/University_of_South_Wales
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Royal_Welsh_College_of_Music_%26_Drama


Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

8

In 2015 the Force supported events linked to the General Election and Rugby World Cup 
matches, and a number of other major events.

An innovative and sustainable organisation
In order to deliver the goals of this Police and Crime Reduction Plan, in the context of 
financial challenges, South Wales Police has had to change over recent years. In many 
respects this is not a new situation; in order to meet changing in society and in the nature of 
crime and communities, the police service has always needed to evolve. To do this and 
sustain our service to communities and our part in partnership has, of course, been made all 
the more challenging with reducing resources. We have therefore had to work in new ways 
and this process of change will continue as the needs of the communities we police shift 
over time and against the backdrop of further reductions in funding. 

Important aspects of our approach have not changed and will remain consistent. Our 
mission of Keeping South Wales Safe is integral to our day to day business and is built upon 
our vision to be the best at understanding and responding to our communities’ needs; in 
turn this drives our values which are about the way we work together and provide the 
foundation for everything we do: 

 Professional, with staff that are honest, take ownership and show respect.
 Proud of our organisation, of the communities they serve and of themselves.
 Positive, to respond to people and their concerns, to be reliable and to be caring.

As Chief Constable and police Commissioner we have spelt out our joint approach in the one 
page summary of our principles and values on page 17. The Police & Crime Reduction Plan 
describes our joint vision and the key priorities for policing, community safety and the 
provision of an effective criminal justice system.

We have looked forward to develop an operating model for the force that will allow it to 
continue to keep South Wales safe over the years ahead. This will be achieved through the 
Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan, which describes the changes we needed to ensure that the 
Force has the right people, with the right skills and the right resources and technology for 
the future.

Some examples of the developments that need to be taken account of in enabling and 
supporting strategies include:

 Changes in criminality and the emergence of new criminal markets,
 An evolving understanding of our demand, much of which is not related to crime,
 Increasing use of digital communication and online services,
 The potential devolution of policing to the Welsh Government,
 Proposed reforms to local government structures in Wales,
 Policing an increasingly diverse and ageing population,
 Increasing emphasis on public scrutiny and transparency.

Page 12



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

9

Our Operating Model for the Future

The development of the future operating model is a continuous process but is shaped by 
key principles and structured to reflect a programme of change that spans the organisation 
under five headings.

We recognise the importance of confident and cohesive communities and understand our 
role in their development and sustainability. It is critical that the public have trust in the 
service we provide, can easily contact us should the need arise and that we provide 
opportunities to engage to help shape our policing. 

To this end, we will continue to embed the Code of Ethics within our organisation and will 
utilise the Independent Ethics Committee to develop our principles and standards of 
behaviour to reinforce trust, respect and transparency. However, we also appreciate that 
the true value of this work will come from the awareness within our communities; as such 
we will utilise a blend of traditional, current and emerging methods of contact to broaden 
accessibility to our policing. The role of effectively communicating with our public cannot be 
understated, it is critical to their perception and confidence in our services that information 
is regularly made available to them in the most appropriate form, be that via the most 
current social media trends, or through more conventional methods such as newsletters. As 
this develops we will be able to work with the public to help manage demand by increasing 
their ability to self-serve through online mechanisms, where the nature of the interaction 
relates to advice or information; this will educate and empower our communities, whilst 
also improving our ability to respond efficiently. Interaction will not be restricted simply to 
communication and we will develop initiatives to encourage the public to work with us 
directly, through the expansion of our Young Police Volunteer scheme and the 
reinvigoration of our recruitment of Special Constables.

We understand that for our policing to truly meet the needs of our communities, it must be 
focussed on what matters to them, with our people organised, informed and able to meet 
these demands. This means that neighbourhood policing remains at the core of our 
organisational structure.

Our Policing
We will continue to develop our operational approaches to keeping communities safe 
from current and emerging threats.

Our Public
Our communities will be confident that South Wales Police is listening and responding 
to their needs.

Page 13



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

10

At the same time, we police our capital city and nearly half the Welsh population. We 
therefore need to have access to ‘strategic’ and specialist police capabilities to tackle 
threats such as organised crime and terrorism, as well as policing major events. As funding 
reduces, we need those capabilities that are justified by an assessment of the threats we 
face and will look to shared resources with other forces, wherever this is appropriate. To 
ensure that the Force is equipped in an ever changing world, we will continue to review our 
policing provision, intelligently profile demand and design our service to always be 
adaptable and effective. In particular, we need to keep pace with the public use of 
technology. This means providing access to more services and information online.

The use of digital communication in all our lives means we also need cost effective methods 
of obtaining evidence and intelligence from digital sources, whether dealing with local 
incidents or national threats. We will build upon our reputation as leaders in the use of new 
technology to increase our presence in the right place, at the right time and deal with 
demand swiftly. A key focus will be on ensuring our people have access to information on 
the move and they can work flexibly using mobile and remote technology.

We have fundamentally reviewed the demands on our services. Public calls for service are 
now often concerned with public safety and welfare, issues which we need to find 
responses to with partners. Our approach to all crimes will be to reduce offending and our 
investigative capacity will be particularly focused on threat, risk and harm to the most 
vulnerable in our communities. This will include emphasis on violence against women and 
girls, and child sexual exploitation with more of this work being done in multi-agency, co-
located teams.

We appreciate people as our greatest asset and that the service we provide hinges upon 
them being valued, motivated and appropriately developed to undertake their roles 
effectively. It is also crucially important to our policing that our workforce is reflective of the 
ever growing diversity of the South Wales area.

Despite the financial challenges faced by the Force and the impacts upon recruitment, we 
will continue our work on the Representative Workforce project with the aim of becoming 
more reflective of our communities. We will recruit individuals who exhibit and reflect our 
values, ensuring that they are equipped to deal with both existing and emerging demands 
such as digital crime and protecting the most vulnerable in our communities. We recognise 
that the continued health, well-being and development of our people is critical to enable 
the Force to adapt to new challenges. We will utilise traditional and innovative solutions 
such as online resources to support our staff, offering flexible solutions to encourage their 
welfare and deliver training that is relevant to modern demands. This will promote a culture 
where personal responsibility, professional development and a healthy work-life balance are 
understood to be of fundamental importance to the service we deliver.

Our People 
We will focuses on ensuring we have the right people, with the right skills and 
capabilities to meet the needs of our communities. 

Page 14



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

11

We strive to provide a service to our communities which is focussed on their needs and 
continuously driven through innovation, collaboration and efficiency. 

The most critical element to the service we provide is our public facing, frontline provision 
and it is around this that we will shape our supporting structures. We will continuously 
review our back office functions to reduce bureaucracy, eliminate waste and improve 
efficiency, ensuring that this translates to improvements to the policing of our communities. 
To achieve this, we will place greater emphasis on the skills of our staff, supported by the 
exploitation of new technology to ensure that the right resources are available in the right 
locations at the right times. Force initiatives, such as Project Fusion, will alter and enhance 
our policing, adapting the service that we provide to be more reflective of modern 
preferences through the use of mobile technology, online interaction and agile working. Our 
approach to the procurement of goods and services will begin with a clear justification of 
need and where progressed will always focus on value for money. This will be 
complimented by the strategies that we have in place covering our Estate, Fleet and 
finances, which will be regularly reviewed and updated to take account of changes at a local 
and national level enabling us to adapt quickly.  We will work with our partners to identify 
opportunities to co-locate which centre on ensuring that operational services are optimally 
placed to police our communities and this will include the Tri-Service Public Service Centre 
in partnership with the fire and ambulance services.

We realise that partnership working and collaboration can play a key part in improving 
service provision, dealing with demand more effectively and achieving cost savings; 
however we know it must only be progressed if in the best interests of our communities.

The introduction of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs is improving our ability to protect some 
of the most vulnerable members of our communities through the co-location of police, 
health, probation, education and social services.  We have already successfully introduced a 
Joint Scientific Investigation Unit in collaboration with Gwent Police and a joint vehicle 
workshop with Bridgend County Borough Council. We build on the success of the projects 
and will continue to explore further opportunities to work with the other Welsh forces, local 
authorities and other partners. We will utilise findings from the 2015 review of the 

Our Resources
We will focus on how we can deliver our services at lower cost and meet the evolving 
needs of communities, making the best use of all our non-staff resources, including 
technology. 

Collaboration and Partnership
We will work with partners in line with our vision, particularly where we have a clear 
common purpose.

Page 15



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

12

Collaborative environment in Wales and target areas such as Specialist Crime and 
Occupational Health, whilst also reviewing existing arrangements to ensure that they 
remain fit for purpose and continue to realise benefit for those involved. 

Page 16



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

13
Page 17



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

14
Page 18



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

15
Page 19



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

16
Page 20



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

17

PRIORITIES – Applying the Co-operative Ideal

Co-operation is the underlying principle that inspires us
Together, we achieve more than we can achieve alone

Our overall aims are …………..
 To reduce crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour
 To promote the interests of victims and protect vulnerable people
 To help build strong, positive, collaborative communities and make every contact 

count
 To take an evidence-based approach - identifying the problems our communities 

face, analysing data and identifying “What Works”.
 To enable the Criminal Justice System to work faster and more efficiently
 To support the South Wales Police team in which everyone is a Leader and is Proud, 

Positive and Professional.
Our teamwork has four elements ……….

 JOINTLY by Commissioner, Chief Constable and their teams
 MORE WIDELY with the South Wales Police “Family” 
 IN PARTNERSHIP with all other agencies and through
 ENGAGEMENT with the public, with a focus on vulnerability, risk, threat and 

inclusion.
We value, challenge and respect those with whom we work …….

 Within our own Team
 Within the Police Family
 Within Partner Organisations and Agencies
 Within the wider community

We see Early Intervention as a key principle of action …….
 The essence of Policing is action to keep the community safe and confident.
 Since Sir Robert Peel, the first responsibility of the police has been to prevent crime - 

success in policing is demonstrated by absence of crime, not the presence of activity.  
 But policing in a modern society means we have to do far more than just deal with 

crime. And tackling the issues that our communities expect us to tackle depends on 
prompt joint action. 

 And as public services have to do more with less, we have to shrink together not 
shrink apart and follow principles of sustainability and future well-being.

 We cannot do it alone, so South Wales Police will quickly identify trends and causes, 
and with partners identify the most effective form of Early Intervention.

Page 21



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

18

1. We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behavior to keep 
people safe in their homes and in their communities

Why is this a priority?
Crime and anti-social behaviour incidents can have a significant impact on people’s lives, 
especially the vulnerable and repeat victims, and features as a key concern through our 
public consultation.

Reducing and preventing crime is my main objective as Police and Crime Commissioner and 
this is a key priority for both myself and the Chief Constable. Although we have made 
progress in tackling these concerns, we know that more needs to be done. 

We will be tough on crime and the causes of crime, tackling and preventing the underlying 
issues through the promotion of early intervention initiatives based on evidence, 
partnership and evaluation to identify “what works” and how the role of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner can add value.

The level of recorded crime has reduced to level not seen since the mid 1980’s and anti-
social behaviour levels have also reduced. The changes made to the process of crime 
recording over the last year can give the public certainty that we are recording crime more 
accurately and transparently than ever before.

This provides a solid foundation on which to build over the next 5-year period and the 
implementation of the Community Remedy and Community Trigger will enhance our ability 
to respond to and resolve incidents of anti-social behaviour, and we will continue to 
promote a joint approach with our partners to give the public the confidence to report 
incidents.

How we will do it:
Local Policing

 Implement the findings of our joint review of Police Community Support Officers, to 
ensure that they are visible and engaged with local communities, and have enhanced 
skills to fulfill that role

 Maintain community policing,
 Forge strong links between Police Officers working in schools and wider local policing 

teams to maximize the benefit of engagement with young people,
 Implement the Community Trigger and Remedy, contributing towards a victim 

centered response to anti-social behavior,
 Work with young people to expand our South Wales Police Youth Volunteers 

programme
 Recruit more Special Constables from within all our communities.

Page 22



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

19

Working within communities
 Encourage communities to take an active role in local problem solving issues through 

such initiatives as Neighbourhood Watch, Movement for Change and Citizens UK,
 Contribute to the implementation to the Future Generations Bill so that there is a 

partnership approach to developing sustainable futures for our communities with a 
focus on early intervention and prevention

 Work with partners to ensure the Clean Neighourhoods Act is embedded in local 
practice to improve quality of life and well-being within our communities,

Violent Crime
 Use the results of a thematic review commissioned by the Chief Constable and Police 

& Crime Commissioner to develop a more effective approach to licensing and its 
impacts upon the night time economy, 

 Work to reduce violent crime through a multi-agency approach to data sharing and 
analysis, developing links with Public Health Wales to promote interventions 
focusing on early intervention and prevention 

**1 page/half page case study on Know the Score inc visual of Sam Warburton

Page 23



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

20

2. We will improve the way in which we involve, inform and connect 
with our communities 

Why is this a priority?
It has become apparent through our research that our communities are still unclear on the 
work of South Wales Police and the methods through which services can be accessed. The 
Chief Constable and I are keen to build upon the successes of recent developments such as 
the implementation of the Public Service Centre and the re-launch of 101, to ensure that the 
public can confidently access the services they require, when they require them and in a 
form most appropriate to their circumstance.

We live in a digital age, where accessibility, communication and the consumption of 
information require an ever more diverse approach. However, the nature of communities in 
South Wales means that more traditional methods cannot simply be abandoned and must 
be part of a wider strategy for engagement. 

Public confidence in South Wales Police will only improve further if our communities feel 
involved, informed and able to connect with services that are recognised to be amongst the 
best in England and Wales.

How we will do it:
Involve 
 Increase workforce representation to ensure our service is more reflective of the 

communities of South Wales, especially BME communities who are currently under-
represented

 Implement the United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child as part of our 
commitment to understand and respond to the needs of children, young people and 
families,

 Engage with our communities to understand the best and most effective methods of 
communication

Inform 
 Develop and implement a communications strategy that outlines our commitment to 

improve how we communicate internally and externally,
 Keep communities aware of local policing activity and methods of accessibility,
 Where we are not the right agency to deal with issues, we will help members of the 

public to make contact with the appropriate service, 

Connect
 Introduce online reporting for crime and anti-social behaviour, 
 Create an online portal through which victims are able to track the investigation of their 

crime, 
 Further develop accessibility around our Public Service Centre,
 Continue to work locally and on a national level to enable 101 to be accessible to those 

with special needs,
 Make more effective use of Social Media as a mechanism for engaging with our public,

Page 24



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

21

3. We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities 

Why is this a priority?
In this age of financial challenges, it is essential that we do not lose of the need to protect 
the most vulnerable in communities. I am therefore keen to work with partners to deliver 
better services, irrespective of what our statutory responsibilities are, because that is the 
right thing to do for the vulnerable people in our communities. 

To achieve this I will work with partners to support our communities in the right way by 
better understanding their issues and the services they require, providing an opportunity for 
“peer challenge” to identify what works, promoting the sharing of best practice and 
identifying common goals. 

We want to ensure that we have the best possible arrangements in place, both internally 
and externally, to protect the most vulnerable members of our communities, children in 
particular. We will be focussing attention on vulnerable missing persons, child sexual 
exploitation & abuse and domestic violence.

How we will do it:

Violence Against Women and Girls
 Continue to implement the South Wales Violence Against Women and Girls Action Plan,
 Improve our response to victims of Honour Based Violence and Female Genital 

Mutilation,
 Develop Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs (MASH) and MARAC process, also covering 

those affected Child Sexual Exploitation and Abuse, to cover all parts of South Wales
 Further embed the IRIS (Identification and Referral to Improve Safety) programme to 

encourage domestic abuse referrals in GP surgeries,
 Continue to implement the vulnerability awareness training delivered to all Police 

Officers and partners who interact with the night time economy,

Mental Health & Disability
 Work with partners to improve the support and communication between the police and 

those with mental health needs or learning difficulties through the roll-out of the Keep 
Safe Cymru card,

 Support the introduction of ‘safe houses’ for individuals who may be detained under 
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act. 

Child Sexual Exploitation & Abuse
 Implement the recommendations of the Child Sexual Exploitation Review,
 Introduce Children’s Advocates to work with victims,
 Improve ability to identify those that are vulnerable and work with partner agencies to 

deliver effective support mechanisms,

Page 25



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

22

Vulnerable People
 Utilise the findings of the internal Hate Crime review to ensure victims are provided with 

the most appropriate service and are satisfied with the response they receive,
 Work with partners such as Safe Online and the Older Peoples Commissioner to tackle 

the growing issue of scams and fraudulent behavior.

 

Page 26



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

23

4. We will spend your money wisely to protect policing in your 
community 

Why is this a priority?
Police forces across England & Wales are facing sever cuts in the Police Grant from Central 
Government. That makes difficult decisions inevitable, but even in these tough times the 
Chief Constable and I have made a commitment to protect Neighbourhood Policing (also 
known as community policing) and to ensure that South Wales Police is working effectively 
with partners to maintain the level of services our communities expect. 

In order to do this, we need to ensure that our resources are locally based, strategically 
placed with effective and efficient services focussed on need.

How we will do it:

People 
 Develop a people strategy to ensure that we have the right people in the right place.
 Improve our BME recruitment so that, over time, we properly reflect the communities 

we serve,
 Protect the necessary number of police officers wherever we can whilst saving £xxx – 

2021 (Finance to add),
 Seek a sustainable model for policing in South Wales under current pressures,

Estates
 Develop a strategy to spend less on buildings whilst we ensure that we have fit for 

purpose estate at point of need such as our custody facilities,
 Explore further collaborative opportunities to align our estates strategy with those of 

our partners, such as the Joint Fleet Workshop with Bridgend County Borough Council 
opened in 2015

 Promote the introduction of a joint ‘blue light’ Public Service Centre.

Equipment
 Make more effective use of technology and support the aims of Project Fusion in areas 

such as mobile data and iR3,

Page 27



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

24

5. We will make sure that the criminal justice system works effectively 
and efficiently to meet the needs of victims and to challenge 
offenders

Why is this a priority?
The criminal justice system needs to have a clear emphasis on reducing crime with a focus 
on the areas of preventing offending and reoffending and reducing harm and risk to the 
public.

Whilst the past year has seen significant progress in developing a more effective criminal 
justice system there are still opportunities to improve. The merging of the South Wales 
Criminal Justice Board with the Integrated Offender Management Board is just one example 
of our innovative approach. I have also established an out of court disposal scrutiny panel, 
providing the opportunity for criminal justice partners to assess whether the use of out of 
court disposal orders are being used correctly and effectively.

I have been encouraged by the initial work and look forward to this developing as we seek 
to reduce reoffending and opportunities for alternative pathways to criminality.

How we will do it:

Victims
 Introduction of a multi-agency model for supporting victims, with enhanced support for 

vulnerable victims as well as children and young people who are victims of crime,
 Increase the opportunities for the use of a restorative element in crime outcomes to 

promote and strengthen the ‘victims voice’ as a mechanism for reducing reoffending,

Offenders
 Implement the Women’s Pathfinder programme across the South Wales force area, 
 Implement the findings of our Mental Health review to develop pathways for people 

with Mental Health issues to divert them to the support they need, rather than 
inappropriately ending up in the Criminal Justice System.

 Develop and expand opportunities to intervene early to reduce offending and improve 
life opportunities for the 18 – 25 age group,

Partners
 Work with the National Offender Management Service in Wales (Prisons, Probation and 

Contracted Services) to develop a common understanding of priorities, and assist in the 
development and delivery of a coherent end-to-end integrated offender management 
approach across South Wales

 Work with partners to realise the benefits of the Transforming Summary Justice 
programme.

 Work with partners to ensure a joint response to emerging and current priorities, with a 
focus on targeting those individuals and families who place most demand on local 
services based on threat, harm and risk as well as consideration of the impacts of the 
changing diversity within our communities.

Page 28



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

25

6. Strategic Policing Requirements and Major Events

Why is this a priority?
South Wales Police is a key strategic force in the support of major national events outside of 
its boundaries, making a significant contribution to such things as the 2014 NATO 
conference, the 2012 Olympics and the 2011 London riots. 

The annual Strategic Policing Requirement is an important element of policing approach 
across England & Wales, identifying key national threats that must be addressed and the 
capabilities required to counter them.  Whilst public concern around these issues may 
depend on high-profile incidents and media coverage, their policing demands constant 
focus:

 Terrorism
 Serious and organised crime
 Cyber security incidents
 Civil Emergencies
 Public Order and Public Safety
 Child Sexual Exploitation & Abuse

Contributing to these challenges is a priority for the Chief Constable and myself and we 
acknowledge the importance of ensuring that Wales is well served through collaborative 
arrangements.

How we will do it: 

 Tackle radicalisation in our communities by building trust to promote an environment 
where people have the confidence to report extremist behaviour,

 Work collaboratively with other forces and partners to identify efficient ways of 
responding to major incidents/events,

 Identify, understand and tackle emerging threats such as online crime and work with 
partners to raise awareness.

 Work with partners to identify and disrupt people trafficking and Child Sexual 
Exploitation 

 Ensure that local Serious and Organised Crime Boards respond to local issues 
 Work with partners, such as the National Offender Management Service in Wales to 

develop more effective offender management approaches to organised crime offenders

Page 29



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

26

WHERE ARE WE GOING

– a roadmap for the future of policing

2 page spread to be included in final version of the plan to be presented to the Police 
and Crime Panel in December

Page 30



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

27

CHIEF CONSTABLE’S DELIVERY PLAN

2 page spread to be included in final version of the plan to be presented to the Police 
and Crime Panel in December

Page 31



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

28

What does success look like?

Outcomes

Pr
io

rit
y 

1

Pr
io

rit
y 

2

Pr
io

rit
y 

3

Pr
io

rit
y 

4

Pr
io

rit
y 

5

Pr
io

rit
y 

6

An increase in the number of people who feel that 
their neighbourhood is a safe place to live

  

Increased confidence to report incidents of crime & 
anti-social behaviour

 

Increased perception that the police deal with local 
concerns

     

Work with partners to ensure that we are early 
adopters of the requirements of the Future 
Generations and Well-being Act 2015

     

High level of public awareness of the Community 
Trigger and Community Remedy

   

Increased reporting of Violence against Women and 
Girls from individuals and agencies

   

Increased awareness of the level of Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Abuse with improved support 
mechanisms for victims 

   

High level of satisfaction for victims of crime 

Increased satisfaction with the services provided to 
victims

 

Reduction in the use of Section 136 of the Mental 
Health Act through the more appropriate use of 
facilities

  

Reduction in 18-25 age group offending rates   

Reduced level of re-offending through the 
implementation of the Women’s Pathfinder 
Programme

 

A coherent and integrated approach to offender 
management across South Wales     

Page 32



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

29

Finance and Other Resources

Page 33



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

30

Governance and Accountability

The 2011 Police Reform Act, which created the role of Police and Crime Commissioners, 
introduced a significant change in the governance of policing, and the relationship with 
partner agencies. Since being elected I have worked with the Chief Constable and partners 
to establish a governance framework that provides accountability and transparency 
balanced with the opportunities for developing joint working initiatives.

The Police and Crime Panel holds me to account for the progress in delivering the priorities 
within this plan. I have sought to develop a constructive, yet positive relationship with the 
Panel and have engaged with them as a “critical friend” in areas such as the development of 
the Police and Crime Reduction Plan and our work to deliver my priorities.

The Commissioner’s Strategic Board is where I formally hold the Chief Constable to account 
for delivering the operational policing priorities within this plan, and I have worked with 
partner agencies to develop effective mechanisms to drive and monitor the delivery of 
partnership priorities. One example being the joint South Wales Criminal Justice and 
Integrated Offender Management Board, which brings together agencies from across the 
criminal justice spectrum, allowing us to identify and resolve obstacles, as well as creating a 
more integrated approach to future planning. 

I have also established an Out of Court Scrutiny Panel, providing the opportunity for criminal 
justice partners to assess whether the use of out of court disposal orders are being used 
effectively and correctly. This forum is already providing benefits and look forward to the 
development of this process as we seek to make the links with initiatives such as the 
Women’s Pathfinder project and the custody triage scheme being piloted in Cardiff. Both of 
which provide support to reducing reoffending and creating opportunities for alternative 
pathways to criminal behaviour.

Other formal mechanisms for accountability include an agreed internal and external audit 
process, which assesses both my team and that of the Chief Constable and is monitored by 
an Independent Joint Audit Committee. I also contribute to the reviews and inspections 
conducted by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and work with the Chief Constable 
to ensure that recommendations are implemented where identified.

Page 34



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

31

Progress in delivering my priorities is monitored through an integrated governance structure 
which allows my Deputy and Assistant Commissioner to work with Chief Officers to resolve 
any issues. This will report into the Strategic Board and provide a coherent process for 
improving policing services, identifying efficiencies and laying the foundations for a longer-
term view of policing.

The need for solid evidence and evaluation will be critical in developing this structure and 
the Academic Board involving academics from across South Wales, will be critical in assisting 
us in demonstrating how the implementation of priorities are making a difference and 
improving services. The work of this board complements our commitment to using an 
evidence-based approach to focus our efforts in the areas of greatest need, as well as 
understanding what works.

I will also be working with the Chief Constable to embed the Code of Ethics within South 
Wales Police. These guidelines have been produced by the College of Policing and are 
intended to “set and define the exemplary standards of behaviour for everyone (police 
officers and police staff) who works in policing” by taking policing back to its core Peelian 
principles. This is a reflection of my own approach to policing and we have introduced an 
Independent Ethics Committee, ensuring that staff adhere to the principles of the Code.

Page 35



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

32

ANNEXES

1. The Commissioner’s Role – Underlying Principles and a Vision for South 
Wales 

2. How we will measure success

Page 36



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

33

The Commissioner’s Role:  
Underlying Principles and a Vision for South Wales

The 2011 Police Reform Act established new roles and responsibilities for policing in England 
and Wales. Some people still think it merely replaced the old Police Authority with a Police 
and Crime Commissioner but in fact it ushered in a whole new set of requirements, 
including the Commissioner’s responsibility to publish the Police and Crime Plan. 
When I published the first edition of my plan in 2013, I promised it would be a living 
document that would be reviewed annually to ensure it was kept up-to-date and relevant. 
In the second iteration I outlined that this wasn’t “just another document”; it wasn’t about 
making unrealistic promises to fix things in the short term, but on  long-term solutions 
based on clear evidence and partnership with every relevant organisation. 

The election in 2015 has given us certainty about the long-term future of the role of Police & 
Crime Commissioner, but it has also given us the unwelcome certainty that the Police Grant, 
decided by Central Government, will continue to be cut significantly each year.  That’s why I 
have worked closely with the Chief Constable, Peter Vaughan QPM, to develop a Police & 
Crime Plan that recognises the realities of operational policing and what is needed to deliver 
on a shared vision for the future through from 2016 to 2021.  The cuts in Police Grant make 
it tough for all of us, but it doesn’t change the need for unremitting questioning of the 
evidence and robust evaluation to identify what works to reduce crime and demand on the 
police. Indeed, it increases the urgency for us to promote early intervention as a way of 
keeping our communities safe.  That’s the key priority for me and for the Chief Constable, 
set out in our joint statement of Principles (page xx) and its why my approach is to work 
with all our partners to ensure that current approaches to crime reduction and prevention 
are tested using action research methods. 

This is important because only when we know the true extent of crime, and the real impact 
on victims and the real issues within communities, can we focus collective resources on 
providing an effective, partnership approach to resolving them.
 
I have been encouraged to see that the priorities set out in my initial plan continue to 
resonate well with those of partner agencies – particularly with local government but also 
Welsh Government, the NHS, and with organisations in the Criminal Justice System. We face 

Page 37



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

34

similar challenges, and in many areas we are also working towards the same goals: 
delivering our services to meet the needs of the same communities, often seeking to help 
and protect the same vulnerable individuals.  Through a collective understanding of 
community need and an evidence-based approach to achieving common outcomes, 
agencies from all sectors can work together to effectively achieve these goals.
 
Partnership working is underpinned by our main purpose: to reduce and prevent crime. 
That’s not an optional extra to the operational policing response because it’s essential to 
reduce demand in a climate that requires us to do more with less – and places the same 
pressures on every other public body.  In 2014 I explained this by showing the Police & 
Crime Plan as being made up of four quartiles:

The quartiles are ………….
 Policing and those things that fall to operational policing to deliver
 Partnership working with local authorities, the NHS, the Voluntary Sector and others 

to prevent crime and reduce harm.
 Working with other agencies to make the Criminal Justice System more effective in 

South Wales
 Identifying new areas of increasing need in order to plan ahead effectively

 That fourth quartile is increasingly important.  Initially we identified the impact of criminal 
activity on the Internet and the needs of our increasing population of older people as key 
challenges and these remain key priorities.  We have also responded to new challenges – 
for example, in response to the Alexis Jay report on Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham 
Peter Vaughan and I put in place a joint Strategic Review of everything done by South Wales 
Police directly and with or through partners to make sure that no aspect of this issue is 
overlooked in South Wales.  That review has led to a “Summit” attended by the Leaders of 
all public bodies across South Wales and a joint action plan for the future. The Police & 
Crime Plan 2016-2021 builds on the firm foundations we have developed with partners, as 
well as embedding the core values of co-operation and partnership into everything we do.  I 
am now even more confident that we are on course to have a better understanding of the 
actual level of crime within South Wales so that the police and their partners can best meet 
the needs of communities, whether that be reducing and preventing crime, tackling anti-
social behaviour or supporting victims. 

There has also been considerable progress in developing a more effective relationship with 
health bodies through sharing data to inform and drive action.  There is a more focussed 

Page 38



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

35

approach on reducing offending and reoffending in the 18-25 age group, and a clear 
commitment to tackle violence against women and girls with our joint Action Plan which 
also reflects the initiatives of Welsh Government.
 
Achieving More Together

My existing and long-held belief that partnership working is the most effective mechanism 
for reducing and preventing crime is supported in the 2011 Police Reform Act. The Act 
outlines my legislative responsibilities with regard to: South Wales Police, criminal justice 
systems locally and the promotion of wider and more effective partnership working. 

I very much welcomed this additional legislative responsibility as it continues the 
partnership principle I set out in what became the 1998 Crime and Disorder Act which 
established Community Safety Partnerships and Youth Offending Teams. It is also the 
cornerstone of my Police and Crime Reduction Plan. As was made clear in the Justice Select 
Committee’s report on “Justice Reinvestment”, the police cannot deliver safe and secure 
communities on their own; a wide variety of organisations – and indeed the public – have a 
role to play.  

I am also pleased with the progress made in working with the Voluntary and Community 
Sector, with a Compact on the relationship that will be in place well before this Plan comes 
into force.  The concept of a “Compact” is based on the fact that voluntary and community 
organisations are a varied and disparate group that individually lack the strength of any 
public sector bureaucracy, and are yet increasingly called upon to work with of for the 
public sector. 

As they mostly work to clear charitable objects that are often different to the objectives of 
the public agencies with which they work, the idea of a “Compact” is to provide a clear 
agreement that will enable the public sector and voluntary organisations to work together 
in the public interest on the basis of mutual respect. When I introduced this idea in 1997, 
some of the best examples were seen in South Wales, not least in Merthyr and Neath, and I 
am delighted that the sector in South Wales has been keen to build on that experience.

That has been led by the Councils of Voluntary Action or Councils for Voluntary Service in 
the seven local authority areas in South Wales, culminating in a conference in October 2015 
also designed to enable their comments on the draft Police & Crime Plan 2017-2021 to be 
taken into account.  

We have also been working closely with voluntary organisations which have a specific focus 
on the Criminal Justice System and in protecting vulnerable people, and with Social 
Landlords on reducing anti-social behaviour.
 
In a context of financial austerity in which the police have suffered and continue to suffer, 
difficult decisions have had to be taken. We are now faced with the prospect of deep 
financial cuts within local government which could have devastating consequences, 
particularly for community and youth services. It is apparent that in order to face the true 
nature of financial challenges, the police and their partners need to work closely together. 

Page 39



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

36

Therefore the success in delivering my priorities will not be about catchy headlines but 
about ongoing constructive, partnership working that seeks to deliver long-term benefits to 
the communities within South Wales. Such emphasis on the importance of a joined up, 
smarter working approach is maintained as a key element running through this plan. I firmly 
believe that at a time when the financial situation is at its most challenging, we need to 
work together to be more effective in improving the quality of life for our communities and 
the individuals within those communities.   

During a previous period of deep cuts in public expenditure in the 1980s, many 
organisations retreated into their own silos and withdrew from joint initiatives. This time 
around it is different.  Leaders in most of the public bodies we work with are instead saying 
“in tough times we need to do more together.” Together we can achieve more than we can 
achieve alone.  Organisations across all sectors are now feeling the cold winds of year-on-
year cuts and it is heart-breaking to see services that we love and value being slashed 
because there is no other way to balance the books. If we are to “shrink”, then we need to 
shrink together, jointly managing the impact of the cuts rather than acting in isolation. 
 
One of the most important parts of my role is developing relationships with partner 
agencies in order to identify common objectives and overcome obstacles to delivering 
services effectively.  The meetings I have with local authorities and other partners continue 
to be invaluable in providing me with a better understanding of the complexity of the 
partnership landscape across South Wales and in agreeing ways we can be more effective.

I also want to work with our magistrates across South Wales and learn from their 
observations and experience in court. And there are developments such as the restorative 
justice pilots in Cardiff Crown Court from which we may learn a great deal.  

The South Wales Criminal Justice Board has now been merged with the Integrated Offender 
Management Board for South Wales – a first in England and Wales -  bringing together those 
who have a key part to play in making the Criminal Justice System work well locally for the 
people of South Wales. I have established a Panel which scrutinises out-of-court disposals – 
ways of dealing with an offence quickly by means of instant penalties or interventions – to 
make sure that they are effective and not an “easy option”.  The Panel includes the Deputy 
Chair of each of the Magistrates Benches across South Wales as well as prosecutors, court 
staff and Victim Support.  It’s a robust group that examines sample cases and is providing 
just the reassurance that the public need to have confidence in the system.

I have worked with the Courts Service – for example to enable CCTV evidence facilities in 
Neath – and with the National Probation Service, the three prisons that are located in our 
area and with Working Links which now “owns” the Community Rehabilitation Company for 
Wales.  

Through such forums, I have developed an appreciation of the processes that partners have 
to go through both individually and collectively to define their priorities and the pressures 
they face in delivering services. That is why I value the engagement and commitment of all 

Page 40



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

37

seven local authority leaders and chief executives. Peter Vaughan and I meet them 
regularly, and our meetings are increasingly practical and focussed on joint action

A key theme that underpins our ability to work together is the need to share information.  
Along with the Chief Constable I have sought to promote a ‘dare to share approach’ that will 
enable our practitioners to deliver services to communities more effectively and with fewer 
resources.  

I actually thought I had dealt with the reluctance to share data when I insisted in putting a 
clause into the Crime & Disorder Act, which put beyond doubt that the sharing of data for 
the purpose of crime reduction and prevention is a legitimate purpose.  Of course data 
cannot be shared carelessly or without thought.  But it is not acceptable to say “if in doubt 
don’t share”.   The right approach is to ask “What can I share” or “How can I get the balance 
right” between sharing information to prevent crime and the need to protect personal 
data.  
Through partnership working there are ways in which we can help each other. For example, 
if our current work with colleagues in the NHS leads to a reduction in violence across South 
Wales, savings will be made for both the police and health service. For the police, it will free 
up officer time, allowing them to be out on the streets instead of preparing a file for court. 
For the health service, the volume of calls to the Ambulance service will be reduced thereby 
creating headroom at Accident and Emergency, or at the very least prevent the pressures on 
health services getting even worse. 

The work of Professor Jonathan Shepherd provides evidence that in such partnership 
working leads to considerable gains for all concerned and for the public. The collaborative 
work that has developed in supporting the Help Point in Swansea is demonstrating that 
there are enormous benefits to be derived from this approach.   I am particularly pleased 
delighted that we have now signed a protocol for joint working with Public Health Wales.  
Their mission to reduce harm in terms of health and our mission to reduce crime and anti-
social behaviour find practical application in terms of reducing violence, tackling substance 
misuse, dealing with excessive alcohol issues, coping with mental health, and a number of 
other major areas of policy in which health benefits and public safety are both well served. 
 
We want to cut offending in the age group which now harbours the most prolific criminal 
activity - the 18 to 25 age. At the same time each local authority in South Wales has stated 
an ambition to cut the number of young people not in employment, education or training 
and to give better support to young people leaving care. In addition, different agencies are 
trying to reduce the impact of substance misuse, alcohol, mental health problems and 
homelessness. This work is slower than I had hoped for – not least because of the cuts 
affecting all the partners - but it remains, a crucial objective and I believe we are making 
progress.
 
Without entering too far into dangerous generalisations, there is certainly a significant 
degree of overlap between our “target” groups.  It is manifestly obvious that we can do 
more together than we can do alone, especially in tough times. Our success in applications 
to the Police Innovation Fund means we can bring new resources to assist in addressing the 
areas of: 18-25 year olds, violence against women and girls and violent crime.  

Page 41



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

38

Joint working with GPs has accelerated through the IRIS (Identification and Referral to 
Improve Safety) project, which is showing real benefits. This project has been launched to 
provide training and support to general practitioners in health in order to identify and refer 
cases of domestic abuse. 

The work we are doing with partners to jointly plan and fund services for victims of 
domestic abuse will aim to put them on a much more sustainable footing, and the 
innovative programme to tackle domestic abuse perpetrators, which will be piloted in 
Merthyr and Rhondda Cynon Taff, has a strong focus on prevention – stopping the abuser 
perpetrating violence instead of the only focus being to pick up the pieces for victims. 
 
These are just a few clear examples of the benefits of co-operation and partnership 
working.  It’s not easy and it can be frustratingly slow in the early stages, but it works best 
for the long term.  Of course, we don’t expect a police officer to hesitate when responding 
to a violent incident, a burglary or a car crash. 
Those are just some of the occasions on which we depend on officer’s “can do” attitude and 
quick instincts, and long may that continue. Yet if the partnership approach continues to 
result in reduced offending and reoffending trends, particularly for the most serious cases, it 
will create some headroom for our police officers.  

Goodness knows they need it as they cope with the impact of “Austerity” and at the same 
time aim to continue the upward trajectory in the proportion of offences which have a good 
outcome in terms of sanction/detection. 

Challenging Times

We must work co-operatively to do things better, smarter, and more efficiently, with less. 
It’s not that we want to do more with fewer police officers - with officer numbers down 
from 3,400 to 2,815, it is imperative. The early decisions taken by the Chief Constable as a 
response to ‘Austerity’ created some flexibility, and there will be a slight increase in the 
number of police officers in post in 2015-2016 but that will be difficult to sustain in future 
years if the reductions in Police Grant are as severe as has been projected to date. 

In tough times “prevention is better than cure” is just common sense – it’s a necessity 
rather than a luxury. If “austerity” forces us to think creatively perhaps we should heed the 
advice to “never let a crisis go to waste”. 
 
In preparing the budget for last year and this year, the Chief Constable and I had serious 
discussions about staff numbers and workforce balance as we sought to balance the books.  
It is my judgement that the cuts to the Home Office Budget and to police finances go too 
deep and have already caused serious damage. However, having made that clear I am not 
going to waste time complaining about it. I applaud the approach of the Chief Constable 
over the past three years in coping with the front-loaded cuts in the Spending Review.  

He and his team have got on with driving down crime and protecting the public even in 
tough times and I will follow his example. However, you cannot escape the fact that police 

Page 42



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

39

numbers are down from a high of 3,400 to the present establishment of 2,812, which is an 
all-time low for South Wales Police. Effective management means that while we are seeing a 
slight increase in officers for 2015-2016, the long term prospects remain gloomy.

For both of us, the loss of police officers and police staff is the option of last resort and will 
be kept to a minimum. Yet in a service whose prime asset and main cost is our staff, some 
reduction is the inevitable consequence of these deep Government cuts but we still have to 
respond to the priorities of neighbourhood policing and the strategic responsibilities of the 
largest force in Wales. That challenge cannot be avoided and we are not going to follow the 
approach of some police forces elsewhere of walking away from neighbourhood policing.
 
The Chief Constable and I are clear that it is not a good idea to give extra powers to PCSOs 
as that can blur the distinction between a PCSO and a warranted officer.  I continue to 
support the Chief Constable’s wish not to increase powers in ways that are allowed within 
the current legislation and that is why instead we undertook a review the role of the 
Community Support Officer and the way they are used in South Wales at present. 
We are intent on using to the full the additional 205 PCSOs funded by Welsh Government 
and we value the continued commitment of Welsh Government Ministers to this and other 
initiatives which help us to serve our communities.

I have a sound starting point for this work: meeting all the different groups of councillors 
across our seven local authorities in South Wales always leads to challenging discussions but 
universally there is a warm appreciation of the local policing team and an endorsement of 
the work done by PCSOs in the local community.  The level of confidence is far better than I 
have seen before at any point in over 45 years of public service.
 
On the professionalism of policing, I strongly endorse the vision set out by Peter Vaughan, 
when he became Chief Constable, for South Wales Police to be “professional, proud and 
positive” and to be “the best at understanding and responding to the needs of our 
communities”.  That vision has driven a period of performance improvement, increased 
victim satisfaction and public confidence through a period of deep cuts in police numbers 
and finances. This is spelt out in more detail in a later section. 

For example, one of the most important recent improvements has been the decision of 
South Wales Police to change their crime recording processes to record crime “at source”. 
This means that where previously incidents were investigated and then recorded, South 
Wales Police now record the crime when the incident is reported. The process of 
improvement continues, with the latest figures showing the best victim satisfaction levels 
experienced by South Wales Police.
 
We benefit from constructive engagement with the Inspectorate of Constabulary and with 
the Independent Police Complaints Commission.  Peter Vaughan, like his two predecessors, 
has been unflinching and highly principled in “following the evidence where it leads” in order 
to deal with problems from the past.  And where there is a valid criticism the response 
should be to put matters right quickly and professionally.  
 

Page 43



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

40

I continue to question the approach of the Inspectorate as apparently in naming the Force 
or Forces when offering praise but to anonymise criticism. The Inspectorate, Ministers and 
anyone else should be specific when issuing criticism because anonymous criticism appears 
to tarnish all 43 Forces.  I frequently have to respond to Media queries by pointing out when 
specific national reports on “police failings” do not apply to South Wales. If South Wales 
Police deserves criticism we want it to be specific so that we can tackle the issue directly.  
Anonymity and generalisation are unhealthy so this needs to change, but the press releases 
from the Inspectorate currently maintain the same failings.  

In late February 2015 the Inspectorate issued a press release reporting a major problem of 
Tasers being used on children.  Numbers varied from Force to Force and in South Wales not 
a single person under the age of 16 had been subjected to a Taser in 2013 or 2014.  In fact 
no discharge had happened on a person under the age of 18 in South Wales. So in terms of 
the Inspectorate's own report the press release and consequent publicity was unfair to 
South Wales Police

However my main criticism goes deeper than that.  The real question should be whether the 
benefit outweighs the dangers: I am convinced that the use of a Taser - for example on a 
person wielding a knife or a crowbar - will often result in less risk and/or actual harm than 
use of a baton or other form of physical restraint ....... for the offender as well as for the 
public and for police officers. 

I can envisage circumstances in which I would praise officers for using a Taser on a young 
person - depending on the circumstances.  Use of statistics of usage without analysing the 
context and the risks in a consistent manner is seriously misplaced and inconsistent with an 
evidence-based approach to policy making.
 
Having said that, I value the discussions we have had with the Inspectorate over the past 
year – with a particular endorsement of the approach we have taken to reducing Violence 
against Women and Girls and comments about the efficiency of the service provided by 
South Wales Police – but there is a problem with the way that resources have been taken 
from Police Grant to fund additional inspection work.  Inspections absorb an enormous 
amount of time for operational officers and sometimes pull against the grain of local 
priorities.  

The 2011 Police Reform Act established that the policies and practices for each local police 
force should be driven by the Police and Crime Plan – yet the Inspectorate does not 
generally measure the Force against the extent to which it is delivering on the Police & 
Crime Plan.  While they continue to inspect against centrally-decided criteria in a way that 
pulls against the grain of the Government’s stated aim of creating a system of local 
accountability, I am pleased that in recent times there has been a greater acknowledgement 
of local priorities and effectiveness in meeting those priorities.  

There are also concerns about the work of the Independent Police Complaints Commission.  
Again there is a constructive and robust relationship with the Commissioner for Wales, Jan 
Williams, but the Independent Police Complaints Commission has been given extra funds 
through a top-slice from our Police Grant and I am concerned to learn that a lower 

Page 44



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

41

proportion of investigations will be supervised by Commissioners.  Some of the 
Commission’s staff appear to have little understanding of the changes wrought by the 2011 
Police Reform Act and there appears to have been an increase in investigators with a lower 
level of training and experience. 

 I was one of those who campaigned for the creation of an independent police complaints 
commission, so I am passionately in favour of the role that this body exists to fulfil but I am 
worried about the changes that have been decided on by Ministers in the past three years 
and which appear unlikely to bring about the intended benefits. 

Instead of a “Commission” with an independent Chair and individual Commissioners with a 
personal remit for Wales (and for each region of England) the Government is being advised 
to consider an “Ombudsman” model. I believe this to be a mistake since it concentrates 
everything in the hands of one individual – the Ombudsman - and the Commissioner for 
Wales will be replaced with a civil servant who will lack the personal remit and 
accountability of the Commissioner.

Adding Value

Public debate about policing has been grossly oversimplified in recent years, and that is a 
problem.  I believe that it is dangerous to take a simplistic approach to defining what we 
expect from the police.
 

 Police officers have to respond to an enormous variety of situations, often as the 
service of last resort or in dealing with issues that ought to be dealt with by other 
services

 
 But the primary purpose of the police, as set out by Sir Robert Peel and recently re-

stated by the current Home Secretary, Police Minister and me, is to cut crime - to 
reduce offending and reoffending. 

 
 However, the police alone cannot cut crime.  The 2010 report of the Justice Select 

Committee showed that most of the levers that affect crime levels lay outside the 
work of the police and indeed outside the criminal justice system.

 
So the most effective police force will be the one that is both best in terms of direct 
policing activity and at developing strategic and tactical alliances with a range of public 
and other bodies; in order to cut crime and make our communities safe and confident.  It 
will value personal commitment, flair and leadership within a context of co-operation and 
partnership.  
 
The work of the police service is enormously complex and reaches into many surprising 
aspects of human activity.  They are often the last resort for members of the public who can 
find no help elsewhere and well under 20% of the calls to the police are now about crime.  
So the message from the Home Secretary that “crime is down so you need fewer police 
officers” is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of what the public expect from the 
police.  It is also based on a misapprehension about how to prevent local crime.  

Page 45



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

42

The wide remit of my role – set out in the 2011 Act and in the Oath of Office - provides me 
with a strategic view of this landscape, allowing me to identify the connections we share 
with councils and health bodies and with our communities.  It is a fact that the people we 
are trying to help are often the same people in the same communities so we need to seize 
the opportunities that exist to use these connections more effectively. 
 
Even if it involves an apparent increase in crime we want to encourage the quick and 
confident reporting of incidents, particularly in respect to child sexual exploitation, domestic 
violence, hate crime and crimes against old people; as well as “hidden” offences such as so-
called “honour-based” violence and female genital mutilation.  Human trafficking and 
different forms of exploitation are becoming increasingly obvious in society and it is 
important to encourage the public to report their suspicions and for such reports to be 
acted upon.  
 
One area where I can add value is through my ability to fund partnership initiatives, such as 
the Crime Reduction Fund (formerly the Community Safety Fund) and in support of Youth 
Offending Teams. We know that the total “pot” is being cut, and we are fearful of further 
cuts, so we will face difficult decisions but I shall do my best to protect this funding as far as 
possible and undertake work to ensure that it is directed towards delivering my priorities.  I 
will seek to play my part in funding the partnerships and play a full part, with my Deputy 
Commissioner Sophie Howe and Assistant Commissioner John Rose, in helping to make 
them fully effective. 

I have concentrated on the things we can do together to cut crime and create safer 
communities, but I also want to pay tribute to the Chief Constable and his team; from chief 
officers to police officers at street level, from detectives to PCSOs and other staff members, 
for the high-quality policing service they deliver to the public of South Wales. 

In particular, the evidence of continuing improvement in victim satisfaction is enormously 
significant.  We must not take for granted the day-to-day work undertaken day in and day 
out, in all weathers and in all sorts of circumstances, some of them extremely difficult and 
challenging. Nobody in the team should be taken for granted and so I want to confirm South 
Wales Police as a “Living Wage” employer. It is important that both I and the Chief 
Constable are seen to support the team who contribute so much to making South Wales 
Safe.  
 
I believe that we are making the right decisions about how to reflect the 2011 Police Reform 
Act in the way South Wales Police operates. It is a single organisation with two 
“Corporations Sole,” defined in the Act as the Police & Crime Commissioner and the Chief 
Constable. The Chief Constable is the employer for everyone other than my immediate 
support team but every employee is required to provide the service and support each of us 
needs to fulfil our different but complementary roles; guided by the principles which we 
have agreed and set out in a “Hallmarks Document” which is available to staff.  Most of the 
time our staff will see no difference in what they are required to do, save that it falls under 
the coherent and cohesive overall leadership partnership of the Chief constable and the 
Commissioner 

Page 46



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

43

 
As I said earlier, bad financial news and difficult challenges do not change our aspirations 
and intentions.  We plan to: build on the excellent foundations already in place, continue 
the development of our partnership approach to preventing and reducing crime and 
improve the quality of life within our communities.
 
I take responsibility for the Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021 as published, but it is above all 
a partnership document.  I am grateful for the efforts of all members of my team through 
the year and particularly to Sophie Howe and John Rose.  The personal engagement of Peter 
Vaughan and Deputy Chief Constable Matt Jukes has been enormously important to us, and 
their team and ours have worked together consistently and with a shared passion to “get it 
right”. This is why I am really pleased that Peter is making a personal contribution to this 
plan by contributing sections which highlight that we share a commitment to improve the 
lives of the communities within South Wales through the provision of effective and efficient 
policing services.
 
This refreshed plan looks further into the future to anticipate the challenges ahead and it 
maintains our continuing journey toward turning our commitments and aspirations into the 
reality for the people of South Wales. It also demonstrates the shared ambition of South 
Wales Police being a single entity within which the specific roles of the two Corporations 
Sole – the Police & Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable – to support and 
complement each other in making South Wales Police the best at serving the public and 
driving down crime through co-operation with a whole range of partner organisations.  The 
past three years have been tough for police officers, for police staff and for members of my 
team.  I want to thank them all for their contribution and their commitment.

Page 47



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

44

How we will measure success: 

Outcome Measure

An increase in the number of people who feel that 
their neighbourhood is a safe place to live

Perception that local crime levels 
have increased in the past 12 
months
Perception that the local police 
do a good/excellent job
Perception that the police are 
dealing with the issues that are 
affecting the local area
Level of recorded crime and 
crime experienced by the public 
locally

Increased confidence to report incidents of crime & 
anti-social behaviour Antisocial behaviour incidents

Repeat victims of anti-social 
behaviour

Increased perception that the police deal with local 
concerns

Perception that police and local 
council are dealing with the anti-
social behaviour and crime issues 
that matter in their area

Work with partners to ensure that we are Early 
Adopters of the requirements of the Future 
Generations and Well-being Act 2015
High level of public awareness of the Community 

Page 48



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

45

Trigger and Community Remedy
Increased reporting of Violence against Women and 
Girls from individuals and agencies 

Violence with injury – domestic 
related
Number of new victims of 
domestic abuse and serious 
sexual offences (VAWG plan)
Number of incidents of domestic 
abuse (VAWG plan)
Repeat victims of violence against 
women and girls
Number of repeat victims of 
domestic abuse (VAWG plan)
Number of incidents of domestic 
abuse (VAWG plan)
Number of honour-based, female 
genital mutilation and forced 
marriage incidents (VAWG plan)
Recorded online harassment 
offences (VAWG plan)

Increased awareness of the level of Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Abuse with improved support 
mechanisms for victims 

Number of incidents of sexual 
abuse (VAWG plan)

Repeat victims of sexual offences 
(VAWG plan)

Maintain satisfaction for victims of crime Whole experience satisfaction of 
victims of crime
Satisfaction of hate crime victims
Satisfaction of victims of violent 
crime
Satisfaction of BME victims

Increased satisfaction with victim support services Percentage of high risk domestic 
abuse victims (VAWG plan)

Reduction in the use of Section 136 of the Mental 
Health Act through the more appropriate use of 
facilities

Number of times police custody is 
used as a place of safety for 
people who have been detained 
under section 136 of Mental 
Health Act (Wales Reducing 
Reoffending Strategy)
Number of people able to get 
appropriate support instead of 
being taken to police cells

Reduction in 18-25 age group offending rates Recorded crime committed by 18-
25 age group
Number of immediate 
interventions when a first offence 

Page 49



Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-2021

46

Is committed
Numbers committing a second or 
subsequent offence

Reduced level of re-offending through the 
implementation of the Women’s Pathfinder 
Programme

Number of participants engaged 
in the scheme

Number of immediate 
interventions when a first offence 
Is committed

Numbers committing a second or 
subsequent offence

A coherent and integrated approach to offender 
management in South Wales

Page 50



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 1

MEETING DATE 13 October 2015

SUBJECT REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING POSITION
1ST APRIL TO 31st AUGUST 2015

GPMS 
CLASSIFICATION

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

REPORT BY Geoff Petty, Treasurer (Commissioner) Umar Hussain, 
Chief Financial Officer (Chief Constable)

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE OF REPORT

o Provide an update on the Revenue position as at 31st August 2015 and 
provide a forecasted year end position

o Provide an update on the 2015/16 Value for Money Plan
o Provide an update on the Capital Programme which now reflects the 2014/15 

year end position and a number of revisions to reflect strategic developments 
activities and their profiling 

o Provide an update on Treasury Management performance 

RECOMMENDATIONS
Note the reported financial positions.

A BACKGROUND

1. Introduction

1.1 The 2015/16 financial year represents the fifth consecutive year of reductions 
in funding and the allocations for South Wales Police were confirmed as being 
£8.6M less than 2014/15.  The Police and Crime Commissioner in agreement 
with the Police and Crime Panel in January 2015 set a Revenue Budget of 
£255.1M and a Capital Programme of £24.4 for the financial year 2015/16 
including a VFM target of £1M. This budget also included a requirement for a 
further £7.5M of cash releasing efficiency savings which builds on a £32M of 
achieved savings over the CSR2010 period. 

1.2 The data in this report has been compiled from FIRMS, the Force’s financial 
system and as part of the Force’s monitoring arrangements budget holders, in 
conjunction with their financial management support, have provided 
appropriate information in terms of their period 5 positions. 

1.3 As part of the Force’s monitoring arrangements budget holders, in conjunction 
with their financial management support, have provided appropriate information 
in terms of their period 5 positions.  This is first formal assessment of the 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 2

forecasted year end position. Financial positions will continue to be robustly 
monitored throughout the remainder of the financial year identifying pressures; 
reviewing volatile areas whilst also identifying potential areas of underspend as 
activity dictates.  

B FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

2 Revenue Position

2.1 The table below summarises the current financial position across the portfolio 
of budgets, which include both the recurring and non recurring elements of the 
Value for Money plan:

BUDGET AREA Year to date Full Year

1st April to 30th August 2015

Actual 
YTD

Budget 
YTD

Variance 
YTD

Annual 
Budget

Projected 
Full Year 

Spend

Projected 
Carry 

Forward/ 
Transfer to 
Reserves & 
Provisions

Variance 
Full Year

% 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Police Officer Pay & Pensions 54,817 57,418 2,601 138,212 134,750 0 3,462 2.5%
Police Staff Pay 22,609 22,925 316 55,274 58,149 0 -2,875 -5.2%
Devolved Budgets 2,352 2,634 283 7,512 7,012 173 327 4.4%
Force Budgets 6,901 8,234 1,332 16,233 15,810 0 422 2.6%
Centralised Budgets 4,449 5,511 1,062 11,915 11,634 0 280 2.4%
Externally Funded Budgets 5,180 5,800 620 2,432 2,432 0 0 0.0%
Collaborative Budgets -1,180 -828 352 13,882 13,844 0 38 0.3%
Central Budgets 1,589 1,861 273 5,052 6,701 0 -1,649 -32.6%
Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner 896 757 -139 4,569 4,569 0 0 0.0%
TOTAL 97,613 104,312 6,699 255,081 254,902 173 6 0.0%

2.2 The following sections outline the significant pressures and budget variances 
across the portfolio of budgets:

3.1 Police Officer Pay/Pensions

3.1.1 The Medium Term Value for Money Plan continues to reflect a funded 
establishment of 2,800. The current experience on police officer 
establishments is that retirements continue to occur on or shortly after the date 
of eligibility and although recruitment is significantly closer to the plan (and will 
be above 2,800 in September which is as major milestone) the average police 
officer strength is anticipated to be around 18 full time equivalent posts below 
the funded establishment for the year and the financial forecast for this budget 
head is a net positive variance (£3.5M- 2.5%).

3.1.2 A detailed analysis of the original budget estimate made in October 2014 
against with the current actual experience with predicted outturn as well as 
confidence levels on accuracy are outlined in the following table.

Page 52



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 3

Budget Area £'000 comments Confidence 
Imapact of Maternity and sickness absence 1,750 Currently 35 officers (20mat/20 Long term sickness High
Rank Structure Differences 1,044 Linked to coninuous supervisory assessment High
Vacancy Budgets 885 True variance recurrent turnover High
Unsocial Hours (Based on current Trend) 168 Estimate based on current Trends Medium
Ill Health Retirements 324 Estimate based on current leavers Medium
Police Pension Opt-outs 694 80 Officers could switch anytime Medium
Housing and Rent Allowance 97 Estimate based on current leavers High
Bear Scotland Tribunal case 1,500-      Estimated for prior and in year. LOW
Year end Forecast 3,462

3.1.3 The current position above includes an estimate in recognition of the ‘Bear 
Scotland’ ruling. The potential retrospective costs and future budget 
requirements have yet to be nationally agreed. It is expected that there will 
shortly be an agreement to recognise the current in year requirement, whilst 
the retrospective element is still under consideration. The outcome of the 
negotiations and the actual financial impact will be reported later in the year.

3.2     Police Staff Budgets 

          The following table analysis the forecast position in respect of Police Staff. 

Full Year Forecast FY Variance Confidence
£M Level

Centralised Staff Pay 1.2 High
Agency 0.1-               High
Vacant Posts to be filled (Aug FRMB) 0.2-               High
Bear Scotland tribunal appeal 0.8-               Low

0.1
Restructuring Costs
VR 0.2-               High
VER - Capital 1.6-               Low
VER - Discretionary 1.2-               Low
Capital Costs of early retirement 0.1 High

2.9-               

Forecast Year End 2.8-               

3.2.1 The approved 2015/16 Medium Term Financial Strategy and Value for Money 
Plan reflects planned savings from Police Staff pay in 2015/16 of £1.1M. These 
savings are linked to the delivery of a number of work streams which are 
currently either in progress or are being scoped. The current position suggests 
that existing vacancies are off-setting the achievement of the Value For Money 
savings and work is progressing to formally disestablish vacant posts. In 
addition there are a number of planned VER/VR reductions in train for the third 
quarter of this financial year. Whilst estimated savings are included in the 
reported police staff forecast, the VfM summaries will be updated as and when 
actual post disestablishments are made. 

3.2.2 The issue outlined in para 3.1.3 above, relating to Bear Scotland, applies 
equally to police staff and the impacts and potential additional costs will be 
subject to the same reporting requirements.

Page 53



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 4

NB – Non Staff budgets position reported below is still subject to further 
scrutiny when resources permit

3.3 Devolved Budgets

3.3.1 At this stage in the financial year the summary position for devolved budgets 
indicates that there wills a positive variance of £0.3M, after allowing for 
appropriate approved carry forwards. There no significant pressures identified 
and positions will be closely monitored as we progress through the year. 
Managers continue with prudent financial management and recognise the need 
for additional savings over the medium term. 

3.4 Force Budgets/ Contingency Budgets

3.4.1 The continued focus on austerity and responsible actions by managers yielded 
lower than planned spend in a number of force and contingency budget areas 
last year and a number of adjustments were made when setting the 2015/16 
budget, e.g. DNA/Forensics and software and maintenance support.  The 
refreshed medium term financial strategy 2015-19 assessed and where 
appropriate rebased the budgets going forward in recognition of these 
recurring cost reduction opportunities. However, it is noted that there are 
further potential reductions in DNA/Forensics, equipment and maintenance 
budgets. It is also assumed that the operational contingency budget will be fully 
utilised. In addition the estimated cost of Red Eclipse has also been factored in 
as spend. The reported positive variance at period 5 is a net £0.4M.

3.5.1 Centralised Budgets

3.5.1 The current variance of £0.3M in relation to centralised budgets relates to 
savings on fuel cost (price and usage) and further reductions in the use of 
central budgets e.g. furniture which reflects the on-going austerity measures 
adopted by budget holders. Clearly the fuel budget is a non-recurrent issue 
due to the world oil price volatility.

3.6 Externally Funded Budgets

3.6.1 No significant pressures have been identified in relation to the externally 
funded initiatives with the first set of quarterly grant claims being submitted in 
July.

3.7 Collaborative Initiatives

3.7.1 This area includes the collaborative initiatives of Wales Extremism and Counter 
Terrorism Units, Tarian (Regional and organised crime Unit) as well as 
collaboration in the Joint Scientific Investigation Unit (JSIU) and Joint Firearms 
Unit (JFU). 

Page 54



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 5

3.7.2 A number of vacancies continue within the JFU, JSIU and Special Branch, 
whilst both the Tarian and the Counter Terrorism Unit budgets remain tight in 
order to meet their capabilities requirements and training needs. In respect of 
the Regional Asset and Regional Intelligence Units, the recently announced 
national reductions to the ROCU budget allocations, have still to be worked 
through in relation to operational impacts and potential revisions to force 
contributions. 

3.8 Other Central Budgets

3.8.1 At this stage the only pressure that has been identified relates to the continued 
low returns from investment deposits.  It is also likely that there will be savings 
arising from the inflationary budgets that were established to fund in year 
contractual increases; although these are being adjusted as the increases are 
confirmed.

3.9  Pressures and Identified Funding Requirements.

3.9.1 The table below outlines budget pressures and funding requirements identified 
to date. These will need prioritisation and consideration against the reported 
forecast position as well as an assessment against existing reserves and 
spending plans.

Identified Funding requirements £M
Potential ESA ruling shortfall 0.30
Representative workforce 0.20
JSIU Remote Fingerprint transmission 0.12
Hydra Suite/PSD Relocation 0.10
Station Enquiry Counters 0.04

Total 0.72

3.10. Notwithstanding the in-year position, the revenue position will continue to be 
pressurised .by the continuing government austerity measures and is 
compounded by the potential formula funding review implementation.

Page 55



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 6

4 VALUE FOR MONEY PLAN

4.1 This summary report provides an update on the progress of the Value for 
Money Plan as at 31st August 2015.  The current plan is fully explained in the 
Medium Term financial Strategy and requires savings of £7.5M for the current 
financial year.  Appendix 2 reflects how it will be achieved in 2015/16 . 

4.2 The period 5 position for 2014/15 as at 31st August 2015 is summarised in the 
following chart and indicates that the Force has already realised £6.9M of the 
necessary savings.  The majority of which comes from neighbourhood policing 
and non pay reductions with suitable recognition for reductions in pay costs 
relating appropriately to the reporting at this stage of the year.  At this time  we 
are fully confident that the remaining planned savings will be achieved.  A more 
detailed breakdown is attached at Appendix 2. 

0 1.5 3 4.5 6 7.5 9

Confidence
Level

Targets

£M

Value For Money Plan 2015/16
Cashable Efficiencies as at 31st August 2015

Officers

Staff

Non Pay

Achieved

On target

2015/16 Target £7.5M

Page 56



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 7

5. Capital Expenditure

5.1 The following table summarises the Capital Programme as at 31st August 2015 
against the approved programme approved with the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for 2015 to 2019. The final position for 2014/15 as referenced in the 
‘adjusted budget’ column below, is due to be approved at the end of September 
2015 following the adoption of the 2014/15 Statements of Accounts.. 

Capital Expenditure to 31st August 2015
 2015/16 MTFS 

Bud 
 Adjusted Budget 

 Spend to date 
plus 

commitments 

 Remaining 
Budget 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Estates - Infrastructure Development 665 551 608 (58)
Fleet - Replacement 2,033 2,144 1,076 1,068
Information Services - Infrastructure Development 999 1,817 1,324 492
Other - Infrastructure Development & Replacement 10 20 19 1
TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT & REPLACEMENT 3,707 4,532 3,028 1,504

Estates - Internally Funded Projects Total 1,998 2,707 2,313 394
Information Services - Internally Funded Projects 2,104 2,913 1,479 1,434
TOTAL INTERNALLY FUNDED PROJECTS 4,103 5,620 3,792 1,828

Estates - Externally Funded Projects 14,655 16,947 9,140 7,808
Information Services - Externally Funded Projects 904 2,215 1,372 843
TOTAL PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY EXTERNAL FUNDING 15,559 19,163 10,512 8,651

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 23,369 29,314 17,332 11,982

5.2 Infrastructure Development and Replacement

5.2.1 The Property Condition Survey Refurbishment Scheme is the program of 
ongoing work to ensure the force’s properties are compliant with health and 
safety regulations.  As part of the Estates Strategy this has been reappraised in 
the light of funding reductions and is focussed only on the essential 
maintenance of buildings to a ‘safe, warm and dry’ standard. Hardwire work is 
also being undertaken to ensure compliance with legislation. The 2015/16 
Budget necessitated a £1M reduction in the Capital Programme mainly in the 
Estate infrastructure and a late adjustment to the capital Grant for 2015/16 
resulted in a further £0.4M being cut, this leaves a recurring budget of 
approximately £0.3M for 2015/16 onwards. This budget is coming under 
increasing pressure and going forward is deemed to be insufficient to meet the 
the underlying maintenance backlog.

5.2.2 The programme for the on-going replacement of the force’s fleet continues in 
line with requirements and capital allocations and the efficiencies being driven 
through the IR3 system. The Fleet has already been reduced by 20% with a 
continuous challenge on replacements to continue to drive down transport 
costs. In addition advantage is being taken of national procurement 
opportunities and significant savings are expected. 

Page 57



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 8

5.2.3 The Network Data Storage work is intrinsically linked to a number of other 
Information System Projects including the development of the disaster 
recovery facility and as such required  the carry forward of the capital allocation 
into this financial year. 

5.3 Internally Funded Projects

5.3.1 Work is coming to a conclusion for the centralised Property Stores and office 
accommodation project which is co-located with the Joint Vehicle Management 
Facility at Tŷ Richard Thomas. This project will be funded from a specific 
earmarked reserve which was established at year end. The business case in 
addition to operational benefits will identify full payback in under 3.5 years.

5.3.2 The recently approved contract for CCTV cell call at Cardiff Bay has been 
completed. This provides significant advantages for synergy of systems across 
the custody facilities, as well as reduced revenue maintenance costs. 

5.3.3 The works in respect of the Disaster Recovery site are underway for 
conclusion by the end of the financial year. The completed site will provide a 
resilient facility with opportunities for collaboration with other public sector 
partners, including Gwent police and the Fire and Rescue Services of Mid and 
West and South Wales.

5.3.4 The implementation of the Fully Integrated Resource Management System 
(FIRMS) continued during 2014/15, with HR/ Payroll and Duty Management 
System all under development. The HR/Payroll module went live in March 
2015. This is a significant change event for South Wales Police and is being 
managed carefully. FIRMS will realise the greater vision of a single resource 
picture of right people, right place, right time. The budget has been aligned to 
reflect the project plan and also reflects the inclusion of the specific earmarked 
reserve which was approved for this purpose.

5.4 Projects Supported by External Funding

5.4.1 The construction of Project Avalon is now well under way. The scheme has 
been included within the revised capital programme, along with £17M of direct 
funding from the Home Office and a further £1.5M from other partners. 
Practical completion is still anticipated to be achieved by December 2015 with 
planned migration commencing in early 2016, the project remains on time and 
plan.

5.4.2 The Tri Service Centre collaboration project has commenced with planning 
application submitted, exploratory onsite surveys and staff relocations well 
advanced. The enabling works commenced in May 2015. A further bid was 
made to the Police Innovation Fund in respect of this project that would allow 
expansion of the project to include potential additional partners, as well as 

Page 58



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 9

providing the opportunity to re-model the existing building to achieve greater 
efficiencies. It is pleasing to report that the bid has been successful and 
secured the most amount of single bid funding in the current round of bids. As 
a result of the enabling works significant dilapidations have come to light 
related specifically to the flat roof over the decades. In order to stabilise the 
building rectification works are estimated at £2M. A separate options paper is 
being prepared to address this. 

5.4.3 Work on project FUSION is progressing albeit there is a delay to the plan 
relating to accreditation requirements. The collaborative opportunities remain a 
firm part of the project and Gwent police are fully integrated into this exciting 
and ground breaking developed for operational policing. 

Page 59



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 10

6. Review of Treasury Management Performance 

6.1 In line with the approved Treasury Management Policy, surplus monies were 
invested with authorised deposit takers during the 5 month period April to 
August 2015 resulting in interest income totalling £45K. However, total 
investment interest of £90K is receivable, where interest received from 
investments made in previous years and interest received from call accounts 
is included. 

6.2 In terms of current and on-going investments, the UK Government/ Bank of 
England bank base rates continue to be held at 0.5% together with on-going 
quantitative easing and other measures, which will continue to restrict future 
investment returns until there are changes in the economic climate. 

6.3 For illustrative purposes an analysis of investments made up to August 2015 
is shown in the following table, which gives a broad indication of the level and 
spread of investment activity undertaken to date. In total 12 investments 
(£53M) have been made with 8 institutions (average investment of £4.4M).

Analysis of 2015/16 Treasury Management Deposits (Fixed Term)

Deposits made from 1st April 2015 up to and including : 24/08/2015

(excludes deposits made in 2014/15 maturing in 2015/16 and Callable Accounts)

BORROWER

 Total 
Invested 

£m 
 No. of 

Investments 

 Average 
Investment 

£m 

 Average 
Days 

Invested 
 Average 

Interest Rate 

 Total 
Interest 

£ 

Bank of Scotland 8.0 1 8.0 27 0.57 6,621

Nationwide Building Society 5.0 1 5.0 86 0.49 5,773
Coventry Building Society 5.0 1 5.0 49 0.42 2,819

Principality Building Society 5.0 1 5.0 80 0.49 5,370

Nottingham Building Society 12.0 4 3.0 43 0.43 6,498

Skipton Building Society 5.0 1 5.0 56 0.42 3,222

West Bromwich Building Society 8.0 2 4.0 48 0.45 5,047

Newcastle Building Society 5.0 1 5.0 122 0.57 9,526
Grand Total 53.0 12 4.4 55 0.47 44,876

6.4 This interest achieved up to June 2015 is equivalent to an average return of 
0.47% (excluding investments made in 2014/15 maturing in 2015/16), which is 
0.03% below the average bank base rate of 0.5%. This is better than the rates 
offered through the Governments Debt Management Office. Whilst the existing 
Treasury Management Policy limits the investment opportunities to a small 
number of counterparties this is considered to be an acceptable balance 
between risk and return. 

Page 60



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 11

6.5 During the period April to August 2015, the following use of investment 
brokers has been made :

No. of 
Transactions

Garban Intercapital Europe Limited 0
Tullet Prebon (Europe) Limited 11
Direct with Investor  1
Direct with UK Debt Management Office  0
Total 12
Direct with Callable Accounts 32

7. Icelandic Update

7.1 Following the successful outcome of the investment recovery process reported 
in 2013/14 the last remaining impairment currently recognised is in relation to 
Heritable Bank of £241k. The last repayment instalment was received in 
August 2013 and indications at that stage were that there would be no further 
repayments. The good news is that a further dividend of 3.98p in the £, 
equating to £159,200 principal plus interest of £3015, was received 9 
September 2015, leaving a reduced balance of £81,600 principal (2.04p). 
This will allow the release of £159,200 from our current earmarked 
reserve of £241k.

8 Borrowing

8.1 The Prudential Code restricts borrowing requirements to affordable and 
sustainable quantities. Borrowing of £1.7M is required to partly finance Capital 
Expenditure over long-term repayment terms, in line with the Capital 
Programme and repayments are reflected in the approved Revenue Budget. 

9 OVERALL SUMMARY 

9.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015 – 2019 forecasts that there will be a 
requirement to save £39M over the that period with £7.5M of that target 
relating to 2015/16. As outlined in this report, the rigorous measures 
implemented to deal with this financial challenge is being delivered in year. The 
focus has to be maintained as greater challenges lie ahead as we await the 
detail of the announcement in November 2015. The Home Secretary continues 
to express further cuts as well as formula changes. As a result the focus on the 
VfM Plan needs to continue.

10 RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the reported financial position as at 31st August 2015 be noted.

Page 61



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 12

C. LEGAL AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS
The report forms part of the requirement that the elected Commissioner has to 
hold the Police Fund and maintain accounts under Section 21 (PRSRA 2011)
Local Government Act 1999
Financial Management Code of Practice

D. PERSONNEL, EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
The tight controls on establishment will have an impact on serving officers and 
staff as well as the objectives on a representative work force. The 
Organisational Review Board is cognisant of these issues and measures are 
being explored to minimise impact.

E. REVIEW ARRANGEMENTS
Bi-monthly monitoring reports will be prepared.

F. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/16 – 2018/19 (Precept Report)
Interim Report on the Financial Year 2014/15 

Page 62



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 13

APPENDIX 1

1st April to 30th August 2015 Year to 
Date Full Year

1st April - 30th August 2015
Actual 
YTD

Budget 
YTD

Variance 
YTD

Annual 
Budget

Projected 
Full Year 
Spend

 Projected 
Carry 

Forward 

Reserves & 
Provisions

Full Year 
Variance

£000k £000k £000k £000k £000k £000k £000k £000k

PAY COSTS
Police Officer Pay 54,817 57,418 2,601 138,212 134,750 0 0 3,462
Police Staff Pay 22,609 22,925 316 55,274 58,149 0 0 -2,875
PAY TOTAL 77,426 80,343 2,917 193,486 192,899 0 0 587

Devolved 2,352 2,634 283 7,512 7,012 173 0 327
Force/ Contingency Total 6,901 8,234 1,332 16,233 15,810 0 0 422
Centralised Total 4,449 5,511 1,062 11,915 11,634 0 0 280
External Funded 5,180 5,800 620 2,432 2,432 0 0 0
Sub Total 18,883 22,179 3,297 38,092 36,889 173 0 1,030
COLLABORATION
Operational Support 5 680 676 1,633 1,633 0 0 0
Procurement & Logistics 51 41 -10 100 84 0 0 15
Collaboration - Strategic 0 0 0 -66 -66 0 0 0
Wales Extremism & Counter-Terrorism Unit -7,939 -8,055 -115 0 0 0 0 0
Firearms Collaboration 2,611 2,670 59 5,980 5,980 0 0 0
Scientific Investigation Unit 1,828 1,826 -3 4,400 4,377 0 0 23
Regional Task Force 707 681 -26 1,271 1,271 0 0 0
Regional Asset Recovery Team 522 541 19 253 253 0 0 0
Regional Intelligence Unit 1,034 787 -247 312 312 0 0 0
COLLABORATION TOTAL -1,180 -828 352 13,882 13,844 0 0 38

CENTRAL BUDGETS
Capital Financing & DRF 960 1,053 93 3,382 5,382 0 0 -2,000
Interest & Investment Income -30 -104 -74 -250 -150 0 0 -100
Other Central Budgets 658 912 253 1,920 1,469 0 0 451
Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner 896 757 -139 4,569 4,569 0 0 0
CENTRAL BUDGETS TOTAL 2,485 2,618 133 9,621 11,270 0 0 -1,649

TOTAL 97,613 104,312 6,699 255,081 254,902 173 0 6

Page 63



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 14

VFM Statement as at 31st August 2015 Appendix 2

Efficiency Project Name  2014/15 
Target  Achieved  On Target  Sub Total  In Doubt  Not 

Achieved 
 Overall 

Total Comments

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
Value For Money Financial Target - Cashable Savings 7,477

Impact of Winsor Review 420 515 515 515 Actual CRTP reductions greater 
than planned due to revised officerr 
turnoverOfficer Sub Total 420 515 0 515 0 0 515

Workstreams Staff 1,085 452 633 1,085 0 1,085 Awaiting formal disestablishment of 
vacacies and progression of 
workstreams - 2015/16 target on 
track

Review of Neighbourhood Policing 2,000 2,000 2,000 Planned reduction in PCSOs on 
target

Staff Sub Total 3,085 2,452 633 3,085 0 0 1,085

Goods and Services 1,640 1,665 1,665 1,665 Budgets reduced in line with MTFS

Transport 250 250 250 250 Budgets reduced in line with MTFS

Estates 200 177 177 Budgets reduced in line with MTFS

Income Generation 500 500 500 500 Budgets reduced in line with MTFS

Reduction in Capital Programme Revenue Funding 1,000 1,000 1,000 Direct Revenue Funding reduced 
in line with Capital Programme 
ReductionsCollaboration 359 359 359 JSIU budget reduced and income 
target for JVMU on target.

Other Sub Total 3,949 3,951 0 3,951 0 0 2,415

Total 7,454 6,918 633 7,551 0 0 4,015

Balance 23

P
age 64



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 13 OCTOBER 2015

Page 15

Capital Programme Monitoring Report APPENDIX 3
2015/16 as at 31st August

 2015/16 MTFS Bud Adjusted Budget  Actual Spend to P5 
 Full Year Planned 

Commitments 
 Spend to date plus 

commitments 
 Remaining Budget 

at P5 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT & REPLACEMENT
Property Condition Survey Refurbishments 665 551 133 475 608 (58)
including Estates Development Fund -
Estates - Infrastructure Development 665 551 133 475 608 (58)

Vehicle Replacement Programme 2,015 2,087 225 645 870 1,216
IR3 Vehicle Management System 18 18 - - - 18
External Funding Vehicles (Grants) 39 39 167 206 (167)
Fleet - Replacement 2,033 2,144 265 812 1,076 1,068

Network Upgrade/Replacement 105 108 38 31 70 38
Data Storage and Management 301 346 - 346 (44)
Computer Systems Replacement 412 546 139 124 264 282
Additional IS equipment 120 128 60 0 60 68
Non-Supported IS equipment 16 11 5 16 -
Infrastructure Development 300 433 195 90 284 149
Microsoft Licenses 62 285 284 - 284 0
Information Services - Infrastructure Development 999 1,817 1,073 251 1,324 492

Mounted Section - Horses 10 10 - - - 10
Specialist Surveillance Equipment - - - - -
ROCU Cyber Unit - 9 - 9 (9)
Miscellaneous Capital Expenditure Funded from Revenue 10 9 2 10 -
Other - Infrastructure Development & Replacement 10 20 17 2 19 1

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT & REPLACEMENT 3,707 4,532 1,489 1,539 3,028 1,504

INTERNALLY FUNDED PROJECTS
Bridewells - (36) 54 18 (18)
Fleet Workshop 77 11 25 35 42
Ty Thomas - Property Stores / Office Accomodation 221 808 160 134 294 514
Fairwater (Dark Site) Redevelopment 1,240 1,573 34 1,863 1,898 (324)
Cardiff Central Refurbishment - - - - -
Rumney Redevelopment - 14 - 14 (14)
Kennels - Waterton - (8) - (8) 8
Project Ascent - Cardiff Airport - - - - -
JSIU Collaboration 187 187 - - - 187
CCTV Cardiff Bay 350 62 62 - 62 -
Estates - Internally Funded Projects Total 1,998 2,707 237 2,076 2,313 394

Disaster Recovery 903 846 132 - 132 714
Development of Command & Control 220 451 140 303 443 8
FIRMS 29 727 124 581 706 21
Infrastructure Security - - - - -
Police National Database 85 75 28 - 28 47
ANPR Force Development - - - - -
Thin Client Strategy 125 107 107 - 107 0
Record Management System 78 41 1 - 1 41
Public Sector Broadband Aggregation 2 600 600 - - - 600
Airwaves Bridewell & Force 65 65 63 - 63 2
Information Services - Internally Funded Projects 2,104 2,913 594 885 1,479 1,434

TOTAL INTERNALLY FUNDED PROJECTS 4,103 5,620 831 2,961 3,792 1,828

PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY EXTERNAL FUNDING
Project Avalon (Grant funded) 10,271 9,093 5,611 3,318 8,929 164
Project Avalon - Garage 1,200 1,028 - - - 1,028
Project Avalon Contingency - - - - -
Tri Service Centre 3,184 6,826 191 19 210 6,616
Estates - Externally Funded Projects 14,655 16,947 5,803 3,337 9,140 7,808

Project Fusion - £3.3M grant funded 904 2,215 1,297 76 1,372 843
Information Services - Externally Funded Projects 904 2,215 1,297 76 1,372 843

TOTAL PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY EXTERNAL FUNDING 15,559 19,163 7,099 3,413 10,512 8,651

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 23,369 29,314 9,419 7,912 17,332 11,982

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales

Annual Report 2014/15

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



1

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales

Annual Report 2014/15

Contents

Introduction                                                                                                2-3        

Performance against my Police and Crime (reduction) Plan 2014/15      4-10

Finance      10-14

Community Safety Grants                 14-18

Police Innovation Fund                 14-18

Project updates                            18- 21

Governance                    22

Decisions           23-23

Scrutiny       24-26

Transparency       26-29

Communication and engagement       27-28                
Volunteering       29-30

Strategic Policing Requirement       31

Engagement       31

Contact Details                                                                          31

APPENDIX 1– Summary of achievements for 2014/15        32

Appendix 2 – Community Safety Funding Summary                             33-34

Appendix 3 – Joint Audit Committee Annual report 2014/15        35-39

Appendix 4 – Commissioners Engagement Meetings and Events 2014/15 40 - 47

Page 68



2

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales

Annual Report

Commissioner’s Introduction

My third Annual Report for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 reflects  a year 
of continuously building on the relationships and foundations that that we have 
established since I took up office in November 2012.

A great deal of my initial effort had to go into creating my team and working with the 
Chief Constable to develop my Police and Crime Plan not to mention forging 
important working relationships with partners and key stakeholders. It was essential 
that those early foundations were laid because it allowed me to move forward at 
pace in 2014/15 and I am delighted at the progress that has been achieved. This 
report highlights a number of those achievements and I am extremely proud at the 
level of commitment shown by my leadership team and staff to deliver what is a 
highly ambitious vision for policing in South Wales. A summary of our key 
achievements is set out in appendix 1.

I have been given terrific support by my Deputy, Sophie Howe and by Assistant 
Commissioner, Dr John Rose, together with Jan Pickles who took up the role of 
Assistant Commissioner to cover Sophie’s period of maternity leave and then stayed 
on to undertake a review of work with partners to tackle child sexual abuse and 
exploitation in South Wales.  The impact of their work should not be underestimated.  

I have also greatly valued the enormous support given by the Chief Constable, Peter 
Vaughan, and Deputy Chief Constable Matt Jukes along with the Chief Officer team 
and  officers and staff of South Wales Police at every level. I have made it clear from 
the beginning that I take very seriously the unusual but clear structure set out in the 
2011 Police Reform Act which defines South Wales Police as one organisation 
which has two corporations sole, namely the Commissioner and the Chief Constable. 
Together we can and have made a difference to policing in South Wales and the 
communities we serve.

This has been achieved in a period of austerity which brought significant cuts to the 
policing budget. We have and will continue to look for innovative ways to deliver 
policing in South Wales because we know there are more cuts to come. In order to 
continue to deliver the service our public rightly expect we must continue to be 
innovative and look for ways to collaborate with partners both within the police 
service and elsewhere. I have been impressed by the professionalism of our staff 

Page 69



3

who have for some time been preparing for what lies ahead and their planning 
preparations have been acknowledged by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary as outstanding. 

The NATO summit was a triumph of organisation and good police work and it also 
brought the “South Wales difference” to the attention of the world-wide Media.  
Although the summit itself was in Gwent, most of the social events were in Cardiff 
and the success of the whole conference redounds greatly to the credit of the Chief 
Constable and the whole team that was involved, as well as to the credit of Gwent 
Police and everyone else who was involved.

The challenge of policing is that the demands are so varied, stretching from national 
and international events, organised crime and the threat from terrorism to community 
concerns and the challenges of reducing crime and harm.

I am proud of the way that South Wales Police officers and staff – including my own 
team – have responded to all these challenges.

Rt. Hon. Alun Michael JP

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales.

Page 70



4

Performance against the Police and Crime (reduction) Plan 2014/15 

The 2011 Police Reform Act established the role of Police and Crime Commissioner 
with a remit to set out a vision for policing services, as well as ensuring effective 
partnership working and an efficient criminal justice system locally. Since the election 
in November 2012, I have sought to ensure that the Police and Crime Reduction 
Plan, and the development of the priorities within it, reflects this wider remit.

A key element of this was the separation of the priorities into four areas of 
responsibility - Policing, Partnership, Criminal Justice and Development – which 
made a clear statement that the priorities encompass all areas of my role. Only the 
first of these is about responsibilities that are primarily for the police to deliver with 
the other three areas dependant on our work with a range of partners, promoting 
early intervention measures to reduce and prevent crime. 

I also made it clear that whilst there are a number of priorities within the plan, there 
was no expectation that all our aims would be achieved in the first year. While I am 
keen to move swiftly on measures that will make communities safer and reduce the 
demands on the police, we also need a longer-term perspective and a “continuous 
improvement” approach. We have to seek long-term benefits based on evidence, 
evaluation and consolidation, with an ambition to develop a solid partnership 
foundation for delivering effective services to our communities, consistently and for 
the long term. 

I have always maintained that the Police and Crime Plan can only be useful if it is a 
living document and if there are ample opportunities to review and revise the content 
of the plan. This is essential in light of the financial landscape that continues to 
provide a challenge to both South Wales Police and to our partner agencies. As part 
of this approach, I am working with the Chief Constable to develop a longer–term 
understanding of the demand and nature of the demands on policing, with the aim of 
providing stability and clarity over the next 5 years.

Despite the financial challenges and their developing impacts, we are making good 
progress in delivering the priorities within the Police and Crime Reduction Plan and 
will continue to develop the partnership relationships that are crucial in providing 
more effective services.

Progress against priorities

• Policing 

My main priority as Police and Crime Commissioner is to reduce and prevent crime. 
This must be the cornerstone of our activity, but with the understanding that the 

Page 71



5

police cannot do this alone and we should seek to develop a partnership approach to 
tackling issues. 

I have been pleased at the progress being made in delivering my priorities and 
continue to work with the Chief Constable to maintain this momentum and focus on 
areas of mutual benefit and activity with our partners.

It was positive to see that in the first annual PEEL assessment, Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) found South Wales Police to be good at 
reducing crime, good at investigating offending, and outstanding at tackling anti-
social behaviour. 

We have also seen the benefits of moving to a more transparent and accurate 
process for recording crime, which gives us a better understanding of the levels and 
nature of crime within South Wales. This was a bold decision taken by the Chief 
Constable, one which I fully endorsed, and is an important shift towards a victim-led 
approach to crime recording. This approach has been recognised by HMIC as one of 
the best in the country and can provide confidence to the public in reporting incidents 
of crime.

South Wales Police continues to drive innovation in its development and use of 
technology through Project Fusion, which seeks to improve how information can be 
more effectively used with partner agencies. This key programme of activity will 
provide improvements in the effectiveness of how resources are used, as well as 
increasing the opportunities to promote early intervention as a mechanism for 
reducing and preventing crime, as well as supporting victims.

I have also been encouraged by the Chief Constable’s commitment for South Wales 
Police to be representative of the communities it serves, particularly in promoting a 
more diverse workforce and the emphasise on leadership at all levels within the 
organisation.  This is proving a big challenge, with less progress than I would have 
liked, but significant progress has been made in the past year to put good systems in 
place for encouraging many more successful applications than have been 
experienced to date. 

In addition to these successes, South Wales Police has also been recognised on a 
world stage as part of the NATO Summit held in Newport and Cardiff. This was the 
largest policing event ever held in South Wales and the positive attitude promoted by 
police officers from all forces around the country was a reflection of the policing 
model which the Chief Constable has promoted so successfully in South Wales.

• Partnership 

I have been, and continue to be, encouraged by the willingness of leaders within 
local authorities, the NHS and other partners, to seek opportunities to work together 
despite the level of financial challenge that we all face. 

Page 72



6

My role as Police and Crime Commissioner is to drive joint working with all partners 
to help in supporting this in whatever way I can. It is not just an approach that fits 
with my approach to public policy but is actually required by the definition of the 
Police & Crime Commissioner role given in the 2011 Police Reform Act. 

This year has been important in developing the programme s of work we have been 
able to accelerate with the help of the funding received from the Home Office’s 
Innovation Fund.

This includes the work to reduce the level of violent crime, especially within the night-
time economy, and we have worked with partners to establish a multi-agency help 
point in Swansea to provide support to vulnerable people. This initiative helped over 
400 people within the first three months of operating, with an expectation that it will 
have helped over 1000 during its first year, and is having a positive impact on 
reducing demand for the police, ambulance service and Accident and Emergency 
Departments.

Building on this activity, we have worked with Public Health Wales to develop a 
Memorandum of Understanding to share resources that will create a joint 
programme of work identifying and tackling the root causes of the issues of wellbeing 
and criminal behaviour within communities. 

Work continues in delivering the commitments within the Tackling Violence Against 
Women and Girls Plan, with training being provided to both police and partner 
colleagues to improve early identification and prevention.  In addition the IRIS 
(Identification and Referral to Improve Safety) programme has launched, which 
provides training and support to general practitioners in health in order to identify and 
refer cases of domestic abuse.

Even though the level of anti-social behaviour has been falling over recent years, the 
Chief Constable and I know that more can be done. To achieve this, members of my 
team have been working with partners to establish the Community Trigger and 
Community Remedy, which will provide robust mechanisms in our drive to provide a 
strong and swift response to anti-social behaviour.

Linked to this has been the significant progress in developing our Compact 
agreement with the voluntary sector, as well as the implementation of a 
Neighbourhood Watch Agreement which will assist us in making our communities 
safer.

The need to provide effective support to victims to enable them to cope and recover 
is at the heart of our work, and my team continue to prepare the ground as the 
responsibility for commissioning of victims services transfers to Police and Crime 
Commissioners. We have engaged with academic partners to help us develop a 
clear understanding of the current provision of victim services and, more importantly, 

Page 73



7

the needs of victims as we develop a model for the provision of the services in the 
future. 

• Criminal Justice 

The criminal justice system forms a key part in preventing and reducing and my 
priorities in this area have focussed on preventing offending and reoffending for 18-
25 year olds, the impact of mental health on offenders and the promotion of 
restorative practices for victims. 

The past year has seen a significant step in developing a more effective criminal 
justice system through the merging of the South Wales Criminal Justice Board with 
the Integrated Offender Management Board. This is an innovative approach to bring 
the criminal justice agencies together around the same table so that together we can 
identify, discuss and resolve issues to improve the services available for victims, 
witnesses and offenders.

I have also established an out of court disposal scrutiny panel, providing the 
opportunity for criminal justice partners to assess whether the use of out of court 
disposal orders are being used correctly and effectively. 

I have been encouraged by these initial meetings and look forward to development 
of this process as we seek to make the links with initiatives such as the Women’s 
Pathfinder project and Cardiff custody triage scheme, both of which provide support 
to reduce reoffending and create opportunities for alternative pathways to criminal 
behaviour.

We have also successfully integrated staff from the Drug Intervention Programme 
into my team, and my Deputy Commissioner has been working with them to develop 
a new commissioning process for the delivery of substance misuse services. 

Governance and Accountability

I have continued to work with the Chief Constable and partners to develop a robust 
governance structure that allows me to monitor the development and implementation 
of my priorities across the four themes outlined within Police and Crime Reduction 
Plan. 

Page 74



8

The areas of responsibilities that fall within a Commissioner’s remit means that 
governance arrangements can be complex and bureaucratic. I have sought to work 
with partner agencies to develop a more streamlined approach with the focus on 
decision-making and action, such as the merging of the South Wales Criminal 
Justice Board and the Integrated Offender Management Board, which is starting to 
provide benefits to those agencies involved.

The Police and Crime Panel continues to be a positive “critical friend” to the work my 
team are undertaking, as well as holding me to account for my responsibilities 
regarding funding. Over the last year, I have sought to provide the Panel with 
updates on our developing work and I believe this information has contributed to a 
more constructive and evidence-based approach to discussions on the challenges 
facing policing.

Over the next few months, we will be seeking to develop the effectiveness of our 
governance processes by implementing an integrated governance architecture. This 
aims to act as a method for establishing closer working relationships between mine 
and the Chief Constable’s teams so that we can reduce duplication, increase 
effectiveness of service delivery and identify opportunities to be more efficient as we 
seek to combine resources, rather than be seen as two separate “Corporations 
Sole”.

Page 75



9

Performance 

Total police recorded crime has shown a slight increase in the last year. This is 
primarily due to the change in recording practices introduced within South Wales 
Police which provides a more transparent mechanism for recording crime and 
provides a more accurate picture of crime levels within South Wales. 

However, the long term trend of a significant reduction in the level of recorded crime 
is also reflected in the decrease in the number of anti-social behaviour incidents 
reported to the police. Whilst this is a positive message to the public of South Wales, 
the Chief Constable and I are determined to maintain this momentum by continuing 
to work with partner agencies to keep South Wales safe..

Page 76



10

Financial Summary 2014/15

Financial Summary 2014/15

Introduction 

The Comprehensive Spending Review 2010 represented the biggest financial 
challenge to face policing in a generation with a 20% cut in central funding over the 
four years and 85% of the cuts falling in the first two years. South Wales Police’s 
overall funding shortfall for the period to 2015 was assessed as £47M and the previous 
Police Authority approved a plan to address this through a comprehensive Medium 
Term Financial Strategy and a detailed Value for Money (VFM) Plan. 

The financial year 2014/15 represented the fourth consecutive year of reductions in 
funding and the allocations for South Wales Police were reduced by £8.5M compared 
with 2013/14 which is an overall cash reduction of £33.5M since 2011/12. This was 
the highest percentage reduction in Wales compared with other centrally funded public 
services. 

The financial outlook remains challenging.  The Government is currently undertaking 
the 205 Comprehensive Spending Review.

Page 77



11

The overall outcome will not be know until November 2015 and the police specific 
settlement will not be known until December 2015.  It is known that unprotected 
departments, including the Home Office, have been asked to model 25% and 40% 
real terms cuts through to the end of 2019/20.  Given the magnitude of these cuts on 
top of the cuts already made, it is inevitable that significant changes will be required 
to the way South Wales Police operates by the end of the decade.

The Home Office is also consulting on changes to the police funding formula.  The 
consultation does not provide exemplifications but this has further potential to 
introduce unwelcome turbulence into the financial outlook.

Financial Performance 2014/15

Where the Money Came From

The below chart shows that almost 70% of funding is received from Government 
sources with the remainder from the collection of local council tax precepts. This 
highlights the continuing reliance on central funding and emphasises the impact of 
further reductions.

In relation to Band D Council tax, South Wales Police remains the lowest in Wales, 
the comparable figures for 2014/15 are: 

Force £

South Wales 190.34

Gwent 203.50

Dyfed Powys 210.60

North Wales 227.61

Page 78



12

Capital Government 
Grants ,  £2.3m 

Police Grant (Home 
Office),  £95.8m 

Revenue Support 
Grant (Welsh 

Government),  £42.8m 

Non-Domestic Rate 
Income (Welsh 

Government),  £30.6m 

Council  Tax Payers,  
£89.2m 

Where the Money Was Spent.

The below chart shows how the 2014/15 budget was spent using national police 
classifications.  Sound financial management throughout the year has resulted in the
delivery of the value for money plan target with a small non-recurring underspend,
which after adjusting for known requirements, results in a balanced year end
position.  The impending 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review will require further 
significant savings and planning is already well underway to identify and deliver 
these.

Local Policing, 111.1

Commissioned Services, 4

Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner , 1.4

Dealing with the Public, 21.7Intell igence, 12.0

National Policing,  (4.3)

Criminal Justice 
Arrangements, 22.7

Specialist Investigations, 57.6

Roads Policing, 7.5

Specialist Operations, 22.9

Investigative 
Support, 5.9

Accounting Adjustments 
(Pens, Depn etc),  (3.1)

Page 79



13

Community Safety Fund

Funding for Community Safety ceased to be a specific grant from 2014/15, when it 
was subsumed within the main Police Grant. The money for community safety has 
therefore not been protected in any way by the Home Office and was potentially 
subject to the same percentage cut as the overall Police budget. However the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable decided that the Community Safety budget 
would be maintained at its 2013/14 level on the basis that we can hardly ask partner 
organisations who are subject to severe reductions to maintain their input to 
community safety and partnership working unless we demonstrate our clear and 
continuing commitment as the Commissioner and the Chief Constable are doing. 
The overall value of this fund is £3.4M, of which the largest element is £2.4M which 
funds the Drug Intervention Programme, operated in conjunction with the Probation 
Service. The Drug Intervention programme is being re-commissioned and rebranded 
as the Interventions Service to enable a broader range of diversionary services to be 
available when the current arrangements come to an end in 2016. 

The balance funds Police and Crime Reduction Grants which are key to facilitating 
joint working with strategic partners, such as local government, and enables the 
Commissioner to ensure that his Police and Crime Plan priorities are reflected in 
wider partnership objectives. Police and Crime Reductions Grants typically help to 
support Youth Offending Services and Community Safety Partnerships.  Generally, 
they are grants to help fund the partnerships in which I and my team play a full part 
rather than being just a grant to an “outside body”.

Partnership Fund 

The Partnership Fund is used to fund non-recurrent expenditure. It is the main 
source of funding for thematic reviews and provides the financial stimulus to initiate 
new projects. It has been particularly helpful in providing the match funding for the 
Violent Crime and Preventing Offending and Re-offending in the 18 – 25 Year Age 
Group projects, which are key elements of the Police and Crime Reduction Plan and 
have attracted significant Home Office funding (see the Innovation Fund below). 
Overall expenditure in 2014/15 was £634,000.

Victim Services 

The Ministry of Justice transferred responsibility for commissioning of some victims 
services to Police and Crime Commissioners in October 2014 . The Ministry of 
Justice has transferred considerable funding to enable this transfer.  A set-up grant 
of £474,000 was made available straddling the 2013/14 and 2014/15 financial years, 
with the majority of the expenditure occurring in 2014/15.  A recurring grant of 
£445,000 was available from October 2014 to enable the provision of services.  The 
Commissioner was also successful with a bid of £500,000 to the Ministry of Justice’s 
Competed Fund for the domestic abuse restorative approaches project.  Final 
expenditure on this project was £477,000.

Page 80



14

Stage 2 Transfers
In September 2012, the Minister of State for Policing and Criminal Justice set out the 
government’s overall policy intent around Stage 2 transfers “operational staff under 
the control and direction of the Chief Constable passes to their employ and that any 
discussion with the Chief on those remaining with the Police and Crime Commissioner 
will focus on non-operational roles.”

The Home Secretary directed all Commissioners and Chief Constables to prepare a 
staff transfer scheme for approval. This scheme was to make provision for the 
transfer of non-warranted police staff to the employment of the Chief Constable of 
the force. The Stage 2 Transfer Scheme prepared by the Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable was approved by the Home Office and the transfer of affected staff 
completed by the 31st March 2014 deadline. These changes also necessitated a 
review and amendments to the governance framework(s) of the two Corporations 
Sole, and as a result a revised Manual of Governance was prepared with effect from 
1st April 2014 and agreed by both. As a consequence the vast majority of staff are 
now employed by the Chief Constable. Warranted police officers were always under 
the direction of the Chief Constable, but the Hallmarks Document sets out the 
complementary principle that a staff provide appropriate support and assistance to 
both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable in carrying out their respective and 
joint responsibilities, irrespective of which is the employer.

Innovation fund bids 

Project Fusion

During 2014 -2015 we continued to build on our reputation as a beacon force for 
technology by embarking on an ambitious digitisation programme; ‘Programme 
Fusion’.    Enabled in part by a successful Home Office Innovation Fund Bid, and 
working in collaboration with Gwent Police, we sought to radically transform and 
develop our existing mobile platform to include the introduction of the latest 
smartphone technology and delivery of an integrated approach to delivering 
information to officers, partners and our communities. 

During this period, to make use of the emerging technologies and to seize 
opportunities to change the way we deliver services to our communities, Officers and 
Staff from across the force engaged in focus groups. The investment in time and 
resource during the last year to build a strong technological platform will enable us to 
move to the implementation phase over the next six months to give officers the 
opportunity to spend more time visible and accessible in our communities

Page 81



15

Reducing Re-offending in the 18-25 age group

The project is about applying to a different age group the success and experience of 
the Youth Offending Teams (YOT). Reducing offending and reoffending amongst the 
18 – 25 age groups is a key priority for the South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner. We know that people in this age group are committing a 
disproportionate amount of recorded crime whereas reoffending has fallen 
dramatically in the under 18 age group. We have been exploring with partners the 
scope for applying the lessons learned from the work with under 18’s to the 18 – 25 
age group, creating further headroom for the police and other services, using precious 
resources in the most effective way for those who offend.

During 2014/15 significant progress has been made in terms of diverting first time 
entrants, in the 18-25 age group, away from the criminal justice system, and into 
restorative activity. A successful diversionary pilot scheme at Cardiff Bridewell will be 
replicated in Swansea, Bridgend and Merthyr throughout the remainder of this year 
and during 2016/17. 

For those 18-25s who cannot be diverted from the criminal justice system we are 
piloting a peer mentor and support scheme that will be embedded in the Integrated 
Offender Intervention Service at Cardiff, with a view to informing the service model 
going forward into new commissioning arrangements.

Both initiatives will be robustly evaluated by an academic organisation, and it is 
anticipated that the emerging good practice, together with demonstrable outcomes 
for offenders will assist in delivering the longer term goals of achieving a more 
efficient and effective criminal justice system, and improving the life opportunities for 
offenders in the 18-25 age group.

Violent Crime 

The vast majority of violent crime, including domestic abuse and sexual violence is 
never reported to the police, therefore, the true picture of what is happening might 
not be revealed unless the problem is examined more holistically.
This project will build on and develop the innovative work that has been carried out in 
Cardiff which resulted in a 40% reduction in violent crime. Through building 
relationships with the three health boards covering the South Wales Police Force 
area and the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust, we are sharing data in order to tackle 
this issue which affects all emergency services.
I have engaged with Public Health Wales who are analysing data  Health Board data 
from their Emergency Departments and Minor Injury Units, Ambulance  Service data 
and our Police data to date we have found that;

 South Wales Police has a higher rate of Violence against the Person offences 
than other police force areas in Wales.

 There were 5,343 attendances at Emergency Departments across the South 
Wales area related to assaults, 39% attended units in Cardiff and Vale, 34% 
attended ABMU Emergency Units and 27% attended Cwm Taf Emergency 
Units

Page 82



16

 30% of assaults recorded through Health Boards were said to have taken 
place on the street, 15% in the patients own home and 13% in a bar or club.

 Violence peaked for males aged between 15-24
 Repeat locations were most likely to be bars, clubs or pubs.
 Strangers were the most common perpetrators of assaults (42%) followed by 

acquaintance/friend (22%) followed by Partner/Ex Partner (12%). There were 
vast differences between genders, with males more likely to be assaulted by a 
stranger, and females more likely to be assaulted by a partner/ex partner. 

 Violence peaks for all services across South Wales between 10pm on a 
Friday night through to Saturday morning at 4am and on Saturday night 
between 10pm and 4am on Sunday Morning. 

Due to the pressures associated with alcohol and the night time economy, and the 
impact on all emergency services, I set up the Swansea Help Point, a response to 
high levels of alcohol related injury in Swansea city centre on a Wednesday and 
Saturday night. It is estimated the Help Point creates a saving of over £216,000 in a 
year in terms of police and NHS time – around £437 per patient. Since opening in 
September 2014, there have been over 1100 admissions to the Help Point. There 
are an average of 96 patients per month treated for injury and intoxication in the 
Swansea area. The admissions to date are 50% males and 50% females with 70% 
of all admissions from the 18-24 age group. 

During 2015/16 we will work with our partners to improve the quality and consistency 
of the data, providing greater understanding and insight to violence. We will support 
partners in the Violent Crime Action Groups with additional resource to develop 
specific, localised responses and innovative solutions to intervening in violent crime. 
As such further funding has been made available to local groups related to the 
Intervention and Prevention of violence based on the Understanding element of the 
work programme.

We will work even more closely with Public Health Wales drawing in education, 
family and youth services to play an increasing part in early prevention of violence in 
order to turn the tide. In 2015/16 we will focus on several areas of early intervention 
and prevention of violence, specifically high alcohol consumption and sexual 
violence within the night time economy setting

We have received approaches from other forces to copy our approach which has 
been recognised at an international conference as best practice. 

The data from the Help Point and the analysis provided in partnership with Public 
Health Wales identified that the majority of perpetrators and victims of violent crime 
within the night time economy are 18 to 25 year old males.   With this in mind in 
partnership with the Chief Constable I launched the Know the Score 
#drinklessenjoymore campaign that aimed to tackle high consumption of alcohol and 
its contribution to violent crime through supporting bar staff and licensed premises to 

Page 83



17

be confident in refusing to serve people who are clearly drunk. Many people are 
currently unaware that it is illegal to buy alcohol for a friend who is drunk, and that 
they could be fined up to £1,000.

 The work carried out through the campaign has provided a better understanding of 
the drinking habits of people within the night-time economy of South Wales. At the 
start of this campaign 87% of people surveyed in Swansea and Cardiff said it was 
socially acceptable to get drunk on a night out – we are pleased that this work with 
our partners under the banner of this campaign has helped reduce this to 74%. 
There is still much more to do – but we’ve made a great start

Violence against women and girls

Our tackling Violence against Women and Girls Action Plan – arising from the joint 
Strategic Review commissioned ny the Chief Constable and myself - was launched 
on the 15th June 2014, alongside an awareness raising campaign #openoureyes. 
Over the past year I have made significant strides in developing our realtionships 
with partners in order to begin to address earlier identification and interventions 
relating to violence against women and girls, I have established the South Wales 
Police Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Forum, bringing stakeholders together to 
discuss strategic issues and find joint solutions to emerging themes.

Early Identification and Intervention 

Work with health and the 3rd sector partners has increased opportunities for victims 
of domestic abuse to disclose and receive access to advocacy and support at the 
earliest opportunity. In partnership with Cardiff & the Vale University Health Board I 
have funded the delivery of Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) to 25 
identified GP practices across Cardiff and the Vale. This service was launched in 
November 2014 and by the end of 2015 all surgeries will have been trained and be 
IRIS accredited services, allowing earlier identification and access to advocacy 
through primary health care settings. The intention is to roll this model out across all 
GP surgeries in Cwm Taf in partnership with Cwm Taf UHB and the third sector by 
October 2015.

Work with Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board went from strength to 
strength. Partnership funding was agreed to employ a safeguarding lead with 
specific responsibility for the scoping of health responses in relation to domestic 
abuse, in part to support activities to prepare the Board for the statutory duties 
expected with the forthcoming Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill, alongside increasing the role of health professionals in 
recognising and responding to domestic abuse. This work has been completed and 
will inform partnership work being taken forward between the Commissioner and 
Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board. . As a result the scoping Board 
has been identified as an early adopter site for the testing of the National Training 
Framework, and introduction of a Health Based IDVA is anticipated to be in place 
from April 2015. This post will address some of the key issues identified from the 

Page 84



18

scoping, providing training to staff alongside the development of referral pathways to 
increase earlier access to advocacy and support services. This role will be replicated 
in Cwm Taf and a senior nurse will be funded undertake scoping work across the 
Health Board.

Victim Centred Approach

We commissioned Safe Lives (formerly CAADA) to review services and provision 
across South Wales to map services, funding streams, and identify duplication of 
services and areas of unmet need to inform future planning and future 
commissioning of services. The findings of the review were stark, highlighting that 
the 26 domestic abuse providers were supported by  130 different funding streams, 
victims and professions were unsure of how to access services, and that there was a 
lack of early intervention and prevention services. Over the next year we will work 
with partners to explore joint funding and commissioning opportunities to provide 
accessible, quality services that are reflective and need and risk.

With the support of Welsh Government funding secured for all Welsh forces to date 
120 police officers and staff members have received training to increase 
understanding and respond to incidences of honour based violence. 

In order to increase our understanding of what more can be done regarding 
prevention I commissioned a literature review to explore impact and identifiy  good 
practice specifically in relation to perpetrator prevention programmes and scope 
provision across South Wales Police force area. As a result of our findings I am 
exploring options to link development work relating to perpetrators of domestic abuse 
and plan to explore how more can be done to address/change  perpetrator 
behaviours.

Project Updates

Anti Social behaviour

Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, the Police and Crime 
Commissioners were given statutory responsibility for new tools and powers, namely 
the Community Trigger and the Community Remedy. The Community Trigger is a 
tool victims of anti-social behaviour can use to instigate a review of their case if they 
feel the response to date, from the Police, Local Authority or housing provider has 
not been satisfactory. Following extensive consultation with practitioners and 
partners this tool is now available in South Wales, details of the threshold for this tool 
and how it can be activated are found here: 
http://www.southwalescommunitytrigger.wales/. 
The Community Remedy provides victims of anti-social behaviour and low level 
crime, with a say in the type of punishment the perpetrator should face. A public 
consultation on the Community Remedy options has been undertaken and 
operational implementation will commence in the coming year.

Page 85

http://www.southwalescommunitytrigger.wales/


19

The scope for a thematic review which will assess the effectiveness of the current 
policies and procedures used by South Wales Police and partner agencies, to tackle 
anti-social behaviour is currently underway. The review should identify outcomes to 
ensure a reduction in the levels of anti-social behaviour experienced by our 
communities, better management of anti-social behaviour by our partner agencies 
and ultimately a reduction in the number of incidents of anti-social behaviour 
reported to South Wales Police.  

Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation

I hosted a successful Child Sexual Exploitation Summit organised for us by Tros 
Gynnal Plant on 18 May. Partners from across South Wales were invited to discuss 
what can be done together to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation including 
representatives from the Third Sector, Estyn, Welsh Government, Local Authorities, 
and Health Boards.  

I jointly commissioned a review with the Chief Constable of Child Sexual Exploitation 
in South Wales led by Jan Pickles on secondment from the NSPCC. Jan reported at 
the Summit and it was agreed to jointly develop an action plan to take forward the 
findings of that review, alongside lessons learnt from the Rotherham Report, our own 
analysis of the issues within South Wales and feedback we have had from HMIC.  

It is clear that in order to tackle this issue effectively the work of the police needs to 
be aligned with that of our partners and the feedback from the Summit showed very 
clear support for the development of a joint action plan involving the police, local 
authorities, health bodies and others in South Wales. 

Welsh Government with the support of the Children's Commissioner has established 
a working group to develop a national action plan. South Wales Police are 
represented on this group at leadership level through the South Wales Deputy 
Commissioner, Sophie Howe, on behalf of the four Welsh Commissioners and at an 
operational level through the Head of the South Wales Police Public Protection Unit.  
The Commissioner strongly supports the Welsh Government approach and the 
development of a national action plan whilst wanting to ensure that we do not lose 
momentum from the work we have been developing with partners within South 
Wales. 

Our South Wales partnership action plan will contribute to the Welsh Government 
work and to the content of the national action plan. We assume that, subject to any 
alternative suggestions, the partnership plan would be monitored through Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards and through the Strategic Children’s Safeguarding 
Board chaired by ACC Holland.

I am currently consulting on the plan and have sought initial feedback from Heads of 
Children’s Services in Local Authorities and Safeguarding Leads in the three South 
Wales Health Boards. I am asking: are you content with the principles and with the 
actions proposed in this document?  Are there any omissions? Can you suggest 
improvements? 

Page 86



20

I am particularly keen to ensure that the plan reflects work that is already taking 
place within Local Safeguarding Children Boards.

A key recommendation discussed at the Summit was to establish an independent 
“de-brief” service for children who go missing from home. Analysis shows that 75% 
of the Child Sexual Exploitation victims that we know about have been missing from 
home on multiple occasions - and missing from home is generally recognised as an 
indicators of risk. South Wales Police have succeeded in a bid to the Police 
Innovation Fund enabling us to establish a regional de-brief service quickly in 
partnership with Barnardos. We have now appointed four advocates following a 
recruitment process.  For the longer term we will look for ways of maintaining the 
service when the Innovation funding comes to an end.

Working with partners to reduce individuals with mental health/learning disabilities 
entering the Criminal Justice Service

Over the last year this citizen-centred mental health multi-agency initiative has 
examined prevention and early intervention for individuals with mental health and /or 
learning disabilities being diverted from entering the Criminal Justice system in the 
South Wales area, focusing specifically on the Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board area in the first instance. South Wales Police like other police forces across 
England and Wales highlighted significant issues relating to individuals with mental 
health concerns and the need to prevent individuals entering the Criminal Justice 
system wherever possible.  Vital to the success of this initiative is the de-
criminalisation and de-stigmatisation of individuals with mental health problems. 

A key component of this project has been the opportunity to involve individuals with a 
lived experience of mental health issues and their carers; police, health and local 
authority personnel as well as third sector partners and many other groups. This 
involved interviewing and gathering case studies from individuals who had 
experienced mental health problems and had come into contact with law enforcement. 

A number of statutory and voluntary sector agencies are involved with individuals with 
mental health and / or learning disabilities when they are in crisis, this is usually the 
time when someone may come into contact with the police.  It was therefore important 
to gain a greater understanding of the perception of the police approach and to find 
out how South Wales Police could develop better partnership-working strategies to 
provide the best possible service to individuals with mental health issues, particularly 
considering their link to earlier identification and intervention.

The project has involved the employment of an individual with a lived experience of 
serious mental health problems, setting up a Management Board to oversee the 
project. The production of a data set gathered from South Wales Police, Cardiff & Vale 
University Health Board and Cardiff & Vale Local authorities and examination and 
analysis of the data set to give an overall picture of the numbers of individuals entering 

Page 87



21

police custody and their ongoing care and treatment. This has been complimented by 
meeting individuals with a lived experience and their carers/significant others to listen 
to their stories of being in crisis, visits to and time spent with all partners and visits to 
services and initiatives across the UK.

Strong governance arrangements have been in place with regular meetings for 
supervision from the Assistant Police & Crime Commissioner, Deputy Chief constable, 
Assistant Chief Constable as well as academic supervision from Cardiff University. To 
support the project to take ideas forward links have been made with Cardiff University. 

The project lead has also been working with Welsh Government to inform the Welsh 
Crisis Care Concordat and close links have also been made with the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission.

A number of recommendations have come from the scoping exercise but Initial 
recommendations from the project are:

 Peer led service development of a Crisis Sanctuary based on principles from 
projects in Leeds, Bristol and London. This would be commissioned through 
the third sector and would include not only mental health third sector partners 
but also drug and alcohol partners all working towards a shared aim. 
Opportunities already identified for accommodation and infrastructure and the 
concept being discussed in commissioning plans for mental health and 
substance misuse following a meeting with key lead for commissioning these 
services. The revenue costs identified would be 350k

 Development of a decision making tool for police officers (and others such as 
Ambulance services, British Transport Police). (early developmental ideas 
being worked on)

 The decision tool would be sited on a mental health APP. A business case is 
being prepared to work with Cardiff University Policing and the IT department. 
The work would have 3 phases, initial phase in developing the platform for the 
APP and the decision tool, phase 2 linking with existing APP links and 3rd 
phase looking at interface issues with other systems outside police network

 Based on the evidence from literature and some early implementer sites, 
telephone triage may be an opportunity. The deployment of mental health 
expertise within the police call centre for example.

Page 88



22

Governance, Decision Making and Scrutiny arrangements

Governance Structure

During the year I continued to refine and develop my governance and oversight 
arrangements to ensure proper oversight and direction of key areas such as 
planning and performance, finance, partnership working, collaboration 
arrangements, the police estate and monitoring my key decisions. These 
arrangements ensured that robust scrutiny and challenge took place at several levels 
before ultimately being considered by me and the Chief Constable at my bimonthly 
Strategic Board meetings.

I continued to hold the Chief Constable to account through my Strategic Board and 
during our regular meetings. The partnership and policing governance structures then 
formed a basis for my reports to the Police and Crime Panel, creating an effective 
monitoring framework which provided clarity and accountability

Police & Crime Panel

Commissioner’s Strategic 
Board

Joint Groups Chief Constable Gold 
Group

Partnership Groups

Joint Planning and 
Performance Group

Academic 
Development Group

Joint Audit Committee

Force Delivery Safer South Wales

South Wales Criminal 
Justice Boards

All Wales Policing 
Group

Policing

Page 89



23

Decision making

The decisions that I am able to make primarily relate to the discharge of my statutory 
functions. Legislation is not prescriptive as to how I should do this and 
Commissioners have a great deal of latitude in that regard. 

Decision Framework

Policing is a complex service and it is important to have a proper system in place 
which allows me to make, monitor and publicise my key decisions. In doing so I must 
have particular regard to, amongst others, the views of the Chief Constable as well 
as my own senior management team and Chief Officers within South Wales Police.

Manual of Governance

I continued to ensure that the requirements contained within my manual of 
governance were followed and that decisions made under the Manual of 
Governance were properly recorded and available for scrutiny. The manual was 
updated during the year and a revised version is now in place.

Commissioner’s Strategic Board

My Strategic Board continued to meet on a bi-monthly basis and was attended by 
me and my Leadership team and Chief Officers along with the Chief Constable and 
his Chief Officers. In summary the purpose of the Board is to:

 Set the strategic direction of South Wales police
 Examine and scrutinise performance at a strategic level
 Consider potential risks to the organisation

The non-confidential action points arising from the meetings are published on my 
website along with a list of decisions made at the meetings.

Planning and Performance Board

The Planning and Performance Board, under the leadership of my Assistant 
Commissioner, John Rose and Deputy Chief Constable Matt Jukes, ensured that 
planning and monitoring took place at the appropriate level and recommendations 
were fed back to me either directly or through the Strategic Board.

Commissioner’s sole decisions

There are instances when I am required to make decisions where it is not 
appropriate to refer them to the Strategic Board or any other forum. Examples 
include the allocation of community safety grants to local groups or the appointment 

Page 90



24

of my senior management team. When taking such decisions I have regard to the 
professional opinions of others but ultimately the final decision and responsibility has 
to be mine. Where these are key decisions I ensure they are recorded on the 
decision register which is published on my website. In so doing I will always ensure 
that my Monitoring Officer &/or section 151 Officer are aware of my decisions and 
my expectations are that they will advise me if they are lawful.

Scrutiny

Police and Crime Panel

There are certain decisions that I cannot make without reporting them to the Panel 
e.g. senior appointments, police and crime reduction plan and setting the precept. I 
must comply with statutory requirements in relation to these matters. I must also 
have regard to the views on certain matters such as the precept and senior 
appointments.

During 2014/15 the Panel met on 6 occasions

 7 May 2014
 22 July 2014
 21 October 2014
 6 December 2014
 30 January 2015
 11 March 2015. 

Details of the agendas, reports and minutes for each meeting are available on the 
Panel’s website    

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=349 

I built on the  constructive and challenging working relationship with the Panel by 
continuing to report all my statutory obligations  which included the precept, my 
financial strategy and regular performance updates.  I also took every opportunity to 
inform the Panel of the non statutory aspects of my work and to invite them to events 
organised by my team as I value their input and it is in keeping with my inclusive 
approach.

I continue to recognise the role of the Panel as an important one and a constructive 
part of the scrutiny process and I  am grateful to its members for the support they 
gave me during the year.

Joint Audit Committee

Page 91

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=349


25

The Chief Constable and I are each required to have an Audit Committee. In the 
interests of effectiveness and efficiency we created a joint committee for this 
purpose. It is not the committee’s function to scrutinise either me or the Chief 
Constable however there are certain matters it must consider such as annual audit 
plans and the annual statement of accounts and thereafter provide any 
recommendations or assurances to either me or the Chief Constable on the same. 

The committee is responsible for assurance on the overall adequacy of risk 
management arrangements and will oversee the financial reporting process.  The 
committee will deal with all matters on internal audit standards.

The Joint audit Committee is comprised of 5 independent external members 
appointed by the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable. The 
current members of the committee are:

 Mr Jeffrey Edwards 
 Mr Gareth Evans
 Mr Robert Evans
 Mr Gethin Lewis
 Mr Alan Thomas

The Committee receives reports at each of its meetings from the external auditors, 
Wales Audit Office, and from the internal auditors, Deloitte’s. The Committee met 
formally on four occasions in 2014/15 on the following dates:

 30 June 2014
 29 September 2014
 18 December 2014
 23 March 2015 

The Committee also convenes for seminars on specific areas and training and 
development.

The annual report of the Joint Audit Committee is attached at appendix 3

It is pleasing to report that the Wales Audit Office provided an unqualified audit 
opinion on the Accounts for 2014/15.

Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary (HMIC)

Page 92



26

I am required to respond to inspection reports issued by HMIC andthis provides an 
invaluable opportunity for me to comment on the inspections and is an additional 
way of constructively challenging South Wales Police on its performance. I met 
regularly with the territorial Inspector during the year ensuring I was kept informed of 
her work and also it provided me with an opportunity to raise issues in return.

Transparency

Decision Register

The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011 requires 
significant decisions to be recorded in a decision register.  The register contains all 
the key decisions that have been made as a result of the arrangements described 
above. This is not the totality of the decisions I have made but only those which are 
of significance or would be of public interest.

I have not included every single decision for several reasons namely, I am not 
required to do so, it would become overly bureaucratic to maintain, there would be 
too much detail to make it user friendly for public inspection, the level of detail would 
not be at a sufficiently strategic level and key decisions could become lost among all 
the others.

Publishing Decisions

I have a duty to publish “a record of each decision of significant public interest”, as 
set out the Elected Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011.  These are 
published on my website: www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/decisions.  Each 
month, following the Strategic Board meeting held with the Chief Constable, I agree 
the decisions to the published, and these are updated on the site.

For important decisions, such as the precept, police and crime plan and important 
appointments, I have made sure that these are publicised more widely – whether it is 
through the media, within newsletters, social media or directly to partners and local 
groups through presentations.

.

Communication and Engagement

Page 93



27

 South Wales Police aims to be the best at understanding and responding to the 
needs of our communities. 

Good communication and our engagement with local communities, our partners and 
the people who represent them is at the heart of this this.

We want people to feel confident that South Wales Police will continue to protect 
them from harm and will work with partners to prevent crime and protect the most 
vulnerable members of our society. 

The Chief Constable and I have developed a joint approach to communications 
activity focusing on our shared priorities set out within the South Wales Police and 
Crime Reduction Plan and Chief Constable’s Delivery Plan. 

We have agreed to share resources for Communications, as a more efficient and 
effective way of working.

Key milestones in the delivery of the shared Communications Function include:

 the Commissioner’s Communications Manager embedded as a member of 
the Communications team

 the integration of the Commissioner’s and Chief Constable’s websites into a 
new, joint South Wales Police Website

 the delivery of the organisation’s first Communications Strategy -  a joint-
strategy between the Commissioner and the Chief

 delivery of key campaigns aimed at reducing demand on police and partners, 
drawing on the full resource of the Communications Team 

The Communications Strategy 2015 aims to deliver the following outcomes:

• People feel South Wales is a safe place to live and work, are informed about 
levels of crime and are satisfied with the way South Wales Police understands 
and responds to the needs of all our communities.

 Our police officers and staff are well informed and equipped with the tools 
they need to communicate with partners and the public
Our partners are engaged in working together to prevent and reduce crime 
and develop and deliver policing priorities.

To do this we will:

• Listen to what is important to our communities and respond to their needs
• Be accessible and easy to contact
• Build confidence that South Wales is a safe place to live and work.
• Work with the media and partners to keep our communities informed and 

deliver the priorities in the Police and Crime Reduction Plan 

Page 94



28

• We will develop the communication tools and policies needed to support 
delivery of the Crime Reduction Plan and Chief Constable’s delivery plan

 

Access to information

Whilst I will make every effort to place as much detail as possible on my website 
there will inevitably be occasions when this is not possible. Under such 
circumstances I may be asked to provide particulars under the Freedom of 
Information Act or the Data Protection Act. I have ensured that robust arrangements 
are in place within my own team and where necessary working with the Chief 
Constable so that timely responses are provided. 

Register of Gifts and Hospitality

A register is maintained of instances where gifts and hospitality have been accepted 
and this is published on my website in accordance with the Elected Local Policing 
Bodies (Specified Information) Order

Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order) 2011

This order requires Police and Crime Commissioners to publish information on our 
websites so that we can be transparent about what we do. Here you will find 
information on the following for 2014/15.

 The Commissioner

 Staff matters

 Income and Expenditure

 Properties, rights and liabilities

 Decisions

 Policies

 Prevention of crime and disorder

 Independent custody visiting

Page 95



29

Promoting Ethics and Values

Prior to the introduction of the Code of Ethics, staff and officers within South Wales 
Police were held to account in terms of their behaviour and ethical viewpoint through 
monitoring and education by the South Wales Police Professional Standards 
Department. My Public Response Manager liaised closely with the Professional 
Standards Department to ensure that all officers adhered to the professional 
standards required of them. 

My Public Response Manager worked jointly and very closely with the Professional 
Standards Department and with the Assistant Chief Constable of South Wales Police 
with the responsibility for professional standards in introducing and imbedding the 
Code of Ethics within South Wales Police.. This led on to the formation of an 
Independent Ethics Committee which consists of independent members of the 
community within South Wales who will independently review strategic and 
sometimes operational decisions made which have an ethical impact. 

I have made transparency and the Code of Ethics a running theme throughout my 
Police and Crime Plan and do not believe that it needs to be a separate topic within 
the Plan. High professional standards and strong ethical principles are a golden 
thread which hold all areas of policing and partnership working together and will be a 
common denominator linking all of my areas of work together.

Volunteering

Developing our joint approach to volunteering
 
We have been working with the Chief Constable and his team to strengthen our joint 
approach to volunteering within the South Wales Police family.   Whilst we have 
separate operational duties in respect of volunteers; for example, the Chief 
Constable recruits and manages Special Constables and the Commissioner recruits 
and manages Independent Custody Visitors, we have been working together 
strategically over the past year to increase the scope and effectiveness of our 
investment in volunteering.

My Assistant Commissioner, Dr. John Rose has been leading on the joint approach 
alongside the Chief Constable’s team and this has included work towards a new 
Youth Volunteer Scheme,  engaging the Police Student Volunteers with the Violence 
Reduction programme in Swansea, agreeing and supporting the recruitment of 
additional Special Constables and facilitating a new mechanism for ‘external’ 
volunteers to support the overall objective of making South Wales a safer and 
healthier place,  in a scheme  which sees youth and community work students 
undertake their placements with third sector organisations which are working in 
communities hit hard by the reduction in publicly funded youth services, and with 
organisations which support community safety and a reduction in offending. 

Page 96



30

This joint work also links with the developing South Wales Police Compact which is a 
partnership agreement between the third sector and the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable and which includes a commitment to supporting volunteering.

Independent Custody Visiting and Animal Welfare Visiting

Independent Custody Visitors are volunteers from our local communities who carry 
out unannounced visits to our police custody suites to speak to detainees and check 
on the conditions in the cells. They are ‘the eyes and ears of our communities’ and 
provide independent assurance about how the police treat people held in custody. 
Custody visiting is a statutory duty and one of the key ways in which the Chief 
Constable is held to account. 

During 2014-2015 work on the two new ‘Bridewells’ at Merthyr Tydfil and Bridgend 
was completed and now all police detainees are held at one of four purpose built 
custody units – in Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr and Swansea. 

The reduction in the number of custody units meant that our volunteers made fewer 
visits in 2014-2015 (272) compared to 392 the previous year – however, in terms of 
the numbers of detainees receiving visits the numbers remained at a very similar 
level. 

In summary 564 adult detainees and 50 juvenile detainees received visits in 2014-
2015 compared to 567 and 44 in 2013-2014. Of the detainees available to receive 
visits 93% accepted the visit offered.  

Visitors observed conditions in the cells and custody units, spoke to detainees about 
their rights whilst in detention and any welfare concerns they might have and 
reported back.  Issues were noted in 46% of visits with the most common being 
‘repairs and defects’ followed by ‘detainee welfare’, with just 4% of issues relating to 
health and safety matters. Welfare issues in most cases reflected detainees 
appearing or feeling unwell or distressed and did not reflect any concern about the 
lack of care on the part of custody staff.  Similarly repair issues were generally the 
result of ‘wear and tear’ or, in some cases, deliberate damage by detainees and 
were in all cases being dealt with by custody services.  

Regular meetings were held between the volunteer visitors, the Commissioner’s 
representatives, Custody Inspectors and senior officers to discuss any issues of 
concern and ensure that the scheme was operating effectively.   

The Commissioner also has in place an animal welfare visiting scheme whereby 
volunteers visit the police dogs and horses at Waterton to check that their welfare 
needs are met.  The Panel includes a veterinarian as well as representatives from 
the Dogs Trust, RSPCA and the PDSA.    

Page 97



31

Strategic Policing Requirement

This requirement focuses on those areas where government has a responsibility for 
ensuring that sufficient capabilities are in place to respond to serious and cross-
boundary criminality threats such as terrorism, civil emergencies, public disorder and 
organised crime, and in support of the work of national agencies such as the 
National Crime Agency. 

Although not strictly a strategic policing requirement the contribution South Wales 
Police made to the NATO summit was an outstanding example of how forces can 
combine to police an event of international significance. We must be rightly proud of 
the contribution made by our officers and police staff. My congratulations go to them 
all.  

Engagement

Events and meetings attended in 2014/15

A list detailing the events and key meetings I attended during 2014/15 is attached at 
appendix 4.

Contact Details

Office address 
  
Ty Morgannwg 

Police Headquarters 

Bridgend 

CF31 3SU 

Phone 

01656 869366   

Fax 

Available upon request  

Email 

commissioner@south-wales.pnn.police.uk 

Page 98



32

Appendix 1 Summary of key achievements 2014/15

 Partnership established to expand the Drug intervention Programme into 
other areas of intervention.

 Child Sexual Exploitation report
 Merger of the South Wales Criminal Justice and Integrated Offender 

Management Board
 Women’s pathfinder project
 Modernised estate – Including new Bridewells in Bridgend and Merthyr
 BME Recruitment plan
 Partnership fund
 Custody interventions
 Anti-social behaviour – Community trigger and remedy
 Getsafeonline embedded in website
 Drug intervention scheme
 National policing events - NATO
 Help point plus
 Innovation – fusion/Violence against women and girls review and action 

plan/violence reduction/youth offending/mental health/early identification 
project launched with GPs (IRIS)

 Bursary launch
 Reduction of offending and re-offending in the18-25 age group
 Out of court disposal panel

Page 99



33

Appendix 2

Summary of Police & Crime Reduction funding for 2014-2015 

Award in 2014 - 
15 

Purpose of funding 

Substance Misuse Services 

Drug Intervention 
Programme

2,373,700 Referral and treatment services for drugs 
misuse 

Drug Testing Programme 110,000 Targeted drug testing in custody suites)

Community Safety 
Partnerships

Safer Bridgend 56,100 Strong ,swift response to ASB

Tackling violence against women & girls 

Reduction & prevention of offending  

Rapid Response Pilot 30,000

Safer Capital 149,000 Tackling violence against women & girls 
(including a service for male victims)   

Working with partners on violence & the causes 
of crime through data analysis work 

Merthyr Tydfil Community 
Safety 

41,200 Strong, swift response to ASB

Working with partners on violence & the causes 
of crime through research & development for 
community safety work

Homesafe (Safer Merthyr)  10,000 Target hardening scheme in support of tackling 
violence against women and girls 

Safer Neath Port Talbot 59,700 Strong, swift response to ASB
Tackling violence against women and girls 
Making the public feel safer

Page 100



34
APPENDIX 3     Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2014/15.

Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Community Safety

82,300 Tackling violence against women & girls 

Strong, swift response to ASB

Safer Swansea 120,500 Crime reduction & prevention

Strong, swift response to ASB

Making the public feel safer 

Safer Vale 56,500 Crime reduction & prevention 

Making the public feel safer 

‘ASBIT’ Database (South 
Wales wide database for 
managing our response to 
ASB)

20,000 Strong, swift response to ASB 

Youth Offending Services 

Bridgend  31,900

Cardiff 78,700

Merthyr Tydfil 34,900

Neath Port Talbot 35,800

Rhondda Cynon Taff 64,400

Swansea 63,100

Vale of Glamorgan 23,200

Reduction & prevention of youth offending -

including tackling substance misuse and 
violence against women and girls, using 
restorative approaches and putting victims at 
the heart of our approach.

During 2014-2015 new merged Boards were 
brought together in Western Bay and Cwm 
Taff.  Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
remained as individual Youth Offending 
Services.  

Total of funding 3,441,000

Page 101



35

This is the Second Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee that was established 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable of South Wales Police 
in March 2013 to provide independent assurance on financial and governance issues 
that affect both Corporations Sole.

The Committee is governed by Terms of Reference that are annually reviewed and 
there has been no change in membership of the Committee since its inception.

The Committee has undertaken a self-assessment during the year utilising the 
Wales Audit Office Self- Assessment Toolkit for Audit Committees. This was 
undertaken on an individual and collective basis. In the main the Committee were 
compliant with all aspects of the Assessment Framework however training needs 
were identified in the Committee’s knowledge of fraud, whistleblowing, anti-
corruption practices and cyber-crime. These knowledge gaps have subsequently 
been addressed.

Two members attended the All Wales CIPFA Conference for Audit Committees. 
Informal working seminars within the force have also broadened knowledge and 
understanding.

The Committee in formulating its opinion rely on the work of Internal Audit, External 
Audit, HMIC Reports and the input from Senior Management Teams of both 
Corporations Sole. The Committee is serviced by the Secretariat of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and is assisted by the ORD Team of the Chief Constable.

Internal Audit. Deloitte provide the Internal Audit Service to both Corporations Sole 
and follow an agreed plan on the basis of risk developed by senior management and 
overseen and amended by the Committee in providing the required assurances on 
key financial systems and areas of potential weakness. 21 areas were covered 
including core financial systems, business and operational systems and governance 
processes. 

The Committee receives Audit Reports from the Internal Auditors together with the 
Management responses to the recommendations. The recommendations are then 
accepted, amended or rejected by the committee with an agreed implementation 
date set until the audit cycle is closed.

The Committee has seen a vast improvement in the timeliness of reports, the 
responses by management and also implementation of recommendations. The 
Committee are grateful to the work of the ORD Team in expediting this area of 
business.

Full details of the reports can be seen in the working papers of the committee. Whilst 
the Committee were disappointed to see a large number of Limited levels of 
assurance in the last reports tabled by the Internal Auditors it was accepted that this 
was a consequence of management and the risk process directing the audit plan into 

Page 102



36

these new areas for assurance.   The management responses and the action being 
taken to improve these areas will strengthen the governance framework going 
forward..

Whilst during the year there had been a reduction in the number of Substantial 
Assurances and an increase in the number of Limited Assurances, the Committee 
Accepted that the Overall Assurance was Adequate and noted the impact of the 
NATO Conference. The Committee will receive updates by the newly appointed 
auditors at their subsequent meetings where levels fell below acceptable standards.

The Internal Audit Annual Report of Deloitte for 2014-15 concludes that “the 
framework for governance, risk and internal control are reasonable and that 
audit testing has confirmed that controls are generally working effectively in 
practice”. 

The Internal Audit Contract was retendered on a collaborative basis with Gwent 
Police early in 2015 in readiness for the start of the 2015 financial year. Deloitte were 
not successful in the award process and the Committee wishes to place on record 
their thanks to Deloitte and in particular to Ian Howse and Rhys Manning of the 
outgoing audit team.   

External Audit   

The Wales Audit Office undertake Statutory Audits of the Corporations Sole in 
accordance with Law together with performance audit work and other ad hoc 
investigations. They also take into account the opinions of Internal Auditors and 
other Regulators in formulating their opinion.

The Audit Committee have no scope over the work of External Audit but does have 
private sessions with them in discussing emerging issues and receives their Annual 
Management Letter and observations at Committee meetings.

The Committee ensures that any recommendations arising from their work are timely 
implemented and reviewed.

In reviewing the Accounts for the Year Financial Year 2014 /15 the Appointed 
Auditor has confirmed that the Accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK in 2014/15 and 
that they give a true and fair view of the financial transactions undertaken and 
of its income and expenditure for the period ended 31st March 2015. The 
Accounts contain an unqualified opinion.

The Committee noted the improvement in the preparation of the year end accounts 
and the timely manner that the accounts were closed.

Page 103



37

The Committee welcomed the support of the External Auditors in accepting a Joint 
Governance Statement in covering both Corporations Sole.

HMIC /PEEL Reports. 

The Committee has considered and monitored the recommendations contained in 
the reports that have come from the HMIC during the course of the year. 

The Committee have been impressed by the number of positive reports that South 
Wales Police have received and the exemplar way in which the forces work has 
been seen as good practice.

The First Peel Assessment of the South Wales Force concluded ” the force is good 
at reducing crime and preventing offending, good at investigation offending 
and outstanding at tackling antisocial behaviour. The Efficiency with which the 
force carries out its responsibilities is good” The Force had had made 
excellent progress in responding to the spending review and was well placed 
to deal with future budget cuts”.   

Risk Register.  

The Committee has undertaken a deep dive into the Risk Register during the current 
year as part of one of its informal seminars.  Four key areas were considered; 
Alignment of risk to the Police and Crime Reduction Plan; Governance of the Risk 
Management Process, Assurance on Compliance and Currency.

Whilst significant improvements have been made throughout the organisation in 
understanding risk, there is still a need to ensure that risk is truly embedded 
throughout the organisation.  The Committee will continue to monitor the progress of 
embedding risk within the organisation.

Officers and Staff.

The Committee rely on the experience and knowledge of staff and explanations of 
unfamiliar operational and management procedures and systems within the 
organisation. The Committee are indebted to their input in broadening the knowledge 
and experience of the committee.

Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable.

Page 104



38

The Committee have access to both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable. During the course of the year both the Commissioner and Deputy 
Chief Constable have attended meetings.

Issues such as the Structure of the Finance Department; Project Fusion; 
Communication Strategy, Partnerships and meeting future austerity measures have 
been discussed.

In respect of the Finance Department Review both the Chair and Deputy Chair 
received and examined the independent report that had been prepared and were 
disappointed that the full recommendations were not implemented given the 
important role the department would play in meeting future austerity challenges.

Financial Report and Statement of Accounts 2014/15.

The Committee has considered the Financial Report and Statement of Accounts for 
the Year Ended the 31st March 2015 prepared by the Chief Financial Officer for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Financial Officer to the Chief Constable.

Joint Annual Governance Statement 2014/15.

The Committee has considered the Joint Annual Governance Statement of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable of South Wales.

The Committee Opinion

The Committee has received Reports, Recommendations and Observations from 
Deloitte, the Internal Auditors, Welsh Audit Office, the External Auditors, HM 
Inspector of Constabulary and officers and staff of both Corporations Sole in order 
for it to formulate an independent opinion and provide independent assurance to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable in respect of the financial and 
governance controls within both  Corporations Sole.

Having received these reports the Committee are satisfied that there are no 
major issues of concern that affect the financial standing of the corporations  
sole, that the control methods are adequate, that the governance framework is 
robust and that the risk management framework reflects the appropriate risks 
and that appropriate management controls and mitigation is in place.              

The minutes of the committee are open to public scrutiny and contain our 
consideration of all the reports received by the Committee and the opinions 
formulated during the course of the year. 

The Forward Plan for 2015/16 is highlighted by the Agreed Audit Plan that has been 
adopted together with the Significant Governance Issues that have been raised in 
the Annual Governance Statement. 

Page 105



39

The Committee will continue to focus on a risk based assessment of key risks and 
issues in providing its independent assurance to the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable.    

Thanks 

The Committee would like to express their thanks to all those who have engaged 
with the Committee during the course of the year and for the openness and 
transparency that has been shown to members in the discharge of their duties.

29 September 2015.

Appendix 4 

Commissioner’s engagement meetings and events for the period

Page 106



40

1st April 2014 – 31st March 2015

During the course of a typical working day, I met with various people including the 
Chief Constable and his Chief Officers, staff members and partners.  This list reflects 
the main meetings and events I attended during the year. It does not reflect the 
totality of all the meetings and events I attended which would otherwise be too 
extensive for the purposes of this report. It is intended to provide an indication of the 
approach I took to engage with partners, key stakeholders and decision makers in 
order to deliver on my Policing and Crime Plan.

Commissioner’s engagement meetings and events for the period 1st April 2014 – 31st March 2015

Tuesday 1st April 2014 Safer South Wales Meeting
Tuesday 1st April 2014 Meeting with Councillor Edith Hughes
Wednesday 2nd April 2014 Meeting with Barbara Ranger, John Munton , Bill Furnham & Derek 

Bateman
Wednesday 2nd April 2014 Meeting with Jonathan Cox
Wednesday 2nd April 2014 Meeting with Councillor Ed Stubbs
Monday 7th April 2014 Meeting with the Independent Police Complaints Commission
Tuesday 8th April 2014 Meeting with Councillor David Phillip and Julie James AM
Tuesday 8th April 2014 Meeting with Councillor Phil Bale
Tuesday 8th April 2014 Meeting with Lesley Kilpatrick & Hannah Kurtis – Prince’s Trust
Wednesday 9th April 2014 Meeting with Niche Record Management System
Wednesday 9th April 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Bridgend Local Authority Leader & Chief 

Executive
Wednesday 9th April 2014 Meeting with Chris Salmon
Thursday 10th April 2014 IOIS Meeting
Thursday 10th April 2014 Meeting with Ms Manjoo, Special Rapporteur for Violence against 

women and girls
Thursday 10th April 2014 Meeting with Stuart Hodges
Monday 14th April 2014 Installation of The Chancellor of the University, Royal College of 

Music and Drama
Tuesday 15th April 2014 Meeting with Victim Support : Tom Davies & Mandy Wilmott, Chris 

Salmon and Paul Harries
Wednesday 16th April 2014 Meeting with Michelle Fowler-Powe of the British Deaf Association
Tuesday 22nd April 2014 Meeting with  Magistrates Bench Chairs and Stephen Whale
Tuesday 22nd April 2014 Meeting with Mr Mojahid Ali, Ihsaan Social Support Association
Tuesday 22nd April 2014 Meeting with Tony Neate
Thursday 24th April 2014 Meeting with Graeme Hobbs, Chairman Motorola Solutions UK
Friday 25th April 2014 Telephone Call with Adrian Oliver, Chair of Youth Trust Board
Saturday 26th April 2014 Annual Police Conference
Sunday 27th April 2014 Annual Police Conference
Monday 28th April 2014 One Voice Wales Area Committee discuss issues impacting on the 

role of Bridgend, Cardiff and Vale.
Tuesday 29th April 2014 Youth Trust Board Meeting
Tuesday 29th April 2014 Meeting with David Jenkins, High Sheriff South Glamorgan
Tuesday 29th April 2014 Meeting with ICT Police Board consultants Simon Woodward and Ian 

Whitfield
Wednesday 30th April 2014 Equalities Panel
Wednesday 30th April 2014 Meeting with Alex Blowers of Nominet
Thursday 1st May 2014 Meeting with ACC Chris Armitt, Gold Commander for NATO Summit
Thursday 1st May 2014 Quarterly meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Cardiff Council

Page 107



41

Thursday 1st May 2014 A Welsh Public Services Thought Leadership Debate and Dinner.
Tuesday 6th May 2014 Meeting with Peter Matthews, Chairman Natural Resources of Wales
Wednesday 7th May 2014 IOM Cymru Board Meeting
Wednesday 7th May 2014 Police & Crime Panel

Meeting with Barry Stephens JP Chair of South Wales Branch of the 
Magistrates Association

Wednesday 7th May 2014 Meeting with Cllr Sarah McGill
Thursday 8th May 2014 Meeting with Waterloo Foundation
Thursday 8th May 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader & Chief Executive Cardiff Council
Thursday 8th May 2014 South Wales Neighbourhood Watch Meeting
Thursday 8th May 2014 Cardiff Business Club Dinner
Friday 9th May 2014 Meeting with Lord Stevenson and Mike O’Connor – Stepchange debt 

Charity
Friday 9th May 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader & Chief Executive Merthyr Council 
Tuesday 13th May 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader & Chief Executive Rhondda Cynon 

Taf Council 
Tuesday 13th May 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader & Chief Executive Vale of Glamorgan 

Council
Wednesday 14th May 2014 All Wales Criminal Justice Board
Wednesday 14th May 2014 Meeting with Mandy Wilmot & Tom Parry-Davies, Chair of Victim 

Services Wales
Wednesday 14th May 2014 Meeting with Cllr De'Ath
Wednesday 14th May 2014 Meeting with Councillor Elsmore, Cardiff Council
Wednesday 14th May 2014 Dinner with Black Police Association
Thursday 15th May 2014 Meeting with Cllr Edith Hughes and Mrs Sarah James
Thursday 15th May 2014 APCC Conference Call
Thursday 15th May 2014 Meeting with Mr Chris Salmon & ACC Lewis 
Thursday 15th May 2014 Reception to celebrate the Hellenic EU Presidency and Europe Day
Friday 16th May 2014 Meeting with Owen Smith, MPs and Kevin O'Neill and residents from 

Lan Park Road 
Monday 19th May 2014 Evidence Based Policing Conference
Monday 19th May 2014 Meeting with Mr Mark Sedwill, Permanent Secretary
Tuesday 20th May 2014 Meeting with Ben Lucas and Thomas Hauschildt, Communications 

and Project Management Officer
Tuesday 20th May 2014 Meeting with HMIC Dru Sharpling
Tuesday 20th May 2014 Meeting with Steve Reed MP in London
Tuesday 20th May 2014 Meeting with Keir Starmer QC
Wednesday 21st May 2014 APCC General Meeting and Ministerial Engagement
Thursday 22nd May 2014 South Wales Criminal Justice Board
Thursday 22nd May 2014 Meeting with Dusty Kennedy
Monday 2nd June 2014 Voluntary Community Service 50th Anniversary
Tuesday 3rd June 2014 Meeting with Cllr Julia Magill, Nick Batchelor, Director of Education 

and Simon Morris, Youth Support Services
Wednesday 4th June 2014 Meeting with Andrew Howell, MD of BCB International
Wednesday 4th June 2014 Meeting with Professor Jonathan Shepherd
Thursday 5th June 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Unison
Thursday 5th June 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader & Chief Executive of Neath Port 

Talbot Council
Thursday 5th June 2014 Meeting with Nick Jarman - Head of Children’s Services 
Monday 9th June 2014 Guest Speaker at the West Glamorgan Magistrates' Association 

event
Tuesday 10th June 2014 HMIC Inspectors Meeting – Integrity and corruption inspection
Wednesday 11th June 2014 Meeting with Keith Turner from Airwave Solutions

Page 108



42

Wednesday 11th June 2014 Meeting with Keith Towler, Children’s Commissioner for Wales
Wednesday 11th June 2014 Quarterly Meeting with GMB
Thursday 12th June 2014 Meeting with Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister for Local Gov and Gov 

Business and the Four Welsh Commissioners
Thursday 12th June 2014 Third Sector Compact Meeting
Thursday 12th June 2014 Meeting with Clare Biddlecombe and officers at St Athans to discuss 

NPAS
Friday 13th June 2014 Police IT Roundtable Event
Monday 16th June 2014 Meeting regarding Khat Ban
Tuesday 17th June 2014 Official launch of the Cardiff Counter-Narrative Leaflet "What Islam 

Really Says"
Tuesday 17th June 2014 Meeting with Tom Parry Davies and Mandy Wilmot
Tuesday 17th June 2014 Meeting with Tony Young - Youth Offending Service 
Thursday 19th June 2014 WLGA Annual Conference
Friday 20th June 2014 Violence Against Women and Young Girls Roundtable Discussion
Saturday 21st June 2014 St John Cymru Wales Priory Annual Service and Awards
Monday 23rd June 2014 Finance Sub group of the Partnership Council Meeting
Monday 23rd June 2014 Meeting with Jo Hopkins, Head of Home Office Wales Team 
Monday 23rd June 2014 Meeting with Professor Russell Deacon
Tuesday 24th June 2014 Meeting with Yvette Cooper, MP
Tuesday 24th June 2014 Meeting with Stephen Doughty, MP
Tuesday 24th June 2014 John Harris Memorial Lecture
Wednesday 25th June 2014 South Wales Criminal Justice Board
Wednesday 25th June 2014 Cardiff Youth Offending Service 
Wednesday 25th June 2014 Summer Reception with University of South Wales
Thursday 26th June 2014 Quarterly Meeting with the Leader & Chief Executive of Swansea 

Council
Friday 27th June 2014 Meeting with Jan Williams, IPCC
Monday 30th June 2014 Ageing in Wales Strategic Action Group
Tuesday 1st July 2014 Meeting with John and Sarah Merry, Labour Cathays Ward
Friday 4th July 2014 UPSI Meeting
Friday 4th July 2014 Meeting with Jessica Lee Waters, Institute of Welsh Affairs
Monday 7th July 2014 All Party Parliamentary Group Meeting
Tuesday 8th July 2014 Pupil Scheme Celebration Awards
Tuesday 8th July 2014 Meeting with Mr Keith Bristow, Director of National Crime Agency
Tuesday 8th July 2014 Meeting with YOT Managers
Tuesday 8th July 2014 Cardiff Business Club Chairman’s Summer Reception
Wednesday 9th July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Merthyr 

Council
Wednesday 9th July 2014 Safer Merthyr Tydfil
Wednesday 9th July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Rhondda 

Cynon Taf Council
Wednesday 9th July 2014 Meeting with Vaughan Gething
Wednesday 9th July 2014 Meeting with Eid Ali Ahmed and Somali
Thursday 10th July 2014 Meeting with Owen Smith MP
Thursday 10th July 2014 Dinner with Internet Watch Foundation
Friday 11th July 2014 Police ICT Board Meeting
Monday 14th July 2014 Third Sector Meeting 
Monday 14th July 2014 Neighbourhood Watch Meeting
Tuesday 15th July 2014 APCC General Meeting and Ministerial Engagement
Tuesday 15th July 2014 Visit Mosque for Ifthar with Saleem Kidwai
Wednesday 16th July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive  with Bridgend 

Council

Page 109



43

Thursday 17th July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Police Federation
Friday 18th July 2014 Meeting with Phil Jarrold WCVA
Friday 18th July 2014 Presiding Judges Meeting
Tuesday 22nd July 2014 Police and Crime Panel Meeting
Tuesday 22nd July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Cardiff Council Leader & Chief Executive
Tuesday 22nd July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with GMB
Wednesday 23rd July 2014 South Wales Criminal Justice Board
Wednesday 23rd July 2014 Meeting with Stephen Doughty MP
Wednesday 23rd July 2014 IPCC six monthly meeting
Thursday 24th July 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Vale of 

Glamorgan Council
Thursday 24th July 2014 Safer South Wales Meeting
Friday 25th July 2014 Safer & Cohesive Communities Programme Board
Monday 28th July 2014 Meeting with Mark Castle, Victim Support
Tuesday 29th July 2014 Meeting with Andy Bruce, Wales Audit Office
Wednesday 30th July 2014 Youth Trust Board Meeting
Wednesday 30th July 2014 Meeting with Neighbourhood Watch Association
Friday 1st August 2014 Meeting with Sir Charles Pollard, Restorative Solutions
Monday 11th August 2014 Meeting with Saleem Kidwai (Muslim Council for Wales)
Tuesday 2nd September 2014 Meeting of the Police ICT Board
Wednesday 3rd September 2014 Meeting with Julie Lydon, Chancellor of University of South Wales
Wednesday 3rd September 2014 Meeting with Liz Rijenberg, CEO Wales Community Rehabilitation 

Company
Thursday 4th September 2014 NATO Social Media Analytics with Martin Innnes, UPSI
Monday 8th September 2014 Meeting with Lord Toby Harris
Monday 8th September 2014 Meeting with Seema Malhorta MP
Monday 8th September 2014 PICTFOR Dinner
Tuesday 9th September 2014 Meeting with Sarah Rochira
Tuesday 9th September 2014 Meeting with Jo Hopkins, Head of Home Office Wales Team
Tuesday 9th September 2014 Meeting with Linda Roberts, All Wales Schools Liaison Programme
Thursday 11th September 2014 Meeting with Sarah Tucker and Professor Jonathon Sheppard
Thursday 11th September 2014 Black Police Association Meeting
Friday 12th September 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Neath Port 

Talbot
Tuesday 16th September 2014 Alcohol Concern Cymru Event
Wednesday 17th September 2014 South Wales Criminal Justice Board
Thursday 18th September 2014 Meeting with Andrew RT Davies
Monday 22nd September 2014 Roundtable lunch with the Constables of England and Wales
Tuesday 23rd September 2014 Ethnic Youth Support t Team Event
Tuesday 23rd September 2014 Quarterly meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Swansea 

Council
Tuesday 23rd September 2014 Launch of the IOIS Building in Swansea
Wednesday 24th September 2014 Quarterly meeting with HMIC Dru Sharling
Wednesday 24th September 2014 Cardiff Youth Offending Service Management Board Meeting
Thursday 25th September 2014 Keynote Speaker at the Porthcawl uni of the 3rd age
Sunday 28th September 2014 National Police Memorial Day
Tuesday 30th September 2014 Meeting with Youth Offending Team Managers
Tuesday 30th September 2014 Meeting with Prof Mansel Aylward and Dr Tracey Cooper of Public 

Health Board
Wednesday 1st October 2014 Finance Sub group of the Partnership Council
Thursday 2nd October 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Unison
Friday 3rd October 2014 Meeting with Zac Mader and Eid Ali Ahmed
Monday 6th October 2014 Restorative Justice Workshop

Page 110



44

Monday 6th October 2014 Keynote Speaker at Welsh Public Health Conference
Wednesday 8th October 2014 APCC General Meeting and Ministerial Engagement
Wednesday 8th October 2014 Justice and Partnerships Out of Court Scrutiny Panel
Thursday 9th October 2014 Meeting with Leighton Andrews AM
Friday 10th October 2014 IOM Cymru Board Meeting
Monday 13th October 2014 Meeting with Tony Young (Director of Childrens Services for Cardiff) 

and Phil Evans, Director for Vale
Tuesday 14th October 2014 All Wales Policing Meeting
Tuesday 14th October 2014 Meeting with Satrish Sekar
Tuesday 14th October 2014 Cardiff Business Club Dinner
Wednesday 15th October 2014 Safer South Wales Meeting
Wednesday 15th October 2014 GMB Quarterly Meeting
Wednesday 15th October 2014 Meeting with Joanne Jordan and Jason Pollard
Wednesday 15th October 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Vale Council
Thursday 16th October 2014 All Wales Criminal Justice Board Meting
Thursday 16th October 2014 Meeting with Nick Albrow
Thursday 16th October 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Bridgend Local Authority Leader and Chief 

Executive
Saturday 18th October 2014 Meeting with Grangetown Community
Monday 20th October 2014 APCC Police IT Supplier Summit
Tuesday 21st October 2014 Police and Crime Panel Meeting
Tuesday 21st October 2014 Launch of Cardiff University’s Flagship Engagement Projects
Wednesday 22nd October 2014 Meeting with Stephanie Price, Director Department of Education
Wednesday 22nd October 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Cardiff Council
Wednesday 22nd October 2014 Launch of the Ageing Well in Wales Programme
Wednesday 22nd October 2014 Meeting with Sarah McGill & John Munton
Wednesday 22nd October 2014 The Founding Assembly of Citizens Cymru
Thursday 23rd October 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Rhondda 

Cynon Taf Council
Tuesday 28th October 2014 Meeting with Eleri Butler, Welsh Women’s Aid
Tuesday 28th October 2014 Meeting with Permanent Secretary Mark Sedwill
Tuesday 28th October 2014 Youth Trust Ethnic Support Team
Saturday 1st November 2014 Open Cardiff Prevent Stakeholder Group
Saturday 1st November 2014 Diwali event
Monday 3rd November 2014 Consultation Event on Community Trigger and Community Remedy
Monday 3rd November 2014 Partnership Council for Wales
Monday 3rd November 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Merthyr 

Council
Monday 3rd November 2014 Cardiff Business Club Dinner
Tuesday 4th November 2014 Meeting with Hue Jakeaway, South Wales Fire and Rescue
Wednesday 5th November 2014 Restorative Justice Conference in South Wales
Thursday 6th November 2014 Meeting with the Minister, Leighton Andrews and June Milligan
Saturday 8th November 2014 Custody visiting seminar
Sunday 9th November 2014 Remembrance Day parade and Service
Wednesday 12th November 2014 Police ICT Board Meeting
Thursday 13th November 2014 Meeting with HMIC Zoe Billingham
Thursday 13th November 2014 Communities Board
Thursday 13th November 2014 Meeting with Samina Khan and Adul Azim Ahmed and Barrie 

Phillips, Cardiff Prevent Stakeholder Group
Friday 14th November 2014 Student Officers Passout Ceremony
Monday 17th November 2014 APCC Annual Conference
Tuesday 18th November 2014 APCC General Meeting and Ministerial Engagement
Wednesday 19th November 2014 Meeting with Probation Service

Page 111



45

Wednesday 19th November 2014 Official Launch of Help Point Swansea
Thursday 20th November 2014 Planning Board of South Wales Criminal Justice Board
Monday 24th November 2014 Meeting with Saleem Kidwai, Muslim Council for Wales
Tuesday 25th November 2014 Meeting with Phil Evans, Director for the Vale and Tony Young, 

Director for Childrens Services for Cardiff
Tuesday 25th November 2014 White Ribbon Day event
Wednesday 26th November 2014 Meeting with Mike Goldman, Sue Holder and Barbara Ranger on 

Youth Offending Team Triage
Wednesday 26th November 2014 Meeting with Pencoed Town Council
Wednesday 26th November 2014 Welsh Foundation for Innovation in Public Affairs
Thursday 27th November 2014 Meeting with Prof Iwan Daives and Kevin Haines on research 

strategy
Thursday 27th November 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Swansea 

Council
Thursday 27th November 2014 Meeting with Llantwit Major Town Councillors
Friday 28th November 2014 IRIS Communication Strategy Launch
Monday 1st December 2014 Meeting with Secretary of State, Stephen Crabbe MP and the Welsh 

Commissioners
Monday 1st December 2014 Cardiff Business Club Dinner
Tuesday 2nd December 2014 Meeting with IPCC
Tuesday 2nd December 2014 Book Launch – Police Federation Reception Evening
Wednesday 3rd December 2014 Launch of Keep Safe Cymru
Wednesday 3rd December 2014 Meeting with Michael Penning MP
Wednesday 3rd December 2014 Meeting with Cllr Iona Gordon
Wednesday 3rd December 2014 Meeting with Jonathan Cox, Citizens UK
Thursday 4th December 2014 Meeting with Hue Lewis AM
Thursday 4th December 2014 Lord McNally visit
Thursday 4th December 2014 ProMo 30 Exhibition Launch event
Thursday 4th December 2014 1000 Voices
Tuesday 9th December 2014 Collaboration Meeting with Dr Tracey Cooper, Chief Executive of 

Public Health Wales
Tuesday 9th December 2014 Meeting with Jo Hopkins, Head of Home Office Wales Team
Wednesday 10th December 2014 UPSI Quarterly Meeting
Wednesday 10th December 2014 Cardiff YOTS Management Board
Wednesday 10th December 2014 Meeting with Fran Targett, Citizens Advice Cymru
Wednesday 10th December 2014 St John Cymru Annual Carol Service
Thursday 11th December 2014 Meeting with Mark O’Callaghan at the BBC
Thursday 11th December 2014 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Neath Port 

Talbot Council
Friday 12th December 2014 Police ICT Board
Tuesday 16th December 2014 Police and Crime Panel Meeting
Tuesday 16th December 2014 Penarth Youth action meeting
Thursday 18th December 2014 Joint Audit Committee
Tuesday 6th January 2015 Police ICT Board
Wednesday 7th January 2015 Meeting with Carolyn Williamson and Julia Jaegar, International 

Association of Women Police
Wednesday 7th January 2015 Meeting with Reverend Glyn James
Thursday 8th January 2015 Roundtable discussion with Keith Towler, Children’s Commissioner
Thursday 8th January 2015 Meeting with Leighton Andrew, Minister for Public Services
Friday 9th January 2015 UPSI Update Meeting
Tuesday 13th January 2015 Meeting with Lorraine Gaskell, GMB
Tuesday 13th January 2015 Meeting with Sarah McGill, John Munton and Neighbourhood Watch
Wednesday 14th January 2015 All Wales Policing Group Meeting

Page 112



46

Thursday 15th January 2015 Meeting with Mandy Wilmot, Tom Davies and Chie Executive Mark 
Castle of Victims Support

Thursday 15th January 2015 Meeting with Mark Drakeford AM
Thursday 15th January 2015 Cardiff Business Club Dinner
Monday 19th January 2015 Safer South Wales
Monday 19th January 2015 Ageing Well in Wales Strategic Advisory Group
Tuesday 20th January 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Merthyr 

Council
Tuesday 20th January 2015 Meeting with Wales Audit Office
Tuesday 20th January 2015 IWA Debate with Leighton Andrews AM
Wednesday 21st January 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Cardiff Council
Thursday 22nd January 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Rhondda 

Cynon Taf Council
Friday 23rd January 2015 Bridgend Wheels to work project official launch
Monday 26th January 2015 Safer South Wales Criminal Justice Board and Integrated Offender 

Management Board
Monday 26th January 2015 Meeting with Adrian Oliver, Chair of Youth Trust
Monday 26th January 2015 Youth Trust Board Meeting
Tuesday 27th January 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Vale council
Wednesday 28th January 2015 Meeting with Roger Lewis, WRU
Friday 30th January 2015 Holocaust Memorial Assembly
Friday 30th January 2015 Police and Crime Panel Meeting
Friday 30th January 2015 Meeting with Mel Jones, 3Gs Police Youth Trust
Monday 2nd February 2015 Quarterly Meeting with HMIC Dru Sharpling
Tuesday 3rd February 2015 APCC General Meeting
Wednesday 4th February 2015 Meeting with Dani Thomas on future Welsh Report
Wednesday 4th February 2015 United Nations Interfaith Week Seminar Evening
Thursday 5th February 2015 Meeting with Alison Saunders, Director of Public Prosecutions
Thursday 5th February 2015 Police ICT Board
Thursday 5th February 2015 Meeting with Richard Riley, Director of Serious and Organised 

Crime, Home Office
Friday 6th February 2015 Meeting with Stephen Doughty & Saleem Kidwai
Friday 6th February 2015 All Wales Criminal Justice Board
Monday 9th February 2015 Cardiff Business Club dinner
Wednesday 11th February 2015 Meeting with the Minister and Welsh Commissioners
Wednesday 11th February 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Leader and Chief Executive of Bridgend 

Council
Wednesday 11th February 2015 Dinner for the Swansea Faith Week
Thursday 12th February 2015 Meeting with BBC Senior editorial team
Wednesday 18th February 2015 Out of Court Scrutiny Panel Meeting
Wednesday 18th February 2015 Neath Port Talbot Council Annual Meeting
Wednesday 18th February 2015 Policy on Marches Meeting
Thursday 26th February 2015 Quarterly meeting with Dusty Kennedy
Thursday 26th February 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Police Federation
Thursday 26th February 2015 Meeting with GMB & Unison
Tuesday 3rd March 2015 Meeting with Maria Battle & Leanne Coburn
Wednesday 4th March 2015 Meeting with Travelling Ahead Project
Wednesday 4th March 2015 Meeting with Gill James, Hybu
Thursday 5th March 2015 IOM Cymru Board Meeting
Thursday 5th March 2015 High Sheriff of Mid Glamorgan Awards
Tuesday 10th March 2015 StepChange Debt Charity Meeting
Wednesday 11th March 2015 Special meeting with Police and Crime Panel
Wednesday 11th March 2015 Meeting with Nick Newman Chair of Cardiff Licensees Forum

Page 113



47

Thursday 12th March 2015 Police ICT Board Meeting 
Monday 16th March 2015 Presiding Judges Meeting with the Welsh Commissioners
Monday 16th March 2015 Meeting on Racism – Saniv Vedi, Robert Lynn and Hanef Bhamgee
Tuesday 17th March 2015 Quarterly Meeting with Public Health Wales
Tuesday 17th March 2015 Meeting with Dusty Kennedy and Sarah Cooper
Wednesday 18th March 2015 Visit to Motorola Solutions with Graeme Hobbs
Thursday 19th March 2015 Safer South Wales Meeting
Friday 20th March 2015 Brighter Futures Assembly – Citizens Cymru Wales Youth 

Leadership Programme

Page 114



Police and Crime Panel 13 October 2010

SUBJECT
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
1ST APRIL 2014 TO 31ST MARCH 2015

GPMS 
CLASSIFICATION

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

REPORT BY JOINT CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (COMMISSIONER SOUTH WALES 
POLICE)
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CHIEF CONSTABLE)

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE OF REPORT

This report presents the finalised Annual Statement of Accounts in respect of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Group and the Chief Constable for the year 
ended 31 March 2015 which have been subject to review by the Wales Audit Office.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Joint Audit Committee recommends the adoption of the respective final 
statement of accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015  by both Corporations Sole 
as follows:

 The Annual Statement of Accounts for the Police And Crime Commissioner 
and Group – Appendix B

 The Annual Statement of Accounts for The Chief Constable – Appendix C

A SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The attached are the statutory accounts prepared in accordance with the statutory 
regulations. Each corporation sole is required to produce their own single entity 
Statement of Accounts with the Commissioner producing a further Statement of 
Accounts for the Group as a whole.  Appendix B details the draft Financial Report and 
Statement of Accounts for the Commissioner and Group and Appendix C details the 
draft Financial Report and Statement of Accounts for the Chief Constable.

1.2 In the period since the submission of the draft accounts, we have continued to work 
closely with the Wales Audit Office to ensure that statutory disclosure requirements 

Page 115

Agenda Item 8



Police and Crime Panel 13 October 2010

and compliance with accounting standards are met.  The format of the content of the 
statutory accounts is broadly consistent across Wales.

1.3 The accounts are produced in accordance with the Accounts and Audit (Wales) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 and in the format recommended by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy in accordance with best accounting 
practice (the Code).

1.4 These regulations continue to prescribe the timescales for the certification and 
approval of audited accounts. The respective Chief Financial Officers must sign the 
draft Statement of Accounts by 30th June to certify that they present a true and fair 
view of the financial position and are then required to sign again prior to the final 
approval by the Commissioner and Chief Constable by 30th September.

1.5 However, sound financial management principles require approval of year end 
movements in reserves and provisions soon after the financial year end. This was 
undertaken through the consultation with and approval of the Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable and the Committee members will recall that draft Accounts and 
movements in reserves and provisions were respectively reported and discussed in 
the draft accounts reviewed by the Joint Audit Committee in the seminar 5th August 
2015. 

1.6 Events taking place after the statutory date of signing (30th June 2015) are not 
reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking place before this 
date provided information about conditions existing at 31st March 2015, the figures in 
the financial statements and notes have been adjusted, in all material respects to 
reflect the impact of this information. This has included a number of adjustments, 
typographical amendments and amendments to disclosure notes, but none have 
impacted on the General Fund. 

1.7 The Wales Audit Office (Appointed Auditor) have now concluded their audit of the 
accounts and their findings are reported in their ISA 260 Audit of Financial Statements 
Reports under separate cover on the Agenda.

2. AUDIT CONSIDERATIONS

2.2 It is pleasing to note that the Appointed Auditor intends to issue an unqualified audit 
report in respect of the financial statements of both the Commissioner and Chief 
Constable. In addition the improvements over 2013/14 has been recognised despite 
the continuing pressure on resources. 

2.3 The approach taken during the audit process was fully welcomed, along with the 
appropriate advice and guidance given throughout the review. The comments on the 
progress are welcomed and whilst great strides have been made to improving the 
quality of the working notes and the draft accounts, it is recognised that we need to 
continue the improvements and to meet the requirements for the early closure 
required for 2017/18.

2.4 It is also reassuring that there are no reported uncorrected misstatements that affect 
the General Fund position, reported in the draft accounts, to the Committee in August 
2015.  There are however three uncorrected misstatements which are neither 
material individually or taken together that have been subject to discussion with the 
auditors but remain unadjusted.  These are documented in within the ISA260.

Page 116



Police and Crime Panel 13 October 2010

2.5 Whilst a number of corrections were required between the preparation of the draft 
statement of accounts in June and their finalisation it is important to put these in the 
context of the complexity of these statement of accounts and the work that is required 
to ensure statutory deadlines and disclosure requirements have been adhered to. The 
main adjustments and amendments are set out in Appendix A. There are no non-
adjusting post balance sheet events.

2.6 In relation to presentational issues of the nominal entries to the accounts, all of these 
have now been agreed and corrected. None of these have impacted on the underlying 
income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of South Wales Police. Further details are 
contained in the WAO Audit of Financial Statements Reports.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Joint Audit Committee recommends the adoption of the respective final statement 
of accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015 by both Corporations Sole as follows:

 The Annual Statement of Accounts for the Police And Crime Commissioner and 
Group – Appendix B

 The Annual Statement of Accounts for the Chief Constable – Appendix C

B. LEGAL AND HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS
The report forms part of the requirement that the elected Commissioner has to hold the Police 
Fund and maintain accounts under Section 21 (PRSRA 2011)

Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2014

C. PERSONNEL, EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
There are no decisions required on personnel, equal opportunities or diversity issues arising 
from this report.

The Statement of Accounts comply fully with the disclosure requirements on employee and 
officer remuneration.

D. REVIEW ARRANGEMENTS
The Wales Audit Office will issue an Annual Audit Report on their assessment in the use of 
and accounting for resources in 2014/15.

E. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

Medium Term Financial Plan Strategy (Precept Report) 2014-2018

Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2014

Draft Statements reported to JAC Seminar 5th August 2015

Page 117



Police and Crime Panel 13 October 2010

APPENDIX A

Additional Information – main adjustments to Draft Accounts 2014/15

1. Milne v GAD 

A determination by the Pensions Ombudsman, giving rise to revised lump sum commutation 
factors for former officers who retired between 1st December 2001 and 30th November 2006, 
was published on 15 May 2015 that has financial implications for Police Pension Schemes. 
This was originally included as a contingent liability in the draft accounts on the basis that the 
potential financial impact could not be assessed whilst the GAD revised commutation factors 
were outstanding. Following the receipt of appropriate GAD guidance in July 2015 an 
exercise to estimate the potential liability was carried out. This resulted in a £9.35M provision 
requirement. This has no financial impact for South Wales Police and is offset in the accounts 
by a debtor for pensions top up grant receivable from the Home Office.

2. Collaboration

It was reported to JAC in August that the draft accounts did not include statements outlining 
the share of collaboration costs on a revised basis i.e. share of service benefit. At that time 
the agreements with the other welsh forces was awaiting finalisation. Note 35 of the 
Statement of Accounts provide appropriate revised statements, however the accounts 
themselves have not been fully amended and there remains an uncorrected misstatement of 
£0.5M in relation to ROCU This position has been fully discussed with the WAO and the net 
impact is not material.  

3. Depreciation of Vehicles

The WAO identified a calculation error in the depreciation workings that caused 2014/15 
vehicles to be over depreciated by £1.2M. This has been agreed fully corrected in the 
accounts. 

4. Other Minor Amendments

Other amendments are in line with the WAO ISA 260 report being of typographical or 
transposition errors.

Page 118



 Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2014/15.

This is the Second Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee that was established by the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable of South Wales Police in March 2013 to provide 
independent assurance on financial and governance issues that affect both Corporations Sole.

The Committee is governed by Terms of Reference that are annually reviewed and there has been 
no change in membership of the Committee since its inception.

The Committee has undertaken a self-assessment during the year utilising the Wales Audit Office 
Self- Assessment Toolkit for Audit Committees. This was undertaken on an individual and collective 
basis. In the main the Committee were compliant with all aspects of the Assessment Framework 
however training needs were identified in the Committee’s knowledge of fraud, whistleblowing, 
anti-corruption practices and cyber-crime. These knowledge gaps have subsequently been 
addressed.

Two members attended the All Wales CIPFA Conference for Audit Committees. Informal working 
seminars within the force have also broadened knowledge and understanding.

The Committee in formulating its opinion rely on the work of Internal Audit, External Audit, HMIC 
Reports and the input from Senior Management Teams of both Corporations  Sole. The Committee is 
serviced by the Secretariat of the Police and Crime Commissioner and is assisted by the ORD Team of 
the Chief Constable.

Internal Audit. Deloitte provide the Internal Audit Service to both Corporations  Sole and follow an 
agreed plan on the basis of risk developed by senior management and overseen and amended by 
the Committee in providing the required assurances on key financial systems and areas of potential 
weakness. 21 areas were covered including core financial systems, business and operational systems 
and governance processes. 

The Committee receives Audit Reports from the Internal Auditors together with the Management 
responses to the recommendations. The recommendations are then accepted, amended or rejected 
by the committee with an agreed implementation date set until the audit cycle is closed.

The Committee has seen a vast improvement in the timeliness of reports, the responses by 
management and also implementation of recommendations. The Committee are grateful to the 
work of the ORD Team in expediting this area of business.

Full details of the reports can be seen in the working papers of the committee. Whilst the 
Committee were disappointed to see a large number of Limited levels of assurance in the last 
reports tabled by the Internal Auditors it was accepted that this was a consequence of management 
and the risk process directing the audit plan into these new areas for assurance.   The management 
responses and the action being taken to improve these areas will strengthen the governance 
framework going forward..

Whilst during the year there had been a reduction in the number of Substantial Assurances and an 
increase in the number of Limited Assurances, the Committee Accepted that the Overall Assurance 
was Adequate and noted the impact of the NATO Conference. The Committee will receive updates 
by the newly appointed auditors at their subsequent meetings where levels fell below acceptable 
standards.

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



The Internal Audit Annual Report of Deloitte for 2014-15 concludes that “the framework for 
governance, risk and internal control are reasonable and that audit testing has confirmed that 
controls are generally working effectively in practice”. 

The Internal Audit Contract was retendered on a collaborative basis with Gwent Police early  in 2015 
in readiness for the start of the 2015 financial year. Deloitte were not successful in the award 
process and the Committee wishes to place on record their thanks to Deloitte and in particular to Ian 
Howse and Rhys Manning of the outgoing audit team.   

External Audit   

The Wales Audit Office undertake Statutory Audits of the Corporations Sole in accordance with Law 
together with performance audit work and other ad hoc investigations. They also take into account 
the opinions of Internal Auditors and other Regulators in formulating their opinion.

The Audit Committee have no scope over the work of External Audit but does have private sessions 
with them in discussing emerging issues and receives their Annual Management Letter and 
observations at Committee meetings.

The Committee ensures that any recommendations arising from their work are timely implemented 
and reviewed.

In reviewing the Accounts for the Year Financial Year 2014 /15 the Appointed Auditor has confirmed 
that the Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK in 2014/15 and that they give a true and fair view of the financial 
transactions undertaken and of its income and expenditure for the period ended 31st March 2015. 
The Accounts contain an unqualified opinion.

The Committee noted the improvement in the preparation of the year end accounts and the timely 
manner that the accounts were closed.

The Committee welcomed the support of the External Auditors in accepting a Joint Governance 
Statement in covering both Corporations  Sole.

HMIC /PEEL Reports. 

The Committee has considered and monitored the recommendations contained in the reports that 
have come from the HMIC during the course of the year. 

The Committee have been impressed by the number of positive reports that South Wales Police 
have received and the exemplar way in which the forces work has been seen as good practice.

The First Peel Assessment of the South Wales Force concluded ” the force is good at reducing crime 
and preventing offending, good at investigation offending and outstanding at tackling antisocial 
behaviour. The Efficiency with which the force carries out its responsibilities is good” The Force 
had had made excellent progress in responding to the spending review and was well placed to 
deal with future budget cuts”.   

Risk Register.  

The Committee has undertaken a deep dive into the Risk Register during the current year as part of 
one of its informal seminars.  Four key areas were considered; Alignment of risk to the Police and 

Page 120



Crime Reduction Plan; Governance of the Risk Management Process, Assurance on Compliance and 
Currency.

Whilst significant improvements have been made throughout the organisation in understanding risk, 
there is still a need to ensure that risk is truly embedded throughout the organisation.  The 
Committee will continue to monitor the progress of embedding risk within the organisation.

Officers and Staff.

The Committee rely on the experience and knowledge of staff and explanations of unfamiliar 
operational and management procedures and systems within the organisation. The Committee are 
indebted to their input in broadening the knowledge and experience of the committee.

Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable.

The Committee have access to both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable. 
During the course of the year both the Commissioner and Deputy Chief Constable have attended 
meetings.

Issues such as the Structure of the Finance Department; Project Fusion; Communication Strategy, 
Partnerships and meeting future austerity measures have been discussed.

In respect of the Finance Department Review both the Chair and Deputy Chair received and 
examined the independent report that had been prepared and were disappointed that the full 
recommendations were not implemented given the important role the department would play in 
meeting future austerity challenges.

Financial Report and Statement of Accounts 2014/15.

The Committee has considered the Financial Report and Statement of Accounts for the Year Ended 
the 31st March 2015 prepared by the Chief Financial Officer for the Police and Crime Commissioner 
and Chief Financial Officer to the Chief Constable.

Joint Annual Governance Statement 2014/15.

The Committee has considered the Joint Annual Governance Statement of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Chief Constable of South Wales.

The Committee Opinion

The Committee has received Reports, Recommendations and Observations from Deloitte, the 
Internal Auditors, Welsh Audit Office, the External Auditors, HM Inspector of Constabulary and 
officers and staff of both Corporations  Sole in order for it to formulate an independent opinion and 
provide independent assurance to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable in 
respect of the financial and governance controls within both  Corporations Sole.

Having received these reports the Committee are satisfied that there are no major issues of 
concern that affect the financial standing of the corporations  sole, that the control methods are 
adequate, that the governance framework is robust and that the risk management framework 
reflects the appropriate risks and that appropriate management controls and mitigation is in 
place.              

Page 121



The  minutes of the committee are open to public scrutiny and contain our consideration of all the 
reports received by the Committee and the opinions formulated during the course of the year. 

The Forward Plan for 2015/16 is highlighted by the Agreed Audit Plan that has been adopted 
together with the Significant Governance Issues that have been raised in the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

The Committee will continue to focus on a risk based assessment of key risks and issues in providing 
its independent assurance to the Commissioner and Chief Constable.    

Thanks 

The Committee would like to express their thanks to all those who have engaged with the 
Committee during the course of the year and for the openness and transparency that has been 
shown to members in the discharge of their duties.

September 2015.

Page 122



 

 

 

REPORT TO  

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

13th October 2015 

Questions from Panel to Commissioner concerning Child Sexual 
Exploitation  
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

This agenda item was deferred from the meeting on 14th July 2015. 

To advise that at the 28th April 2015 meeting the Panel requested a full response to 
the questions at today’s (14th July) meeting of the Panel. 
 

 

 

1.0 Background / Information 

1.1 In February 2015 the Local Government Association (LGA) contacted all Police 
and Crime Panels around the country with a short briefing note on Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE), including questions to put to Commissioners (see 
APPENDIX I). 

1.2 The Panel wishes to provide assurance to the public that the issue is being 
effectively tackled and has requested responses from the Commissioner to the 
16 questions included in the LGA briefing note. The Panel has asked the 
Commissioner to address how the Police are addressing Child Sexual 
Exploitation following on from the recent report on Rotherham Metropolitan 
Council. 

1.3 The Commissioner provided an interim response at the meeting on 28th April 
and agreed that it would receive a full written response to the questions at the 
14th July 2015 meeting.  

 
1.4 Written responses to the questions were circulated to Panel members at the 

14th July meeting in relation to questions raised on Child Sexual Exploitation. 
The Panel agreed that the item deferred to allow the Members to consider the 
responses. 

 
1.5 The Panels questions, and the Commissioners responses are attached 

(APPENDIX II). 
 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 10



 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s) that:- 

2.1 The Panel notes the written responses from the Commissioner and agrees any 
further action if required. 

 
 
Simon Jones (Senior Solicitor) 

Page 124



 

 
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
H
o
u
s
e
, 
S
m
it
h
 S
q
u
a
re
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S
W
1
P
 3
H
Z
 

E
m
a
il 
in
fo
@
lo
c
a
l.
g
o
v
.u
k
 

T
e
l 
0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
0
0
  
F
a
x
 0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
3
0
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 c
e

n
tr

e
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4

 3
1

3
1

 w
w

w
.l

o
c

a
l.

g
o

v
.u

k
 

APPENDIX I 
 
 
Briefing for Police and Crime Panels – Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) 
 
CSE has a devastating impact on children, young people and their families. 
The police and local authorities have a crucial statutory role to play in 
safeguarding children, including tackling child sexual exploitation. They 
cannot do this successfully on their own however. There needs to be multi-
agency working that brings resources together from the police and councils 
to address this crime.  
 
Police and crime panels have an important contribution to make by 
scrutinising the priority the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC) gives 
to tackling this crime, and how the PCC is holding the police to account for 
their response to this issue.  Panels can also use their role to promote a 
joined-up approach, interrogate current performance and outcomes and 
encourage intelligence led strategies to preventing and intervening against 
child sexual exploitation.   
 
Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
Councillors have a leadership role to continue to put a spotlight on the risks 
and harm of child sexual exploitation by asking Police and Crime 
Commissioners how they are responding to the issue. Child sexual 
exploitation is not a phenomenon located in a particular area of the country 
and neither can victims nor perpetrators be easily profiled, although local 
agencies can (and should) look at the profile of victims and perpetrators 
locally and truly understand the prevalence of the issue. Council scrutiny 
processes, including police and crime panels, are a vital tool in holding 
partnership working to account, and the annual report of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board is a key document to consider when 
assessing the effectiveness of local work to tackle child sexual exploitation. 
These reports should be considered carefully by panel members to hold 
the Police and Crime Commissioner to account for their contribution 
towards tackling child sexual exploitation.  
 
What is child sexual exploitation (CSE)? 
 
Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves 
exploitative situations, contexts and relationships where young people (or a 
third person or persons) receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, 
drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a result of them 
performing, and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities. 
Child sexual exploitation can occur through the use of technology without 
the child’s immediate recognition, for example being persuaded to post 
sexual images on the internet or mobile phones without immediate 
payment or gain. In all cases, those exploiting the child or young person 
have power over them by virtue of their age, gender, intellect, physical 
strength and/or economic or other resources. Violence, coercion and 
intimidation are common, involvement in exploitative relationships being 
characterised in the main by the child or young person’s limited availability 
of choice resulting from their social, economic and/or emotional 
vulnerability. 
 
 

Page 11Page 125



 

 
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
H
o
u
s
e
, 
S
m
it
h
 S
q
u
a
re
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S
W
1
P
 3
H
Z
 

E
m
a
il 
in
fo
@
lo
c
a
l.
g
o
v
.u
k
 

T
e
l 
0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
0
0
  
F
a
x
 0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
3
0
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 c
e

n
tr

e
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4

 3
1

3
1

 w
w

w
.l

o
c

a
l.

g
o

v
.u

k
 

For more information and case studies of work in practice, please read 
Tackling child sexual exploitation: A resource pack for councils. 
 
 
Statutory responsibilities 
 
The statutory responsibilities of local agencies, including councils, are set 
out in the 2009 supplementary guidance on Child Sexual Exploitation. The 
responsibilities include a premise that CSE is assumed to be present, and 
must be prioritised if believed to be a significant issue. To find out more on 
how your council is meeting its statutory duties you should contact your 
Lead Member for Children’s Services and Director of Children’s Services.   
 
Police and Crime Panel Assurance Questions 
 
1. Is Child Sexual Exploitation a priority for your police force? If not, why? 

2. What is the prevalence of CSE across this area? Are you able to give a 

summary of its prevalence?    

3. Have there been any convictions for CSE in this area? Are any pending 

or in the system? 

4. What progress have the police made against the Association of Chief 

Police Officers Child Sexual Exploitation Action Plan? 

5. As Police and Crime Commissioner, what relationship do you have with 

Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCB)?  

6. How would describe the level of police engagement with the LSCB? Are 

representatives sufficiently senior? Do you contribute to the annual 

LSCB report? 

7. What are the reporting mechanisms on CSE activity through to the 

Chief Constable, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and 

you? 

8. To what extent do local policing priorities reflect national and local 

priorities to tackle the child sexual exploitation?  

9. What approach is taken by the Chief Constable to establish local 

intelligence on suspected and reported incidents of CSE? 

10. Is there a local CSE action plan? Is this plan for the force or a 

partnership plan? 

11. What mechanisms are in place to evaluate the impact of the police CSE 

action plan? 

12. As Police and Crime Commissioner, are you reassured that ‘disruption’ 

tactics used to prevent and respond to incidents of CSE are effective?  

13. What is the local police contribution to a multi-agency approaches to 

preventing and intervening against CSE? 

14. What support services are available for victims and witnesses of CSE? 

15. What training and guidance is available for police officers?   

16. What arrangements exist to learn from national initiatives and sharing 

good practice between police and crime commissioners and police 

forces?

 

Page 12Page 126



Page 127

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX II



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



REPORT TO 

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

13th October 2015

Correspondence received – Committee on Standards in Public 
Life inquiry into local policing accountability. 

Purpose of the Report

To advise the Panel that a letter from the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life has been received, requesting a response on certain of the 
recommendations in their report “Tone from the top – leadership, ethics and 
accountability in policing.”

1.0 Background / Information

1.1 At meeting on 14th July 2015 the Panel considered a letter from the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life. The letter advised that the 
Committee had concluded its inquiry into local policing accountability. 
Details of the inquiry and accompanying documentation was agended 
at the Panel’s meeting on 21st October 2014.

1.2 As part of the inquiry the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
requested that a number of questions be addressed and these 
questions together with the Panels responses were reported to the 
Panel at its 16th December 2014 meeting.

1.3 The Committee on Standards in Public Life has concluded its inquiry 
and has produced its final report ““Tone from the top – leadership, 
ethics and accountability in policing”1. 

1.4 At the Panels 14th July 2015 meeting it was reported that there is 
reference to Police & Crime Panels throughout the Report particularly 
in Appendixes F & G  and make a number of recommendations in the 
report that relate to Police & Crime Panels. For ease of reference the 

1 A copy of the report can be found on the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s website 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/439208/Tone_from_the_top_-
_CSPL.pdf

Page 133

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/439208/Tone_from_the_top_-_CSPL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/439208/Tone_from_the_top_-_CSPL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/439208/Tone_from_the_top_-_CSPL.pdf


recommendations that relate directly to Police and Crime Panels are 
copied below:- 

R9 Police and Crime Panels should review the PCC’s Annual Report in public 
session attended by the PCC as part of their annual scrutiny programme and 
make any recommendations as appropriate.

R10 As a matter of good practice: 

 PCCs should publish a forward plan of decisions identifying the subject 
matter of the decision, why it is key, the meeting at which the decision is 
due to be taken, who will be consulted before the decision is taken and 
what reports/papers will be available for inspection; and

 Police and Crime Panels should produce a forward plan of work 
specifying, as appropriate, the information required from PCCs in order 
for them to carry out that work. 

R19 The Committee endorses the Home Affairs Committee’s recommendations 
that: 

 Police and Crime Panels inquire and report into the circumstances 
whenever a chief constable’s service is brought to an end irrespective of 
whether the Schedule 8 scrutiny process is formally engaged.

 The Home Office bring forward proposals to extend the Schedule 8 
process to include scrutiny by the police and crime panel where a 
commissioner chooses not to agree to an extension of the chief 
constables’ contract to bring it in line with the process for the removal of 
a chief constable.

1.5 The attached letter from Committee on Standards in Public Life dated 
27th July 2015 highlights the recommendations as above and asks that 
the Panel provides “a full and considered response to be provided to 
these recommendations by 29 November 2015 at the latest”.

2.0 Recommendation(s)

2.1 The Police and Crime Panel is asked to note the contents of the letter and 
provide an appropriate response.

Simon Jones
Senior Solicitor
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Page 134



 

Selflessness I Integrity I Objectivity I Accountability I Openness I Honesty I Leadership 

Room GC.05 
1 Horse Guards Road 
London 
SW1A 2HQ 
 
Tel: 020 7271 2948/0855 
 
Email: public@public-standards.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
Chair 
Police and Crime Panel  

 
27 July 2015 

 
 
Dear Panel Chair  
 
On 29 June the Committee on Standards in Public Life published the report ‘Tone from the 
top - leadership, ethics and accountability in policing’. The report followed an eight month 
inquiry which considered whether the accountability model for local policing was effective in 
supporting and promoting high ethical standards.  
 
Within the report the Committee made a number of recommendations. Recommendation 9 
and 10 are for  Police and Crime Panels:  
 

Recommendation 9 
 
Police and Crime Panels should review the PCC’s Annual Report in public session attended by the 
PCC as part of their annual scrutiny programme and make any recommendations as appropriate. 

 

Recommendation 10 
 
As a matter of good practice: 

● PCCs should publish a forward plan of decisions identifying the subject matter of the decision, 
why it is key, the meeting at which the decision is due to be taken, who will be consulted before 
the decision is taken and what reports/papers will be available for inspection; and 

● Police and Crime Panels should produce a forward plan of work specifying, as appropriate, the 
information required from PCCs in order for them to carry out that work. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Committee also endorsed within their report recommendations made by the Home 
Affairs Committee and would like to bring this to the attention of Police and Crime Panels: 

 
 
 
 

	  
	  
	  

	  

Committee	  
on	  
Standards	  in	  
Public	  Life	  
	  
Chair:	  

 
 
 
 

	  
	  
	  

	  
 
 
 

Committee on 
Standards in 
Public Life 
	  
	  

Page 135



 

Selflessness I Integrity I Objectivity I Accountability I Openness I Honesty I Leadership 

 

Recommendation 19 
 
The Committee endorses the Home Affairs Committee’s recommendations that: 

● Police and Crime Panels inquire and report into the circumstances whenever a chief 
constable’s service is brought to an end irrespective of whether the Schedule 8 scrutiny 
process is formally engaged. 

 
The Committee would be grateful ask for a full and considered response to be provided to 
these recommendations by 29 November 2015 at the latest. I would be happy to discuss the 
report and recommendations in further detail if this is helpful. 
 
 
 
Best regards 
  

 
 
 
Lord Bew 
Chair, Committee on Standards in Public Life  

Page 136



REPORT TO 

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

13th October 2015

Future Meeting Dates and Work Programme

Purpose of the Report
To agree the forward work programme for the Panel; and to confirm future 
meeting dates up to and including the Annual meeting in 2016.

1.0 Background / Information

Work Programme.

1.1 At the last meeting of the Panel it was agreed that a separate pre-
meeting be convened to consider the Panels work programme.

1.2 As Members will be aware a meeting was held before todays 
scheduled meeting to consider suggestions for the work programme. 
All Panel members have been asked to provide any suggestions that 
they may have.

1.3 The suggestions will have been discussed at the pre-meeting and a 
draft work programme will be tabled at today’s meeting for further 
discussion.

Future Meeting Dates of the Panel

1.4 In considering the work programme the following dates are the 
remaining scheduled meeting dates of the Panel up to and including its 
Annual Meeting in 2016.

2015/16
Tuesday 13th October 2015
Tuesday 15th December 2015 
Monday 1st February 2016 
Tuesday 26th April 2016 (Annual meeting)

1.5 The Commissioner’s office has asked that the Panel considers an 
alternative date for the 26th April 2016 meeting as there is a clash of 
events on this date. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



1.6 With the above in mind Panel members will be aware the Police and 
Crime Commissioner elections will coincide with the National Assembly 
for Wales election on Thursday 5th May 2016. If there is a new 
Commissioner he/she will take up office 7 days later on 12 May 2016. 

1.7 Rather than hold the Panels AGM on 26th April 2016, there is merit in 
holding the Panel AGM as soon as possible after the 12 May 2016, say 
Tuesday 17th May 2016. This will enable Members to also meet with 
the current Commissioner if he is re-elected, or meet the new 
Commissioner should that be the case. 

2.0 Recommendation(s) that:-
  

2.1 The future work programme be agreed.

2.2 The annual meeting scheduled for 26th April 2016 be 
rescheduled for Tuesday 17th May 2016.

Simon Jones
Senior Solicitor, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Page 138


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Draft Police and Reduction Crime Plan
	6 Financial Update Report
	7 Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2014-15
	8 Statement of Accounts 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015
	9 Joint Audit Committee Annual Report 2014/15
	10 Questions from Panel to Commissioner concerning Child Sexual Exploitation
	Questions from Panel to Commissioner concerning Child Sexual Exploitation
	APPENDIX I PCP Briefing CSE
	APPENDIX II PCP Briefing CSE

	11 Correspondence received - Committee on Standards in Public Life inquiry into local policing accountability
	Correspondence received Committee on Standards in Public Life

	12 Future Meeting Dates and Work Programme



